

# HIV persistence during antiretroviral therapy: Characteristics of residual HIV-1 RNA in plasma

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

Maria Tsakiroglou

August 2020

## **Declaration of Authorship**

I declare that this work is my own work except where indicated by references. Work done in collaboration with or with the assistance of others is specified and acknowledged.

Maria Tsakiroglou

August 2020

### Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my primary supervisor, Prof Anna Maria Geretti for her valuable support and patience and my secondary supervisor, Prof Joanna van de Wijgert for her understanding.

I am grateful to Dr Alessandra Ruggiero and Dr Yufei Wang for their partnership in processing valuable samples in a timely manner and the interesting scientific discussions. I would like to express my sincere thanks to all staff of the HIV clinic at the Royal Liverpool Hospital for their kindness to accommodate me in order to recruit patients and their assistance with blood collection, and to the research nurses for being present at my absence.

I am most thankful to Prof Saye Khoo and his team for their essential input regarding the quantification of drug levels. A great thank you also to my statistician and good friend, Eftychia Psarelli, whose guidance was paramount to complete my analysis.

I would like to use this opportunity to thank all my colleagues from the Geretti group and all the members of the Institute of Infection and Global Health that have made my experience in the "lab" unique.

Last but not least, I feel the urge to express my gratitude to my dear husband, Markos, for his encouragement and to our new son, Rafael, for the energy he filled me with during writing and to my mum, Sofia, for her support.

Maria Tsakiroglou

## Contents

Abstract		9
List of abbreviations		11
Chapter 1 Introd	uction	16
1.1 Human Im	munodeficiency virus (HIV)	16
1.1.1	Classification and origin	16
1.1.2	Structural and functional properties	17
1.1.3	Viral replication cycle	18
1.1.4	Pathogenesis	20
1.1.5	Antiretroviral therapy	22
1.2 Viral load	monitoring	31
1.2.1	Viral load	31
1.2.2	Commercial assays used in clinical settings	32
	1.2.2.1 RT-PCR	32
	1.2.2.2 TMA	34
1.2.3	Historical assays	35
	1.2.3.1 NASBA	35
	1.2.3.2 bDNA	36
	1.2.3.3 ELISA	36
1.2.4	Ultrasensitive HIV-1 RNA assays used in research settings	36
1.3 HIV-1 RNA	presence in plasma during effective therapy	40
1.3.1	Viral kinetics during suppressive antiretroviral therapy	40
1.3.2	Low level viraemia and residual viraemia	42
1.3.3	Source of residual viraemia	44
1.4 Programm	ned death 1 in the pathogenesis of HIV infection	46
1.4.1	Immune response and HIV escape	46
1.4.2	Structure, genome, ligands and role of PD1	47
1.4.3	Molecular mechanism	49
1.4.4	Function	49
1.4.5	PD1/PD1 ligand blockade	51
1.4.6	PD1 and HIV	53
1.5 Aims and	objectives	57

	1.5.1	Aim		.57
	1.5.2	Objectiv	ves	57
Chapter 2	A syste	matic re	view of factors associated with low level viraemia in	HIV-
positive pat	tients on	effectiv	e antiretroviral therapy	58
2.1 Intr	roductio	n		.58
2.2 Me	thods			.62
	2.2.1	Search	strategy and review methodology	.62
	2.2.2	Data ex	traction and quality assessment	.62
	2.2.3	Data an	alysis and synthesis	.63
2.3 Res	ults			.66
	2.3.1	Study c	haracteristics and heterogeneity	.66
	2.3.2	Patient	parameters associated with low level viraemia	67
		2.3.2.1	Pre-ART factors	.67
		2.3.2.2	ART-related factors	67
		2.3.2.3	Virological factors	.68
		2.3.2.4	Immunological factors	.69
	2.3.3	Assay v	ariability	.69
2.4 Disc	cussion			.93
2.4 Disc Chapter 3	cussion Virolog	ical and i	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi	.93 a
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	cussion Virolog ated pat	ical and i	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi	.93 a 97
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1	ical and i ients Introdu	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction	.93 a 97 .97
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and ients Introdu Methoo	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction	.93 a 97 .97 .100
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ls Study population	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ls Study population Sampling	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ls Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ls Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ls Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ds Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .102
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.4	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ds Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .102 .103
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.5 3.2.6	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ds Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets Statistical analysis	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .103 .103
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2 3.3	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 Results.	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ds Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets Statistical analysis	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .103 .103 .103
2.4 Disc Chapter 3 in optimally tre	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2 3.3	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 Results 3.3.1	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction ds Study population Sampling Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets Statistical analysis Study population	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .103 .103 .103 .106 106
2.4 Disc	Cussion Virolog ated pat 3.1 3.2 3.3	ical and i ients Introdu Methoo 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 Results 3.3.1 3.3.2	immunological factors associated with residual viraemi ction Is	.93 a 97 .97 .100 .100 .100 .101 .102 .102 .103 .103 .103 .106 .106

		3.3.4	Factors associated with residual viraemia	107
	3.4	Discus	sion	120
Chapter 4	Resid	lual virae	mia persists despite optimal drug levels	124
	4.1	Introd	uction	124
	4.2	Metho	ods	126
		4.2.1	Study population	126
		4.2.2	HIV-1 RNA and DNA quantification	126
		4.2.3	Plasma drug levels	126
		4.2.4	Statistical analysis	127
	4.3	Result	S	128
		4.3.1	Individual characteristics	128
		4.3.2	Residual viraemia	128
		4.3.3	Drug levels	129
		4.3.4	HIV-1 RNA level and drug levels	129
	4.4	Discus	sion	136
Chapter 5	Gene	ral discus	sion	138
Appendix				142
References				

## Figures

Figure 1.1 - HIV-1 structure at the level of genome and particle	27
Figure 1.2 - Immune response to HIV infection	28
Figure 1.3 - Schematic representation of PD1 interaction with its ligand	56
Figure 1.4 - The PD1 pathway illustrated	57
Figure 2.1 - Flowchart of study selection	71
Figure 2.2 - Factors associated with low level viraemia in published multivariate models	73
Figure 3.1 - Factors associated with residual viraemia in the univariate analysis	109
Figure 3.2 - PD1 expression (%) on CD4 and CD8 subsets in patients with undetected	
and detected HIV-1 RNA in plasma	110
Figure 4.1 - Reproducibility of HIV-1 RNA in plasma	130
Figure 4.2 - Efavirenz levels in plasma at baseline (S0) and second sampling (S1) in	
patients with detected and undetected HIV-1 RNA in plasma	131
Figure A.1 - Reproducibility of HIV-1 RNA level (copies/mL) in subjects with detected	
viraemia at one or both sample points	143

## Tables

Table 1.1 - Anti-retroviral classes and drugs	
Table 1.2 - Characteristics of representative single copy assays	
Table 2.1 - Definitions of virological failure according to current guidelines61	
Table 2.2 - Search strategy64	
Table 2.3 - Eligibility criteria65	
Table 2.4 - Characteristics of studies identifying patient parameters associated with lowlevel viraemia	
Table 2.5 - Characteristics of studies comparing the performance of commercialassays	
Table 2.6 - Characteristics of commercial assays utilised by the selected studies80	
Table 2.7 - Patient factors associated with low level viraemia	
Table 2.8 - Comparison of performance of assays	
Table 3.1 - Eligibility criteria for inclusion in the study105	5
Table 3.2 - Baseline characteristics of the study population overall and stratified by	
therapy as non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor and protease inhibitor	
-based regimens111	L
Table 3.3 - Comparative analysis of the group with undetected HIV-1 RNA in plasma vs.detected HIV-1 RNA in plasma11	4
Table 3.4 - Univariate logistic regression of clinical, virological and immunological	
factors on the outcome of residual viraemia detection117	7
Table 3.5 - Multivariate logistic regression model of factors associated with detection of	
residual viraemia in plasma119	Э
Table 4.1 - Baseline characteristics of the whole cohort and of patients on efavirenz	
based regimens at recruitment	2
Table 4.2 - Comparative analysis of virological parameters, CD4 and drug levels between	
the two time points (S0 and S1)134	1

Table 4.3 - Comparative analysis of virological parameters, CD4 and drug levels
between the two sampling points (S0 and S1) for patients receiving efavirenz135
Table A.1 - Examples of low level viraemia definitions in literature
Table A.2 - Changes in the nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors backbone145
Table A.3 - Steps of the backward selection process of the multivariate analysis and the
effect of removing each variable on the model147

## Abstract

Anti-retroviral therapy (ART) is highly effective in suppressing human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and restoring immunocompetence. However, residual levels of HIV-1 RNA persist in patients with consistent viral suppression (viral load <50 copies/mL) and some immune functions are not reversed. Characterisation of residual viraemia (HIV-1 RNA <10 copies/mL) will facilitate to understand HIV persistence.

A systematic review of literature was conducted to identify predictors of low level viraemia (HIV-1 RNA = 10-200 copies/mL) in patients on successful ART. To investigate factors associated with residual viraemia, we recruited a cohort of stably treated patients on first line ART with a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) or protease inhibitor (PI) based regimen and no evidence of virological failure. We measured HIV-1 RNA in plasma with our in-house single copy assay (SCA) and we studied total HIV-1 DNA in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and PD1 expression on memory CD4 and CD8 T populations. A subset of our study cohort was sampled twice during consecutive routine visits at the HIV clinic to perform a longitudinal analysis of HIV-1 RNA in plasma, total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and drug levels.

Residual viraemia was identified in over one third (35.9%, n=19 of N=53) of subjects with a median of 3 copies/mL. In the longitudinal cohort (n=32), HIV-1 RNA presence in plasma was reproducible within an interval period of 4 months with 53% (n=17) having undetectable HIV-1 RNA at both time points and 25% (n=8) experiencing consistently detectable HIV-1 RNA. Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC was strongly associated with residual viraemia (OR: 3.42, 95% CI: 1.32-8.83, p=0.011) in our study population. In the systematic review, low level viraemia was also associated with markers reflecting a bigger cellular reservoir including higher pre-ART viral load, total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and shorter ART duration. Moreover, low level viraemia was more frequent with reduced adherence and with PI-based ART. The same trends were also seen in our cohort, but the number of patients on PI-based regimens (n=11) and with sub-optimal efavirenz levels (n=6) were small to allow statistical comparisons. Microbial translocation and immune activation were associated with low level viraemia in the review. On the contrary, our patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA had higher PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 cells (median 43.9% vs. 33.7%, p=0.028),

effector memory CD8 cells (median 37.5% vs. 23%, p=0.022) and central memory CD8 cells (median 24.9% vs. 15.7%, p=0.034) compared to those with detectable HIV-1 RNA.

Our findings suggest that residual viraemia is probably clonal in our cohort of patients deriving mainly during activation of latently infected cells, which causes bursts of virus production. We noted that common factors were associated with both residual and low level viraemia. Although we consider residual and low level viraemia as two different entities, their sources may overlap. In this context, ongoing viral replication may drive residual viraemia in a small subset of patients. We also made an interesting observation as to PD1 expression on memory CD4 and CD8 subsets which warrants further investigation.

### List of abbreviations

#### Ag: antigen

AIDS: acquired immunodeficiency syndrome Amplicor: Roche Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test APC: antigen-presenting cell APOBEC: apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like Aptima: Hologic Aptima HIV-1 Quant Dx assay ART: anti-retroviral therapy AZT: zidovudine BC-CfE: British Columbia Centre for Excellence BCR: B cell receptor bDNA: branched-chain DNA **BHIVA: British HIV Association** BLQ: below limit of quantitation bNAbs: broadly neutralising antibodies BTLA: B and T lymphocyte attenuator CAR: chimeric antigen receptor cART: combined anti-retroviral therapy CCR5: CC-chemokine receptor 5 CD4: cluster of differentiation 4 CD8: cluster of differentiation 8 CDC: Centers for Disease Control cDNA: complementary DNA CI: confidence interval CNS: central nervous system cpz: chimpanzees CRF: circulating recombinant form CTL: cytotoxic T lymphocyte CTLA-4: cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 CXCR4: CXC-chemokine receptor 4 CYP3A4: cytochrome P450 3A4 CYP450: cytochrome P450

DHHS: United States Department of Health and Human Services

DMSO: dimethylsulphoxide

- DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid
- DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo
- DRV: darunavir
- EACS: European AIDS Clinical Society
- EDTA: ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
- EFV: efevirenz
- ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent-based assay
- env: envelope
- EPSRC: Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council
- FBC: fetal bovine serum
- FDA: Food and Drug Administration
- FTC: emtricitabine
- gag: group-specific antigen
- GALT: gut-associated lymphoid tissue
- gp: glycoprotein
- HAART: highly active anti-retroviral therapy
- HBV: hepatitis B virus
- HCV: hepatitis C virus
- HIV: human immunodeficiency virus
- HLA-B\*5701: human leukocyte antigen B\*5701
- HPLC-MS: high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
- HR: hazard ratio
- HSV: herpes simplex virus
- HTLV: human T cell leukaemia/lymphoma virus
- IC: internal control
- ICOS: inducible T cell co-stimulator
- IFN: interferon
- Ig: immunoglobulin
- IL: interleukin
- InSTI: integrase strand transfer inhibitor
- IPDA: Intact Proviral DNA Assay
- IQR: interquartile range
- ITIM: immunoreceptor tyrosin-based inhibitory motif
- ITISM: immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif

iSCA: integrase single copy assay kPCR: kinetic PCR LBP: lipopolysaccharide-binding protein LCMV: lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus LLoQ: lower limit of quantitation LLV: low level viraemia LoD: limit of detection LPV: lopinavir LTR: long terminal repeat LTRc DNA: LTR-containing circular DNA M184V: methionine to valine substitution at amino acid position 184 MeSH: medline subject heading MHC-I: major histocompatibility complex class I mRNA: messenger ribonucleic acid MS: multiple sclerosis MSM: men who have sex with men N/A: not applicable NASBA: nucleic acid sequence-based amplification ND: not detected nef: negative regulator factor NFAT: nuclear factor of activated T cells NFATc1: nuclear factor of activated T cells calcineurin-dependent 1 NF-KB: nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells NIHR CRN: National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network NK: natural killer cells NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor **NRES: National Research Ethics Service** NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor OR: odds ratio ORF: open reading frame PBMC: peripheral blood mononuclear cells PBS: phosphate-buffered saline PD1: programmed death 1 PD1-L1/2: PD1-ligand 1/2

PI: protease inhibitor

PI3K: phosphoinositide-3 kinase

pol: DNA polymerase

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

R5: CCR5 tropic

r: ritonavir

RD&I: Research Development and Innovation

RealTime: Abbott RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay

**REC: Research Ethics Committees** 

rev: regulator of expression of virion proteins

RLP: rilpivirine

RNA: ribonucleic acid

**RPMI: Roswell Park Memorial Institute** 

RT: reverse transcriptase

RT-PCR: reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

RV: residual viraemia

p: protein

SO: baseline sampling

S1: second sampling

SCA: single copy assay

SD: standard deviation

SE: standard error

SHP-1/2: Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 1/2

SIV: simian immunodeficiency virus

SLE: systemic lupus erythematosus

T: temperature

 $t_{1/2}$ : half-time

T-20: enfuvirtide

TAF: tenofovir alafenamide fumarate

TaqMan v2: Roche COBAS® AmpliPrep/COBAS® TaqMan® HIV-1 Test, v2.0

tat: trans-activator of transcription

TCF1: T cell factor 1

TCR: T cell receptor

TDF: tenofovir disoproxil fumarate

Tfh: T follicular helper cell

TMA: transcription-mediated amplification

TND: target not detected

TNFa: tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$ 

TRAIL: TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

UD: undetectable

UK: United Kingdom

UNAIDS: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

URF: unique recombinant form

Versant kPCR: Siemens Diagnostics Versant HIV-1 RNA kinetic PCR assay

vif: viral infectivity factor

VL: viral load

VLLV: very low level viraemia

vpr: viral protein R

vpu: virus protein unique

WHO: World Health Organisation

X4: CXCR4 tropic

Xpert: Cepheid Xpert HIV-1 Viral Load assay

## **CHAPTER 1**

## Introduction

### 1.1 Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)

#### 1.1.1 Classification and origin

In 2019, there were 38.0 million people living with HIV and 690,000 deaths related to acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (UNAIDS, 2020). There are two types of HIV (HIV-1 and HIV-2) which along with the simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIVs) and the human T cell leukaemia/lymphoma viruses (HTLVs) belong to the genus of Lentivirus of the family of Retroviridae (ICTV, 2018). HIV-1 is the most pathogenic and easily transmitted type and the main cause of infections worldwide, while HIV-2 is restricted mainly to West Africa (Dougan et al., 2005). HIV-2 will not be further described as it is not part of this work. HIV-1 has four genetically distinct groups: major (M), outlier (O), nonmajor/ nonoutlier (N) and the recently discovered group P, which have derived from independent cross-species transmission events. HIV-1 group M is responsible for the HIV pandemic and has been closely related to SIVcpz strains, isolated from African chimpanzees in southeast Cameroon. It is yet unclear the exact mechanism of the zoonotic transmission, but it is believed that it was passed on to hunters through the bloodborne route around 1920. It was the transfer of the virus to the city of Kinshasa at the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) and the spread through transport networks to other regions of sub-Saharan Africa that transformed an epidemic into a worldwide pandemic. Chimpazees were also the source of group N, whereas gorillas were the source of group O and P (Bbosa et al., 2019).

Viral genetic factors and socio-economic circumstances provided with a favourable advantage group M to spread exponentially around 1960 compared to the confined spread of group O to west-central Africa regions (Faria et al., 2014, Keele et al., 2006, Zhu et al., 1998). M has many subtypes or clades (A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J, K and L) from which subtype C

accounted for almost half (47%) of all HIV-1 infections in the period from 2010 to 2015 (Hemelaar et al., 2019). Subtypes emerge by genetical evolution (founder events) and differ in the amino acids in the envelope gene (env) and group-specific antigen (gag) gene by 30% and 15%, respectively, whereas the genetic distance within a subtype can be between 15% and 20%. Co-infection or super-infection with multiple strains in a subject can result in the emergence of a recombinant which has a mosaic genome composed of sequences from two or more distinct parental strains. Circulating recombinant forms (CRFs) are found only in an individual (Foley et al., 2018). There is significant increase in genetic diversity and prevalence of recombinants with over 100 CRFs reported to date (LANL, 2020). Subtype B dominates in Europe and America, whereas subtypes A, C and CRF02\_AG are the most prevalent in Africa and CRF01\_AE is mostly found in Asia (Bbosa et al., 2019). HIV diversity is constantly evolving with emergence of new strains and there has been an overall increase in the proportion of recombinant forms which accounted for almost a quarter (23%) of the global infections in the period between 2010 and 2015 (Hemelaar et al., 2019, Yamaguchi et al., 2020).

#### 1.1.2 Structural and functional properties

HIV-1 is a round particle 100 nm in diameter which consists of three main structures: the envelope, the capsid and two molecules of single stranded ribonucleic acid (RNA). The envelope is an outer lipid bilayer membrane containing two viral glycoproteins (gp), the surface gp120 and the transmembrane gp41. Protein 24 (p24) is the main component of the conical capsid, which is covered by the matrix protein (p17). RNA is housed in two copies in the capsid along with important enzymes: protease, reverse transcriptase (RT), and integrase (Gelderblom, 1991). The HIV-1 genome is 9.2 kb in size and contains 9 open reading frames (ORF) encoding for 15 proteins. At the 5' end is a long terminal repeat (LTR) followed by the gag gene, which encodes for the matrix and capsid proteins, and DNA polymerase (pol) gene, which is transcribed into the viral enzymes. At the 3' end is also an LTR followed by the env gene encoding the precursor of envelope glycoproteins (gp160). ORFs are found between pol and the 3' LTR and encode regulatory and accessory proteins that are important for gene expression and virus production (Figure 1.1). Of note, negative regulator factor (nef) and virus protein unique (vpu) facilitate immune escape by downregulating the expression of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) and

cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) receptor in host cells (Deeks et al., 2015, Ghosn et al., 2018).

#### 1.1.3 Viral replication cycle

The human infectious dose of HIV-1 is estimated at 500-1,000 particles by any route of exposure (Zanetti et al., 2007). However, only one particle is required to enter a target cell and initiate recurrent cycles of replication for infection to be established.

Gp120 binds to the CD4 receptor expressed on T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and astrocytes. This initial interaction drives a conformational change of gp120 with exposure of the V3 loop and additional binding sites which engage mainly the CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) found on memory T lymphocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells or alternatively the CXC-chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) on memory and naïve T cells. Based on preferential coreceptor use, the viral strain is defined as CCR5 tropic (R5), CXCR4 tropic (X4) or dual tropic (R5/X4). Co-receptor engagement is of paramount importance in the establishment of HIV infection and the transmitted virus is almost invariably a R5, since mucosal CD4 T cells express high levels of CCR5. A homozygous deletion of the  $\Delta$ 32 region of CCR5 gene offers natural resistance to infection with HIV-1 (Allers and Schneider, 2015). During the course of infection, there may be a shift from CCR5-tropic to CXCR4-tropic in some individuals (Deeks et al., 2015).

Co-receptor engagement following the interaction between gp120 and the CD4 receptor results in fusion of viral gp41 into the cell membrane. Conformational changes within gp41 including a critical folding step and the formation of a six helical hairpin-like structure brings the host cell membrane and viral envelope in close proximity. Host and viral membranes fuse with the formation of a pore through which the capsid containing viral RNA and enzymes enters the cell (Engelman and Cherepanov, 2012).

The capsid shell then disassembles through a process called uncoating. This stage of the replication cycle is the most poorly understood. Three models propose that uncoating occurs immediately on viral entry, gradually as the virus moves from the entry point to the nucleus or before entering the nuclear pore (Campbell and Hope, 2015). Recent evidence shows that microtubule stabilisation is critical for virus capsid transport and release of its contents (Delaney et al., 2017).

Following uncoating reverse transcription of the HIV-1 RNA into double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) occurs. RT has three enzymatic activities. First the RNAdependent DNA polymerase uses the viral RNA as template to synthesise a complementary DNA (cDNA) strand. Then the RNA strand is degraded with the RNAse H function. Eventually, the DNA-dependent DNA polymerase converts the single stranded cDNA to double helix DNA (Bhagavan and Ha, 2015). Of note is that cDNA is not an exact replicate of the original RNA due to a high error rate of RT with a frequency of  $10^{-4}$  to  $10^{-5}$  and lack of proof-reading ability. The error-prone transcription process results in the generation of mutant variants called quasispecies. A portion will escape immunological protective mechanisms and will become dominant. Others will have an impaired replication machinery resulting in reduced fitness and will either vanish or replicate at low level (Malim and Emerman, 2001). RT is also responsible for the generation of recombinant variants by its ability to switch from one RNA template to another in cells infected with different viruses (Delviks-Frankenberry et al., 2011). Therefore, genetic diversity, a key characteristic of HIV infection and persistence, emerges mainly at the stage of cDNA generation. However, mutations are not only attributed to RT activity. The apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptidelike (APOBEC) family, a host nucleic acid editing enzyme, adds to the genetic diversity by switching cytosine with thymine. Mutations occurring at other stages of the viral lifecycle, such as during viral gene transcription by host cellular RNA polymerase II, contribute less to genetic variation (Smyth et al., 2012).

cDNA accompanied by viral and cellular proteins called the pre-integration complex is transferred to the nucleus. The complex enters the nucleus through pores and HIV DNA is integrated in a random site of host DNA forming the provirus. Integrase catalyses the release of a dinucleotide from the 3' end of the HIV DNA exposing a conserved oligonucleotide region on the complementary strand (3' processing). During a second reaction (strand transfer), integrase assists the formation of a covalent bond between the exposed viral region and host nuclear DNA (Craigie, 2012).

The vast majority of cDNA is unintegrated (episomal DNA) and forms into a circle with one or two LTR regions (1- or 2-LTRc DNA). Linear episomal DNA survives for up to one month before being degraded, whereas LTRc DNAs are regarded as more stable. Circular DNAs have been recently reported to contribute to HIV protein expression, such as nef and transactivator of transcription (tat). Although the levels of expression are very low, they are sufficient to trigger immune responses (Thierry et al., 2016). In activated cells, viral gene expression is driven by host nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) and a promoter at 5' LTR region of the viral DNA (Pessler and Cron, 2004, Stroud et al., 2009). The integrated viral DNA is transcribed into genomic and messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) by cellular enzymes the same way as host genes. mRNA is translated into viral proteins at cellular ribosomes and the accruing proteins depend on the degree of splicing. Unspliced mRNA produces the gag and gag-pol polyprotein which contain structural proteins (p17, p24, nucleocapsid or p7 and p6) and enzymes (protease, RT and integrase), respectively. Partially spliced mRNAs encode envelope and accessory (viral infectivity factor (vif) and vpu) proteins and fully spliced transcripts encode the regulator of expression of virion proteins (rev), tat, viral protein R (vpr) and nef. Viral particles are transformed into mature and infectious virions by protease-mediated cleavage of the gag-pol and gag polyprotein transcripts sequentially into nine sites. This action yields all important enzymes for HIV replication including RT, integrase and protease and a structural transformation to form the conical capsid core. Genomic RNA and viral precursor proteins assemble in the cytoplasm. Envelope proteins are transported to the cellular membrane and the viral envelope is acquired during budding (Dunn et al., 2002, Pedersen et al., 2011).

#### 1.1.4 Pathogenesis

HIV is transmitted through body fluids such as blood, genital secretions and breast milk. Blood transfusion and mother-to-child transmission from an HIV infected source have the highest risk of HIV acquisition (9,250 infections and 2,260 infections per 10,000 contacts, respectively). However, these risks have nearly been eliminated due to laboratory testing of donated blood products and use of prophylactic anti-retroviral therapy (ART), respectively. Sexual exposure is the most frequent mode of transmission with HIV acquisition among discordant heterosexual couples accounting for nearly 70% of all infections globally. Receptive anal intercourse carries the highest risk (138 infections per 10,000 contacts) followed by injection drug use with sharing equipment (63 infections per 10,000 contacts) (Patel et al., 2014). Preventive strategies include the use of condoms, pre- and postexposure prophylaxis with ART, male circumcision and above all early diagnosis and treatment initiation of those infected (Crepaz et al., 2015, Marrazzo, 2017, Rodger et al., 2019, Rodger et al., 2016). Effective transmission is instigated by a single founder virus, or a few genetic variants, which is fit enough to establish a productive infection. The virus spreads rapidly after transmission and establishes latent infection at the site of infection and then draining lymph nodes and eventually distal lymph nodes and mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (Ananworanich et al., 2016, Keele et al., 2008a). The SIV macaque model has demonstrated that the latent reservoir, which is responsible for persistence despite effective treatment, is established in the first three days after infection (Whitney et al., 2014). HIV-1 RNA is detected in plasma around day 10 post infection (Fiebig I) and peaks in the following 2-4 weeks, coinciding with a transient reduction in CD4 T cell counts. Testing for p24 antigen can give a diagnosis of HIV around day 17 post infection (Fiebig II) (Fiebig et al., 2003). An immune response is initiated and seroconversion occurs with the clinical detection of antibodies against HIV around day 22 (Fiebig III). This is often accompanied by a non-specific clinical syndrome comprising fatigue, fever, rash, lymphadenopathy, headache and diarrhoea. Onset of immune responses is accompanied by a reduction in viraemia and partial recovery of CD4 cell counts.

At this point viral reservoirs are well-established within memory CD4 T cells, naïve CD4 T cells, cells of the monocyte and macrophage lineage and potentially other long-lived cells. Viral gene transcription is silenced in latently infected cells by complex mechanisms such as transition to a resting state and expression of immune checkpoints which down-regulate cellular activity (Ghosn et al., 2018).

The levels of HIV-1 RNA in plasma – described as the viral load – decline to a semi-stable level within the first 6 months of the infection. The viral set point varies among individuals from a few copies to 10<sup>6</sup> copies per mL of blood depending on viral and host factors. In untreated patients, the viral load set point is predictive of the rate of disease progression (Deeks et al., 2015). Primary HIV infection is followed by the clinically asymptomatic phase, which is characterised by ongoing virus replication and chronic immune activation. These processes gradually lead to a progressive exhaustion of immune responses which is reflected in a gradual decrease of the CD4 cell count at a rate predicted by the viral set point (Mellors et al., 1996). Eventually, severe immunodeficiency occurs, typically around 8 years from initial infection and once CD4 cell count drops below 200 cells/mL. At the final stage of AIDS there is an increase in viral load and a profound clinical deterioration characterised by recurrent infections, cancers, cachexia and eventually death (Pantaleo et al., 1993).

The lag in time between transmission and antibody seroconversion can result in missed diagnoses if antibody-based assays are used (Geretti, 2017). Fourth generation tests detect

p24 antigen and antibodies (immunoglobulin (Ig) M and G) decreasing the period between infection and a positive result to 2-3 weeks. Earlier diagnosis can be achieved with RNA detection in the plasma with reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assays around 10 days after infection (Delaney et al., 2016) (Figure 1.2).

#### 1.1.5 Anti-retroviral therapy

Since Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval of zidovudine (AZT), the first antiretroviral drug, in 1987, enormous advances have been achieved in HIV treatment, increasing substantially life expectancy of infected individuals (FDA, 2018, Mocroft et al., 2003, Samji et al., 2013). Most recent data reveal that timely diagnosis and lifelong adherence to current drugs ensure a life expectancy almost the same as the healthy population (Trickey et al., 2017). Combination ART has led to an era of clinically sustained virological suppression for patients who remain on therapy continuously and without interruptions (Geretti and Tsakiroglou, 2014). Yet, immunological damage that occurred early in the course of infection is not completely reversed and persists despite long-term treatment (Deeks et al., 2015). Seven classes of antiretrovirals block various steps of the viral replication cycle (Table 1.1).

Inhibition of HIV entry in host cells is achieved by compounds that interact with proteins on target cells or HIV particles which are involved in attachment, co-receptor binding and fusion (Kuritzkes, 2009). Maraviroc is a CCR5 antagonist that binds to the transmembrane region of the CCR5 preventing the interactions between the V3 loop of gp120 and the host cell coreceptor. Maraviroc is active against R5 virus and tropism should be determined prior to use. Yet, failure of maraviroc may occur if X4 or R5/X4 quasispecies pre-exist and become dominant under pharmacological pressure. Otherwise, mutations causing resistance to maraviroc in R5 virus are rare. It is metabolised by cytochrome P450 and dose adjustments are required with concurrent use of CYP450 inducers or inhibitors. Maraviroc is welltolerated and the most frequent side effect is postural hypotension. It has been proposed to have immunomodulatory properties and, hence, trialled in inflammatory conditions, such as rheumatoid arthritis and non-alcoholic liver disease (Lewis et al., 2018). Enfuvirtide (T-20) is a fusion inhibitor targeting gp41. It is administered subcutaneously twice daily and injection site reactions are very common. The humanised monoclonal antibody ibalizumab is a post-attachment inhibitor which binds on CD4 receptors hindering interaction between CD4-bound gp120 and CCR5 or CXCR4 (Beccari et al., 2019, Kuritzkes, 2009). More entry inhibitors (e.g. fostemsavir, leronlimab) are under development or in clinical trials (Cahn et al., 2018, Thompson, 2018). Guidelines reserve entry inhibitors for patients with multiple drug resistance or poor tolerability (DHHS, 2018, EACS, 2018).

Nucleoside and non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI and NNRTI) interact with RT inhibiting virus RNA conversion to cDNA (Table 1.1). NRTIs are nucleoside and nucleotide analogues which undergo phosphorylation by host enzymes into active triphosphate and diphosphate derivates, respectively. These active forms incorporate into nascent cDNA preventing further nucleotide addition and terminating the extension of the chain. Many NRTI resistance mutations impair virus fitness and antiviral activity is maintained. Also, cross-resistance among NRTIs does not always occur. A methionine to valine substitution at amino acid position 184 (M184V), for instance, reduces binding of the NRTI. M184V is selected by lamivudine, emtricitabine and abacavir causing high-level resistance to lamivudine and emtricitabine, but limited resistance to abacavir and increased susceptibility to tenofovir and zidovudine. Tenofovir is the most widely used NRTI and it is formulated as two prodrugs, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) and the most recently developed tenofovir alafenamide fumarate (TAF). A combination of tenofovir with emtricitabine and a third agent is an effective first-line regimen. NRTI side effect profile includes peripheral neuropathy, lipoatrophy, pancreatitis and hepatic steatosis which are the consequences of mitochondrial toxicity and more frequent with older NRTIs such as stavudine (Lewis et al., 2003). Tenofovir can cause proximal tubulopathy with a broad spectrum of presentations (e.g. acute kidney injury, Fanconi syndrome, nephrogenic diabetes insipidus) particularly in patients with pre-existing kidney dysfunction. Also, patients on TDF may experience decreased bone mineral density (Bedimo et al., 2016). TAF has improved intracellular bioavailability and renal and bone toxicity profile compared to TDF (Sax et al., 2015), but appears to be associated with weight gain (Taramasso et al., 2020). Abacavir in combination with lamivudine and dolutegravir is an effective and frequently used regimen. Between 5% and 8% of patients develop a hypersensitive reaction which can be predicted by testing positive for human leukocyte antigen B\*5701 (HLA-B\*5701). Abacavir has also been associated with cardiovascular disease in patients with increased risk (Hetherington et al., 2001, Sabin et al., 2008).

NNRTIS bind to a pocket near the active site of RT causing a conformational change which impairs its enzymatic activity. NNRTIS have a low genetic barrier to resistance and significant cross-resistance. Older NNRTIS are nevirapine and efavirenz and more recent are etravirine and rilpivirine which were followed by doravirine. Efavirenz was the preferred third agent in first-line ART but its central nervous system (CNS) toxicity and the introduction of integrase strand transfer inhibitors (InSTIs) resulted in being phased out. Rilpivirine, on the other hand, is better tolerated than efavirenz. Due to increased risk of virological failure and emergence of cross-resistance mutations with higher levels of HIV-1 RNA in plasma, rilpivirine is recommended only for patients with viral load less than 100,000 copies/mL (Sanford, 2012). Doravirine is expected to overcome these drawbacks and may retain activity in the presence of some resistant mutations (Cohen et al., 2013, Colombier and Molina, 2018). NNRTIs have a long plasma half-life and drug levels are maintained therapeutic if a dose is missed occasionally. However, resistance mutations are easily developed if triple ART is discontinued as they remain for longer periods in blood (Geretti et al., 2013b). Common side effects resulting in drug class switch are neuropsychiatric disorders (e.g. vivid dreams, confusion), lipid abnormalities, hepatoxicity, skin rash, nausea and prolonged QT interval.

InSTIs block integrase from joining the processed viral DNA ends in the host genome by binding to the pre-integration complex probably before it enters the nucleus (Pandey and Grandgenett, 2008). Second generation InSTIs, such as dolutegravir and bictegravir have a higher genetic barrier to resistance compared to raltegravir and elvitegravir (first generation InSTIs) and are currently the preferred choice for treatment initiation (Blanco et al., 2011, Doyle et al., 2015, Oliveira et al., 2018). Cabotegravir, an analogue of dolutegravir, is currently in phase 3 trials. Its long-acting nanoparticle injection formulation combined with long-acting rilpivirine is the most advanced long-acting regimen (Stellbrink and Hoffmann, 2018). Dolutegravir is currently the preferred third agent for first-line ART (DHHS, 2018, EACS, 2018), because comparative studies have demonstrated its superiority over efavirenz or boosted darunavir based regimens with improved safety profile and rapid viral load suppression (Osterholzer and Goldman, 2014). The most frequent side effects include weight gain, insomnia and neuropsychiatric disorders.

Protease inhibitors (PIs) stop particle maturation through competitive binding to the viral protease and prevention of subsequent cleavage of gag and gag-pol polypeptides (Voshavar, 2019). Ritonavir and cobicistat are CYP3A4 inhibitors and are used as pharmacokinetic enhancers for PIs (and elvitegravir), which are metabolised by CYP450 (Larson et al., 2014). Boosted darunavir and atazanavir are currently the recommended PIs used in combination regimens or as stand-alone drugs (DHHS, 2018). They may not be first-line options due to their increased risk of side effects and drug-drug interactions, but their high barrier to resistance makes them the cornerstone in patients with drug mutations and adherence

issues (Geretti et al., 2019). PIs have a marked profile of side effects including metabolic dysfunction (e.g. insulin resistance, hyperlipidaemia) and increased risk of cardiovascular disease, gastrointestinal side effects, hepatotoxicity, lipodystrophy and PR interval prolongation (Echecopar-Sabogal et al., 2018). Atazanavir and darunavir are probably the most well-tolerated PIs. However, atazanavir can cause renal toxicity and hyperbilirubinemia (Voshavar, 2019). Drug-drug interactions are also common with PIs. For instance, absorption is decreased with co-administration of stomach acid lowering drugs.

Standard ART usually consists of a combination of two NRTIs, referred to as the "backbone", and a third agent. Currently the preferred third agent is an InSTI (dolutegravir), which has replaced NNRTIs or PIs from first-line options (DHHS, 2018). Therapy choice depends on pharmacological and pharmacodynamic properties (e.g. PIs have high genetic barrier to resistance), individual circumstances (e.g. PIs are preferred if adherence is an issue), virological characteristics (e.g. NNRTI mutations causing drug resistance are frequent), tolerability (e.g. patients may become intolerant to efavirenz due to neurological toxicity) and ease of use (e.g. single tablet once daily formulations) (Yombi and Pozniak, 2016).

Since ART is life-long, minimising drug exposure, risk of toxicity and cost are paramount aspects which make dual therapy appealing (Achhra et al., 2016). A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials comparing dolutegravir/lamivudine with triple agent regimes for ART initiation revealed similar virological efficacy over a period of 48 weeks (Radford et al., 2019b). Two-drug combinations have also been tested as a simplification strategy in stably suppressed patients on triple ART (Achhra et al., 2016, Llibre et al., 2018). Dolutegravir/rilpivirine has been shown to be a good alternative for maintenance of suppression while lamivudine in combination with dolutegravir, boosted atazanavir or boosted darunavir is also supported by good evidence (Calza et al., 2018, Llibre et al., 2018, Radford et al., 2019a). European and North American guidelines have adapted dolutegravir/lamivudine and dolutegravir/rilpivirine for first line therapy and treatment switch, respectively, in selected adults (DHHS, 2018, EACS, 2018). Nonetheless, long-term data and larger studies are required to confirm the efficacy of various 2-drug combinations.

ART can successfully suppress viral replication, but it cannot eradicate HIV. A significant decrease in plasma HIV-1 RNA levels is noted to a level below 50 copies/mL within six months after ART initiation, with subsequent immune reconstitution (Maldarelli et al., 2007, Perelson et al., 1997). However, virus rebound to pre-treatment levels occurs nearly always in case of ART discontinuation (Bailey et al., 2006, Chun et al., 2010, Harrigan et al., 1999,

Jubault et al., 1998, Maggiolo et al., 2012, Palmer et al., 2008). The reason is that latently infected reservoirs established early during infection are not targeted by ART (Chun et al., 2011, Chun et al., 1997, Finzi et al., 1997, Palmer et al., 2011, Ruggiero et al., 2015, Shen and Siliciano, 2008b, Siliciano et al., 2003). Proliferation of HIV-harbouring cells maintains the reservoirs and it can be antigen-driven, homeostatic through cytokine pathways or due to activation of genes controlling cell cycle progression by integrated HIV sequences (Chomont et al., 2009, Maldarelli et al., 2014, Simonetti et al., 2016, Wagner et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2018).

ART preserves and partly restores immune functions, reducing chronic T cell activation and inflammation. As a result, the risk of both AIDS-defining and non-AIDS illnesses (e.g., cardiovascular disease) is minimised (Appay and Kelleher, 2016, Nou et al., 2016, Younas et al., 2016). Moreover, the absence of seroconversion among HIV discordant couples where the positive partner is under treatment indicates the important role of early ART initiation in transmission and control of the HIV pandemic (Anglemyer et al., 2011, Rodger et al., 2019). HIV infection in countries with widely available access to ART is a chronic, usually well-controlled disease, as long as compliance with therapy is maintained. In 2017, the United Kingdom (UK) met the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) 90-90-90 target with 92% of infected people being diagnosed, 98% of people diagnosed with HIV being on treatment and 97% of those on treatment being suppressed (PHE, 2018).





LTR: long terminal repeat; gag: group-specific antigen; p: protein; pol: DNA polymerase; vif: virion infectivity factor; vpr: viral protein R; tat: trans-activator of transcription; rev: regulator of expression of virion proteins; env: envelope; vpu: viral protein unique; gp: glycoprotein; nef: negative factor

Figure 1.2: Immune response to HIV infection (McMichael et al., 2010).



During the eclipse phase HIV-1 is replicating at the mucosal tissue and draining lymph nodes causing an increase in acute phase proteins. Around day 10 ( $T_0$ ) HIV-1 RNA can be detected in the plasma and there is an interferon response to the spread of the virus. As HIV-1 RNA levels increase exponentially antibody and CD8 cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses take place which can control viral replication only partially due to rapid viral escape. Eventually complex virus-host interactions create a steady level of viraemia.

	Agents (other names and acronyms)	Trade
Diug Class	Agents (other names and acronyins)	name
Nucleoside and	abacavir (abacavir sulfate, ABC)	Ziagen
nucleotide	emtricitabine (FTC)	Emtriva
reverse	lamivudine (3TC)	Epivir
transcriptase	tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (tenofovir DF, TDF)	Viread
inhibitors	tenofovir alafenamide (TAF)	Vemlidy <sup>1</sup>
(NRTIs)	zidovudine (azidothymidine, AZT, ZDV)	Retrovir
Non-nucleoside	doravirine (DOR)	Pifeltro
reverse	efavirenz (EFV)	Sustiva
transcriptase	etravirine (ETR)	Intelence
inhibitors	nevirapine (NVP)	Viramune
(NNRTIS)	rilpivirine (rilpivirine hydrochloride, RPV)	Edurant
Protease	atazanavir (atazanavir sulfate, ATV)	Reyataz
inhibitors	darunavir (darunavir ethanolate, DRV)	Prezista
(PIs)	fosamprenavir (fosamprenavir calcium, FOS-APV, FPV)	Lexiva
	lopinavir (LPV)	Kaletra <sup>2</sup>
	ritonavir (RTV, r) <sup>3</sup>	Norvir
	saquinavir (saquinavir mesylate, SQV)	Invirase
	tipranavir (TPV)	Aptivus
Fusion inhibitors	enfuvirtide (T-20)	Fuzeon
CCR5	maraviroc (MVC)	Selzentry
antagonists		
Integrase strand	bictegravir (bictegravir sodium, BIC)	Biktarvy <sup>4</sup>
transfer	dolutegravir (dolutegravir sodium, DTG)	Tivicay
inhibitors	elvitegravir (EVG)	Vitekta
(InSTIs)	raltegravir (raltegravir potassium, RAL)	Isentress
Attachment	ibalizumab	Trogarzo
inhibitors	(Hu5A8, IBA, Ibalizumab, TMB-355, TNX-355)	

	Agents (other names and asrenyms)	Trade
Di ug class	Agents (other names and acronyms)	name
Pharmacokinetic	cobicistat (COBI, c)	Tybost
enhancers		

1: Stand-alone TAF is not FDA approved for HIV but is approved for treating chronic HBV infection

2: Lopinavir in combination with ritovavir

3: Ritonavir is a PI which is used as a pharmacokinetic enhancer for other protease inhibitors

4: Biktarvy is a combination drug of bictegravir/emtricitabine/tenofovir alafenamide

#### 1.2 Viral load monitoring

#### 1.2.1 Viral load

Viral load, defined as HIV-1 RNA copies per mL of plasma, was early identified as a measurable predictor of clinical outcomes including rate of CD4 decrease, progression to AIDS and risk of death (Mellors et al., 1997). Viral load, in conjunction with CD4 counts, was originally used for prognosis and guided ART initiation and monitoring (Saag, 1997, Wei et al., 1995, Young et al., 2015). The target was to suppress viral load at levels below the assay quantification limits which were around 400 copies/mL for first generation assays (Churchill and Weber, 1999, Saag et al., 1996). Quantification of HIV-1 RNA levels in plasma can predict treatment failure earlier than CD4 count and it is not required to be performed more than twice annually in stable patients (BHIVA, 2019, DHHS, 2018, EACS, 2018, Geretti, 2009, Young et al., 2015). Eventually viral load became the gold standard and only surrogate marker for monitoring long-term clinical response to therapy (BHIVA, 2019, DHHS, 2018, EACS, 2018) and CD4 count measurements are performed less frequently. Viral load serves as an indicator of virus control and risk of transmission (Quinn et al., 2000, Rodger et al., 2019).

Samples can be easily obtained, transported and processed on automated platforms. The half-life of HIV in plasma at body temperature is two days, but this increases at lower temperatures (Moudgil and Daar, 1993). Hence, transport of whole blood in ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) tubes allows 72 hours of RNA stability at room temperature with minimal degradation (Bonner et al., 2014). However, samples from patients with viraemia <200 copies/mL should be processed within 4-8 hours after collection to avoid cell lysis. Blood cells infected with HIV-1 can release viral DNA upon lysis and if the assay employs total nucleic acid extraction method, contaminant HIV-1 DNA can be measured along with RNA during the amplification step (Fernandes et al., 2010).

Technical characteristics and accuracy of clinical assays has improved significantly over time with lower limits of quantification reducing from 400 copies/mL with first generation assays to 50 copies/mL with second generations assays and to 40 and 20 copies with the most popular third generation assays traded by Abbott (RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay, which will be referred to as RealTime in this work) and Roche (COBAS<sup>®</sup> AmpliPrep/COBAS<sup>®</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> HIV-1 Test, v2.0, which will be referred to as TaqMan v2), respectively (Doyle and

Geretti, 2012). Four major technologies have been developed for viral load measuring: RT-PCR, nucleic acid sequence-based amplification (NASBA), branched-chain DNA (bDNA) and the most recently FDA approved transcription-mediated amplification (TMA). Currently realtime RT-PCR and TMA remain in commercial use and will be described in more details below, whereas NASBA and bDNA are phased out. Overall commercial viral load assays have similar accuracy, quantitation range and technical characteristics (Wang et al., 2010). Studies comparing the two most widely used third-generation assays (the RealTime and TaqMan v2.0) show good correlation for all HIV-1 subtypes. However, discordances occur for low level viraemia and around the lower quantitation limit (Doyle and Geretti, 2012).

#### 1.2.2 Commercial assays used in clinical settings

#### 1.2.2.1 RT-PCR

FDA approved the Roche Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test (referred to as Amplicor) for quantitation of viral load in the summer of 1996 (FDA, 2018). Since then RT-PCR for HIV-1 RNA detection and quantitation is the gold standard clinical tool for viral load monitoring in a two-step enzymatic process (RT and PCR step). Primers, nucleotides, enzymes and template RNA are mixed together and undergo one thermal cycle of annealing and extending that derives the cDNA. Purified HIV-1 RNA is used as template to be converted to a more stable form of cDNA. Then cDNA is amplified through recurrent thermal cycles (30-40) of template denaturation (temperature (T) >90°C), primer annealing (T: 50-75°C) and elongation (T:  $72-78^{\circ}$ C) to exponentially produce the amplicon of a DNA region (Mackay et al., 2002). Primers choice is probably the most important aspect in design, as they should achieve template specificity, thermodynamic stability and functional agreement in the mixture (Farrell, 2010). Quantitation of the amplicon happens as a fluorescence signal accumulates with nucleotide consumption (real-time). Meaningful results accrue from absolute or relative quantitation, where a standard curve or a control sample are used as reference, respectively (Farrell, 2010b). Assays report a lower limit of quantitation (LLoQ) and a limit of detection (LoD) (CLSI, 2012). LLoQ is the lowest concentration of HIV-1 RNA that can be reliably quantified within a total error of usually 1 log copies/mL. The LLoQ is determined by testing serial dilutions of the 3rd HIV-1 World Health Organisation (WHO) International Standard (subtype B) and it is verified across subtypes and groups. The highest LLoQ for all subtypes and groups is chosen. The LoD is the concentration of HIV-1 RNA that is detected with at least 95% probability and it is determined in a similar way as the LLoQ

through Probit analysis. A value is reported for samples with HIV-1 RNA levels equal or above the LLoQ and a qualitative result ("target detected") is returned for samples with viral load between the LLoQ and LoD. Viral load is reported as "target not detected" if it is below the LoD. Real-time RT-PCR reduces process time, has good sensitivity and precision and minimises contamination risk (Mackay et al., 2002).

The Amplicor assay utilised end-point RT-PCR technology by targeting the gag region of HIV-1 genome with a single enzyme for both the conversion and amplification steps (Mulder et al., 1994). It had an upper limit of quantitation at 10,000,000 copies/mL and a LLoQ at 400 copies/mL with version 1.5 or 50 copies/mL with the ultrasensitive assay (Sun et al., 1998). The introduction of the COBAS® AmpliPrep instrument upgraded the assay (COBAS® AmpliPrep/COBAS® Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test, version 1.5) by performing a fully automated HIV-1 RNA extraction and purification from plasma samples (COBAS AmpliPrep platform) (Germer et al., 2007). End-point assays dominated at clinical laboratories for over a decade until 2008 when the replacement by real-time RT-PCR started (de Mendoza and Soriano, 2009, Holodniy, 2006). Yet, most data demonstrating ART efficacy and the predictive role of viral load suppression accrued with the utilisation of the Amplicor technology.

The COBAS® rival AmpliPrep/TaqMan® HIV-1 Test utilised real-time RT-PCR technology with earlier versions targeting highly conserved regions within the gag gene and a LLoQ at 40 copies/mL. However, studies showed significant bias in reported values with mean differences exceeding 1 log<sub>10</sub> copies/mL when compared with viral load testing by other realtime platforms such as the RealTime (Wirden et al., 2011). Roche identified that genetic variability for group M and non-B subtypes resulted in primer or probe mismatches and underestimation. Hence, they upgraded to version 2.0 which incorporates a dual target strategy amplifying highly conserved gag and LTR sequences and achieving a LLoQ at 20 copies/mL (Roche Molecular Systems, 2018, Schumacher et al., 2007). TaqMan probes (25-30 nucleotides) are single stranded and carry a fluorescence reporter at 5' end and a quencher absorber at 3' end. The probe hybridizes with its complimentary DNA sequence and it is cleaved by a DNA polymerase which disassociates the fluorescence reporter from the quencher with signal emission. During an effective process the signal aggregates with a rate proportional to the amount of the original target RNA and the machine records the cycle at which it overcomes background ( $C_T$ ). The  $C_T$  values are used in a calculation with the  $C_T$  values from internal standards (and competitive control as indicator of PCR inhibition) to report viral load in copies/mL (Liegler TJ and RM, 2009).

Abbott entered commercial competition with the RealTime which also adapts a fully automated extraction process to purify RNA from whole blood samples (m2000sp platform). The principle in methodology is similar to Roche assays with conversion of RNA to cDNA, amplification and fluorescent detection. However, Abbott technology targets a highly conserved integrase region within the pol gene. Abbott probe is also partially double stranded with reporter and quencher being on each strand and signal emission occurring upon uncoupling. The rationale is to allow hybridization at lower temperatures with tolerance to mismatches and genetic variability (Johanson et al., 2001). Also, Abbott uses a non-competitive internal control (hydroxypyruvate reductase of pumpkin) to indicate PCR inhibition events. As to method of quantitation, a stored standard curve, calibrated at each run, is used in a linear regression model with the input of the C<sub>T</sub> value for each sample to return the quantity of HIV-1 RNA in copies/mL. The LLoQ is 40 copies/mL (Abbott, 2018, Tang et al., 2007).

The Versant HIV-1 RNA kinetic PCR assay by Siemens Diagnostics (referred to as Versant kPCR) employs a real-time (or kinetic) PCR method to target a highly conserved region within the pol gene utilising TaqMan probes which emit signal upon unfolding during the amplification step. It involves automated sample preparation, an internal control and two external quantitation standards. LLoQ is 37 copies/mL (Ruelle et al., 2009).

The Xpert<sup>®</sup> HIV-1 Viral Load assay by Cepheid (referred to as Xpert) prequalified by WHO in 2017. Xpert is based on real-time RT-PCR targeting a region within LTR and it detects group M (subtypes A, B, C, D, AE, F, G, H, AB, AG, J, and K) and groups N and O. Its LLoQ is 40 copies/mL and its upper limit is 10,00,000 copies/mL. It requires minimal training (fully automated) and moderate infrastructure (single cartridge containing all reagents and internal controls) to provide rapid (within 90 minutes) and accurate results. The same platform can also be used for testing for a variety of infections including tuberculosis and hepatitis B and C. A systematic review (12 studies included) showed good performance of the Xpert assay compared to current reference tests (Nash et al., 2018). It is a reliable tool for viral load monitoring and detection of treatment failure in the clinic including resource-limited settings (Sacks et al., 2019, Villa et al., 2020).

#### <u>1.2.2.2 TMA</u>

The Hologic Aptima HIV-1 Quant Dx assay (referred to as Aptima) received FDA approval for viral load monitoring in 2016. It is a fully automated process (Panther system) involving target capture, TMA and fluorescent detection. With the exception of the TMA step the rest

of the process has many similarities with RT-PCR methods. TMA is also a transcriptionmediated nucleic acid amplification method, but with some important differences. HIV-1 RNA is isolated from plasma samples and captured by oligonucleotides targeting a highly conserved region of the HIV-1 genome. The hybridised RNA is separated with magnetic microparticles and a magnetic field. Purified viral RNA is converted to DNA by a reverse transcriptase, which is used as template for the production of multiple RNA copies by a T7 RNA polymerase. Two target regions within pol and LTR are amplified. Single-stranded nucleic acid torches hybridise to the RNA amplicon in real-time and as result the quencher moves away from the fluorophore allowing for the signal to emit. An internal control is present at each reaction to ensure amplification efficiency and quantitation of target RNA. The concentration of the HIV sample and the internal control are determined on a calibration curve. The linear range of quantitation is between 30 and 10,000,000 copies/mL and LoD is around 12 copies/mL with some variation across subtypes and groups (e.g. 17 copies/mL for subtype G). Equally the LLoQ is 10 copies/mL for B subtypes and from 10 to 30 copies/mL for non-B subtypes (Hologic, 2017). Contrary to RT-PCR, the whole process takes place at the same temperature. Comparative studies have shown that the Aptima assay is precise, accurate, sensitive and concordant with widely used assays including the RealTime and the TagMan v2.0 (Longo et al., 2018, Wiesmann et al., 2018).

#### 1.2.3 Historical assays

#### <u>1.2.3.1 NASBA</u>

NASBA methodology comprises of iso-thermal amplification of RNA and detection of target sequences (gag originally and then LTR) based on electro-chemiluminescence (end-point) or molecular beacon (real-time) technologies (Deiman et al., 2002). The NucliSens HIV-1 QT assay was commercialised by bio Mérieux in 1995. A second generation assay with a quantitation range of 176 to 3,470,000 copies/mL received FDA approval in 2001 (Ginocchio et al., 2003). The NucliSens EasyQ HIV-1 version 2.0 was an update incorporating an automated process and molecular beacons for target quantitation (Xu et al., 2010). According to literature the NASBA technology is as accurate as PCR, if not more sensitive, for the quantitation of HIV-1 RNA levels (Ginocchio et al., 2003, Mourez et al., 2015, Notermans et al., 2000, Shepard et al., 2000). However, interlaboratory variability has been reported more frequently than other assays probably due to free choice of extraction protocols and starting sample volume and greater inter-subtype variability (Senechal and James, 2012).
### 1.2.3.2 bDNA

The representative of bDNA technology was the Versant HIV-1 RNA 3.0 assay by Siemens Medical Solutions (previous versions known as Quantiplex). HIV RNA is not purified but released with a lysis step and captured on a microwell coated with oligonucleotides with homology to conserved regions of the pol gene. Another set of nucleotides target HIV RNA and amplify the signal by binding at multiple sites. There is no transcription of viral RNA. Detection is by chemiluminescence and determined from a standard curve. The range of quantitation is 75 to 500,000 copies/mL (Collins et al., 1997, Liegler TJ and RM, 2009). Underquantification has been shown with the Siemens bDNA assay and reports demonstrate consistently lower values compared to other technologies (Senechal and James, 2012).

#### 1.2.3.3 ELISA

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent-based assays (ELISA), such as ExaVir RT (Cavidi) were inexpensive and simple assays used at resource limited settings (Boni et al., 1997, Labbett et al., 2009, Pascual et al., 2002, Stevens et al., 2005). The ExaVir RT assay measured RT activity on a poly-A oligonucleotide template with an incorporated alkaline phosphatase colorimetric assay. RT activity correlated with signal intensity. Version 3.0 had a LLOQ corresponding to viral load of 200 copies/mL (Labbett et al., 2009).

### 1.2.3 Ultrasensitive HIV-1 RNA assays used in research settings

Ultrasensitive assays with a cut-off as low as a single copy, or near single copy, of HIV-1 RNA per mL of plasma have been developed for research purposes (Palmer et al., 2008). They require large volumes of sample which is either concentrated or tested in replicates. Samples are usually intensively processed before quantitation and operator-led over automated steps analogy varies (Table 1.2). Commercial platforms or in-house RT-PCR technology targeting highly conserved regions of the HIV-1 genome are usually utilised to measure residual virus presence (Amendola et al., 2011, Hatano et al., 2009, Margot et al., 2018, Palmer et al., 2003, Yukl et al., 2011).

Ultrasensitive assays attempt to shed light on viral kinetics during suppressive ART and predict the risk of virological failure in patients with residual levels of virus presence in the blood or other compartments which are not detected with commercial assays (Palmer et al., 2008). First-generation single copy assays (SCA) targeted HIV-1 gag with higher rates of primer mismatch and larger volumes of sample (7 mL). A subsequent SCA targeted a highly

conserved region of integrase (iSCA) in x3 concentrated samples from an original volume of 3 mL (Cillo et al., 2014). Based on the iSCA a clinical study showed that all samples from patients on suppressive ART reported as "target not detected" with the TaqMan v2.0 had at least 1 copy of HIV RNA. Interestingly, samples with viral loads above 20 copies/mL appeared to measure lower with the iSCA indicating some overestimation with the Roche platform (Margot et al., 2018). An update version of iSCA (v2.0), which uses a greater proportion of total extracted nucleic acid for HIV-1 RNA quantitation, increased the number of samples with detected HIV-1 RNA by almost one third and more than doubled the amount of copies/mL (Tosiano et al., 2019). Automated platforms testing multiple replicates with single copy sensitivity are currently under development (Bakkour et al., 2019).

Lack of standardisation of SCA results in significant variation in methodology, input plasma volume and detection limit. Hence, findings may be conflicting and non-comparable. Of note, commercial assays report discrepant results towards their LLoQ even within the same platform (Doyle and Geretti, 2012, Ruelle et al., 2012). Nevirapine compared to efavirenz and lopinavir/ritonavir appeared to have a virological advantage in patients with HIV-1 RNA in plasma less than 2 copies/mL as measured with a modified protocol of the Amplicor v1.5 (Bonora et al., 2009). A SCA-based study also supported the claim that nevirapine may be better than efavirenz in suppressing virus replication (Haim-Boukobza et al., 2011). No such correlation, though, was found in a study comparing nevirapine with PI-based therapy utilizing a modified version of the RealTime assay (Kiselinova et al., 2015).

Peference	(Palmor at al. 2002)	(Yuklotal 2011)	(Hatano et al.,
Kererence	(Faimer et al., 2003)	(1001 et al., 2011)	2009)
Type of sample	Plasma	Plasma	Plasma
Input sample	7	30	2
volume, mL			
Method of sample	Ultracentrifugation	Centrifugation	N/A
concentration	(170,000 ×g, 30	(47,810 xg, 3 hrs,	
	min, 4°C, Sorvall T-	4°C, Sorvall RC6	
	1270 rotor)	SH3000 rotor) with	
		density cushion	
		(OptiPrep Density	
	Gradient Medium)		
Number of	N/A	N/A	4
replicates			
Internal control	RCAS	Abbott IC	Aptima IC
RNA extraction	Manual/operator-	Automated	Semiautomated
method	based		
Assay	In-house two step	Abbott RealTime	Gen-Probe Aptima
	RT-PCR	HIV-1 Viral Load	HIV-1
	(quantitative)	(quantitative)	(semiquantitative)
Target region on	gag	pol integrase	polymerase and LTR
HIV genome			regions <sup>1</sup>
Standard	Plasmid pQP1-	Abbott calibrator	Positive and
	derived transcripts	kit generate and	negative Aptima
	generate a standard	store a standard	calibrators defining
	curve at each run	curve which is	a signal-to-cutoff
		validated at each	(S/Co) ratio at each
		run	run
Measurement of	Interpolation of Ct	Interpolation of Ct	Matching of S/Co
HIV-1 RNA	values from x3	values from x1	ratios from x4
copies/mL			replicates to

Reference	(Palmer et al., 2003)	(Yukl et al., 2011)	(Hatano et al.,
			2009)
	replicates in a linear	replicate in a linear	predefined viral
	regression model	regression model	load values derived
			from in vitro
			validation
			experiments

RCAS: replication-competent avian sarcoma; N/A: not applicable; IC: internal control; LTR: long terminal repeat

1: (Giachetti et al., 2002)

# 1.3 HIV-1 RNA presence in plasma during effective therapy

### 1.3.1 Viral kinetics during suppressive antiretroviral therapy

ART suppresses viral replication to plasma HIV-1 RNA levels below the LLoQ of commercial assays (20 and 40 copies/mL) within 3-6 months of therapy initiation (Boender et al., 2015, Doyle et al., 2012, Tanner et al., 2016). However, ART does not eradicate HIV-1 from latently infected cells. Viral decay following ART initiation occurs in 4 phases (Palmer et al., 2008, Riddler et al., 2016). Phase one and two are very dynamic stages during which turnover of virus population and productively infected cells is suppressed and plasma HIV-1 RNA decreases below 50 copies/mL (Wei et al., 1995). First there is a rapid decline in plasma viraemia with a half-life of 1-2 days, which is the effect of a significant reduction in infected activated CD4 T cells. A second phase of slower decay (half-life 2-3 weeks) follows because of clearance of long-lived cells harbouring and producing HIV. Phase three and four are more stochastic and the cellular source associated with them involves latently infected cells with self-renewal capacity. The third phase is dominated by a very slow decay (39 weeks half-life) due to decrease of latently infected cells that become sporadically activated, such as resting memory CD4 T-cells. During the fourth phase viraemia declines at an extremely low rate (0.026 log<sub>10</sub> per year) with a half-life of at least 11.5 years (95% CI 6.2-83 years) (Riddler et al., 2016). Although a similar half-time  $(t_{1/2})$  (13 years) has been estimated for the decay of the total cell-associated HIV-1 DNA (Gandhi et al., 2017), the half-life of productively infected cells is not known (Jacobs et al., 2019).

Residual viral RNA in the plasma between 1 and 3 copies/mL is quantified with ultrasensitive assays in the majority of patients despite optimal ART (Cillo et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2012, Margot et al., 2018, Palmer et al., 2008). It has been previously reported that patients on a boosted lopinavir based regimen and with suppressed viral loads less than 50 copies/mL for 7 years have at least one sample with detectable HIV-1 RNA measured with a SCA (Palmer et al., 2008). Although most patients on stable ART experience at least intermittently quantifiable HIV-1 RNA levels, the exact proportion of patients with detectable levels with SCAs varies among different studies (Cillo et al., 2014, Gandhi et al., 2010, Hofstra et al., 2014, Kiselinova et al., 2015, Margot et al., 2018, Tosiano et al., 2019). It is unclear if the reason for these discrepancies lies with study population demographics, viral characteristics, immune system capacity to control viral replication along with ART, SCA complexity and technical limitations or a combination of the above.

The exact mechanism of residual HIV-1 RNA presence in the plasma is unclear. Ongoing cycles of viral replication may supply circulation with viruses (Lorenzo-Redondo et al., 2016, Rothenberger et al., 2019, Sahu, 2015). This model is supported by evidence showing that drug concentrations vary among tissues and ART penetration may be sub-optimal at sites which are rich in reservoirs such as lymph nodes (Di Mascio et al., 2009, Estes et al., 2017, Fletcher et al., 2014, Lee et al., 2020). Alternatively, clone-specific T cell activation triggered by antigen recognition or local inflammatory processes may cause small bursts of viral production which are immediately suppressed by ART (Shen and Siliciano, 2008b). Of note, phylogenetic studies have not revealed genetic evolution which is a hallmark of viral replication (Bailey et al., 2006, Josefsson et al., 2013, Kearney et al., 2014, Kieffer et al., 2004). Hence, ongoing viral replication should be rare and residual virus should not derive from new infection cycles (Bachmann et al., 2019, Bozzi et al., 2019, Joos et al., 2008, Palmer et al., 2011, Rosenbloom et al., 2017, Sigal et al., 2011). Moreover, integration sites were identical in infected cells, whereas integration during new infections occurs at different sites of the host genome (Cohn et al., 2015, Wagner et al., 2014).

Pharmacological interventions also argue that intermittent clonal-driven virus production is the main mechanism of residual viraemia. Analytical treatment interruption studies have demonstrated that viral rebounds are populated by genetically identical viruses (De Scheerder et al., 2019, van Zyl et al., 2018). On the other end of the spectrum, ART intensification by the addition of one or more potent drugs such as raltegravir, maraviroc, efavirenz or a boosted PI, did not have an effect on residual HIV-1 RNA levels implying that current treatment regimens achieve maximal efficiency in suppressing viral replication (Chaillon et al., 2018, Dinoso et al., 2009, Gandhi et al., 2010, Hatano et al., 2011, Hatano et al., 2013, McMahon et al., 2010, Puertas et al., 2014, Rasmussen et al., 2018). Interestingly, though, measurement of different outcomes in intensification studies shows a decrease in immune activation and transient increase in viral episomal DNA (Buzon et al., 2010, Yukl et al., 2010). Pharmacological features and immune functions, yet to be revealed, may be the reason for these seemingly conflicting findings. Although bursts of viral production appear to be the most prevalent view on presence of residual HIV-1 RNA in plasma, ongoing viral replication may also be relevant in some patients depending on host and virus characteristics (Darcis and Moutschen, 2017, Nightingale et al., 2016).

### 1.3.2 Low level viraemia and residual viraemia

Plasma viral load is undoubtedly the most accurate surrogate marker of ART efficacy as indicated by viral suppression (HIV-1 RNA <50 copies/mL). Although guidelines recommend a definition for viral rebound as viral load above 200 copies/mL on two occasions, new evidence suggests that this threshold may need revision (BHIVA, 2019). There is no consensus on the definition of residual viraemia, and subsequently low level viraemia (Doyle and Geretti, 2012). In this work we have adapted the cut-off at 10 copies/mL and we defined residual viraemia when HIV-1 RNA levels in the plasma are less than 10 copies/mL and low level viraemia when HIV-1 RNA levels are between 10 and 200 copies/mL.

It is common clinical practice to use a threshold of 50 copies/mL to define viral suppression However, viral load between 50 and 200 copies/mL is also acceptable in selected patients and the North American guidelines use 200 copies/mL as cut-off of therapy success (BHIVA, 2019, DHHS, 2018). These thresholds are based on the risk for viral rebound which is stratified by the level of viraemia. A quarter of patients who have achieved suppression with first-line ART will experience viral rebound with at least one viral load between 50 and 400 copies/mL in the first year after suppression. Almost a quarter of them will have persistent viraemia (median 162 copies/mL) with a two-fold increase in the risk of virological failure (>400 copies/mL) (Geretti et al., 2008). In another study patients on ART for at least one year were stratified according to their level of persistent viraemia in three categories including patients who did not achieve suppression. Authors demonstrated that the risk of virological failure (>1,000 copies/mL) was increased by five times with viraemia 500-999 copies/mL and doubled with viraemia 50-199 and 200-499 copies/mL compared to patients with suppressed viral loads (<50 copies/mL) when adjusting for date of HIV infection and use of tenofovir, emtricitabine, and efavirenz. Although almost half patients with viraemia 50-199 copies/mL did not achieve virological suppression before their viraemic episode, findings remained interesting (HR 1.52 from 2.61) when the analysis was restricted to only those with previous suppression (Laprise et al., 2013). HIV-1 RNA levels less than 50 copies/mL have also been shown to favour virological rebound in stably treated patients (Doyle et al., 2012, Gianotti et al., 2015, Hofstra et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2012). Doyle and colleagues were first to suggest a revisit of clinical thresholds as to treatment efficacy since they observed an increased risk for viral rebound >50 and >400 copies/mL in patients with viraemia between 10 and 40 copies/mL and between 40 and 50 copies/mL, respectively. Hence, a cut-off at 10 copies/mL is the most appropriate relevant threshold not associated with viral rebound (Doyle et al., 2012, Gianotti et al., 2015, Hofstra et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2012).

Residual viraemia less than 10 copies/mL is non-dynamic and does not predict further increases in viraemia. Viruses appear to have a clonal origin with no genetic evolution over time (Bailey et al., 2006, Hermankova et al., 2001, Kieffer et al., 2004, Nettles et al., 2005, Tobin et al., 2005, Shen and Siliciano, 2008a). Lack of genetic evolution also precludes emergence of drug resistance (Doyle and Geretti, 2012). Fully reconstructed viruses from the plasma of a patient under suppressive ART revealed that half of them were replication competent and the other half carried mutations corresponding to decreased viral fitness due to defects of the replication machinery (Sahu et al., 2010). However, replication-competent virions may not necessarily infect new cells due to their very low levels and ART pressure (Wang et al., 2018).

The impact of residual viraemia on the balance of immune activation and tolerance is not clear. Chronic antigenaemia drives immune exhaustion following recurrent cycles of immune proliferation and activation (Kuchroo et al., 2014). The immune system has acquired memory to HIV antigens and even small amounts of HIV particles during effective ART may activate immune mechanisms. Effective clearance of the antigen results in undetectable levels of HIV-1 RNA in plasma (Hatano, 2013, Younas et al., 2016). Immune activation is expected to be proportional to antigenaemia and current methods may not be able to measure it in cases of residual viraemia (Yukl et al., 2010). Instead the focus should be on HIV-1 specific immunity, as in elite controllers who are able to suppress viraemia at the absence of ART and maintain normal immune activation but increased HIV-1 specific immunity (Bello et al., 2009). Indeed, HIV-specific CD8 T cell responses in elite controllers demonstrate increased antiviral efficacy compared to progressors (Collins et al., 2020).

Determinants of residual viraemia are elusive with potential unknown host and virological factors influencing frequency and size of viral presence in plasma. Previously, latent reservoir size, ART duration, pre-ART viraemia and age have been associated with residual viraemia but literature may be contradictory for some parameters (Chun et al., 2011, Kiselinova et al., 2015, Palmer et al., 2008, Zheng et al., 2013). Large scale studies and new techniques are required to clarify the field of sustained residual viraemia despite ART.

Third-generation assays have a LLoQ between 20 and 40 copies/mL, but their LoD is even lower and down to ~3.5 and 10 copies/mL with the TaqMan v2.0 and RealTime, respectively (Abbott, 2018, Amendola et al., 2014, Doyle and Geretti, 2012). However, there is lack of

concordance the lower the detection limit is set (Amendola et al., 2014, Karasi et al., 2011). Due to remarkable assay variability at low levels of viraemia, study outcomes should be treated with caution and in the context of the method of measurement applied. For instance, findings based on the TaqMan v2.0 imply that viraemia between 20 and 50 copies/mL was not associated with virological failure (Charpentier et al., 2012). A recent study, though, re-tested samples (stored aliquot) with viral load between 50 and 200 copies/mL and found that 42% of them had a repeat viral load less than 50 copies/mL underscoring intra-assay variability (White et al., 2018). Assay characteristics and evidence from comparison studies should be considered to interpret these reports.

### 1.3.3 Source of residual viraemia

HIV can effectively infect activated cells, a small fraction of which escape the cytopathic effect of viral replication and revert to resting memory cells within a very short time window from the original transmission event (Siliciano et al., 2003, Swiggard et al., 2005, Zhou et al., 2005). This long-lived reservoir is established early after transmission and it is maintained despite pharmacological and immune pressure (Archin et al., 2012, Bukrinsky et al., 1991, Chun et al., 1998). However, only a small fraction of this reservoir (2-10%) contains full-length, intact proviruses which are replication competent (Bruner et al., 2019, Ho et al., 2013, Hiener et al., 2017). This small subset has the potential to cause viral rebound upon treatment discontinuation and remains the supreme obstacle for a cure. During suppressive ART, the majority of these proviruses is localised in T follicular helper cells (Tfh) at the germinal centres of lymph nodes (Banga et al., 2016, Estes et al., 2017).

Two mechanisms have been suggested to maintain the HIV-1 reservoir during ART: homeostatic CD4 T cell proliferation and residual viral replication (Chomont et al., 2009, Fletcher et al., 2014, Frenkel et al., 2003, Grossman et al., 1999, Kearney et al., 2014, Lorenzo-Redondo et al., 2016, McManus WR et al., 2018, Rosenbloom et al., 2017). We have already discussed that new infections are very rare in patients with residual viraemia.

HIV-1 DNA is mainly found in resting CD4 T cells in suppressed patients. Other cells such as monocytes, macrophages and haematopoietic stem cells contain HIV-1 DNA to a lesser extend (Mitchell et al., 2019). Cells harbouring HIV-1 DNA circulate throughout the body and may reside at lymph nodes, gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), cerebrospinal fluid, adipose tissue and the urethra (Chun et al., 2008, Couturier et al., 2015, Ganor et al., 2019,

Nightingale et al., 2016, Perreau et al., 2013b). Residual viraemia is sourced from some of these cells and tissues which may vary between patients and over time within an individual (Jacobs et al., 2019). Intensive sampling and single genome sequencing suggested that residual viraemia originates from memory CD4 T cells which reside in lymphoid-rich tissues or traffic in circulation (Bailey et al., 2006). It has been demonstrated that effector and transitional memory CD4 T cells (CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-/CD27- and CD27+, respectively) accommodate proviral sequences which are closely related with viral sequences in residual viraemia (Puertas et al., 2016). However, there are also predominant identical sequences that are underrepresented in resting CD4 T cells. These probably derive from clonal species of virus which do not undergo any changes in their sequence for up to 3 years. The type of cell harbouring these viruses should have proliferative capacity regardless of activation status, such as a progenitor of the monocyte-macrophage lineage (Shen and Siliciano, 2008b).

# 1.4 Programmed death 1 in the pathogenesis of HIV infection

### 1.4.1 Immune response and HIV escape

HIV remains "invisible" in the 10 days after transmission, as demonstrated by the absence of viraemia and HIV-specific immune responses (eclipse phase) (Fiebig et al., 2003, McMichael et al., 2010). According to findings from the simian model, in the first week post transmission the first cells to become infected are mucosal resting memory CD4 T cells along with submucosal dendritic cells. The latter transfer HIV to local lymph nodes where activated T cells and follicular dendritic cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) offering an ideal environment for host cell infection and spread of virus particles in great numbers (Perreau et al., 2013a). Vigorous replication results in apoptosis of infected and bystander cells with release of immunosuppressive microparticles such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) (Gasper-Smith et al., 2008). Although acute phase cytokines peak towards the end of the eclipse phase and before viraemia, the first HIV-specific CD8 T cell response is recorded to coincide with the peak of viral RNA in the plasma about 3 weeks post infection (Borrow et al., 1994, Stacey et al., 2009). The exact timing of the onset of HIV-specific CD4 T cell responses is unclear and probably precede CD8 activation, but their function is impaired with the predominance of inhibitory pathways triggered by HIV (D'Souza et al., 2007, Gloster et al., 2004, Perreau et al., 2013b).

Plasma viraemia at the end of the eclipse phase assists HIV spread to distant lymphoid-rich tissues such as the GALT, where the rate of CD4 T cell depletion is four times higher than the rate of CD4 infection (Brenchley et al., 2004). Around 3 weeks post infection plasma viraemia peaks, viral reservoirs have been established and HIV-specific CD8 responses are triggered (Figure 1.2). It is only later that humoral immunity with broadly neutralising antibodies (bNAbs) develops (Huber and Trkola, 2007). However, under the selective pressure of antibodies, HIV rapidly evolves by mutating the env gene to escape neutralisation. Moreover, gp120 and gp41 demonstrate conformational changes and their regions are heavily glycosylated protecting them from interactions with circulating antibodies. Yet, over the course of infection, potent bNAbs with cross-reactivity are developed in "elite neutralizers". These have unusual specifics such as somatic hypermutation and very short

or long antigen-binding loops making their adaptation for a vaccine challenging (Landais and Moore, 2018, Richman et al., 2003, Wei et al., 2003).

Cytotoxic CD8 T cell driven immunity appears to be the most important function to control HIV dissemination. The initial CD8 response against key targets such as the env and nef HIV proteins is effective with reduction in viraemia. However, virus escape mutants occur rapidly under immune pressure, with sequentially mutated epitopes triggering recurrent cycles of CD8 activation (Arcia et al., 2016, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Keele et al., 2008b). Continued epitope recognition and lack of CD4 T cell help, due to their depletion and functional impairment, cause exhaustion of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) allowing virus persistence (Blattman et al., 2009, Petrovas et al., 2006, Wherry, 2011, Zhang et al., 2007).

Immune escape is achieved via multiple pathways which affect the interactions between MHC-I/HIV-1 epitope/T cell receptor (TCR) complex. First the antigenic epitope on gp120 has a variable region with significant diversity among strains. Transformation of RNA to DNA produces antigenic diversity due to the innate tendency of RT to create single-nucleotide mutations and strand recombination. Furthermore, HIV proteins, such as nef and vpu, and presence of non-immunogenic glycans on epitopes have a direct effect on host recognition through down-regulation of MHC-I expression (Oldstone, 1997, Wei et al., 2003). Escape variants are not always effective to produce cell infection. Defects that impair replication and cell invasion have a significant impact on their fitness to survive (Kent et al., 2005).

Latent infection is also an escape mechanism from both immunological and pharmacological clearance. Latency is characterised by a resting state of the infected cell and increased expression of immune checkpoints, such as the programmed death 1 (PD1) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) (Chomont et al., 2009). Indeed, virus production requires HIV-1 DNA transcription which largely depends on an increase of host transcription factors in the nucleus following T cell activation. These pathways are suppressed by immune checkpoints (Deeks et al., 2016).

## 1.4.2 Structure, genome, ligands and role of PD1

In 1992, the RNA of a novel inducer of programmed cell death was isolated from apoptotic murine cell lines and was named PD1 (or CD279) (Ishida et al., 1992). Further studies revealed that PD1 and its ligands play a pivotal immunoregulatory role by inducing T cell anergy (Jin et al., 2011).

PD1 is a 55-kDa monomer cell surface protein of the CD28 superfamily expressed in CD4 and CD8 T cells, B cells, natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes and dendritic cells. It has an extracellular Ig-like variable domain, a transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic tail containing an immunoreceptor tyrosin-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) and an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM) (Figure 1.3). PDCD1 on chromosome 2 is the gene that encodes PD1 and consists of 5 exons. Alternative splicing results in 4 variants with similar properties as the full length isoform except from the PD1 $\Delta$ ex3 transcript that lacks the transmembrane region and thus is in soluble form (Ishida et al., 1992, Jin et al., 2011, Nielsen et al., 2005).

PD1 ligands are PD-L1 (B7-H1 or CD274) and PD-L2 (B7-DC or CD273). PD-L1 is constitutively expressed on a variety of non-lymphoid tissues including parenchymal organs, such as the heart, lung and placenta. T and B cells also express negligible amounts of PD-L1 which are significantly increased upon activation (Dong et al., 1999). On the other hand, PD-L2 expression is confined to professional antigen-presenting cells (APC), such as macrophages, dendritic cells, bone-marrow derived mast cells and resting peritoneal B1 cells, and it is interferon-γ dependant. The binding affinity of PD-L2 to PD1 is two to six folds higher than that of PD-L1, and it appears to have an additional receptor with a costimulatory role for T cell activation (Shin et al., 2003, Tseng et al., 2001, Youngnak et al., 2003). PD-L1 and PD-L2 induced effects appear to be distinct (Dyck and Mills, 2017a). A murine model of malaria demonstrated a protective role of PD-L2 in preventing PD-L1 induced exhaustion and establishing effective CD4 T cell immunity with better pathogen clearance (Karunarathne et al., 2016). Also, mice lacking PD-L2, but not PD-L1, developed an excessive immune response to cutaneous leishmaniasis with marked production of pathogen-specific antibodies, while PD-L1(-/-) mice were resistant to disease (Liang et al., 2006).

Immune activation begins with a primary signal generated from an antigen (Ag) binding to a TCR. The primary response will be either enhanced or suppressed depending on accessory signals derived from co-receptors such as the B7-recognising immunoreceptors (CD28, CTLA-4, ICOS, PD1 and BTLA). The balance between a positive (CD28 and ICOS) and a negative (CTLA-4, PD1 and BTLA) stimulation ensures a controlled immune response and determines the fate of the cell (Bretscher, 1999, Freeman et al., 2000, Ishida et al., 1992, Nielsen et al., 2005, Okazaki et al., 2013). Clonal expansion is enhanced or diminished depending on the original signal and immune checkpoints, maintaining a balance between activation and tolerance (Fife and Bluestone, 2008, Wang et al., 2018). PD1 and CTLA-4 are the most well described immune checkpoints and are targeted with inhibitors in cancer therapy with the aim to boost cytotoxic effector T cell responses (Dyck and Mills, 2017b). PD1 expression plays a central role in an inhibitory regulatory pathway on both recently activated and memory T cells (Figure 1.4). A similar effect but less prominent is observed on naïve T cells during a primary immune response (Agata et al., 1996, Cai et al., 2004). The PD1 pathway regulates a broad spectrum of immune functions including immunological tolerance, regulation of T cell, B cell and NK cell proliferation and effector functions. TCR or B cell receptor (BCR) mediated cell activation induces PD1 expression. During chronic infection there is increased expression of PD1 on virus-specific T cells. Its ligands are also expressed at high levels by various tumour cells implying that cancer and viruses exploit PD1 pathway properties to their survival benefit (Jin et al., 2011).

### 1.4.3 Molecular mechanism

TCR-mediated calcium influx activates the nuclear factor of activated T cells calcineurindependent 1 (NFATc1) which initiates expression of PD1 (Oestreich et al., 2008). In addition,  $\gamma$ -chain associated cytokines (e.g. IL-2) and type I interferons (e.g. IFN- $\alpha$ ) synergistically upregulate PD1 transcription. It has been reported that cytokine-stimulated expression of PD1 may be antigen-independent during chronic infection (Cho et al., 2008, Kinter et al., 2008, Terawaki et al., 2011). Once PD1 integrates in the cell membrane it sustains its position making it an easy target for quantification with flow cytometry.

PD1 interaction with its ligands results in phosphorylation of its intracellular tyrosines and their association with Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 1 and 2 (SHP-1, SHP-2). SHP-1 and -2 inactivate key signalling molecules of the antigen recognition cascade. Dephosphorylation of phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) inhibits Akt phosphorylation (Parry et al., 2005, Sheppard et al., 2004) and the secretion of cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-2, Bcl-xL) implicated in effector cell functions, cell expansion, differentiation and survival. While inhibition of Erk by binding SHP-2 results in decreased proliferation (Butte et al., 2007, Keir et al., 2008).

## 1.4.4 Function

The PD1 pathway inhibits the effector functions of lymphocytes and preserves survival of target cells such as infected or cancerous cells. This signifies two sides of the same coin:

immunotolerance and immunopathology. PD1 plays a crucial role in prevention of immune over-activation securing balanced immune responses and peripheral tolerance. It has been demonstrated that PDCD1 knockout mice develop autoimmunity and PDCD1 polymorphisms in human are associated with autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), type 1 diabetes, Grave's disease and multiple sclerosis (MS) (Okazaki and Honjo, 2007). Cancerous and infected cells exploit the physiological inhibition to escape immunity and establish malignancies and chronic infections, respectively. Antigen-specific T cells during chronic viral infections suffer an impaired function and PD1 is implicated to play a pivotal role in the establishment of this state of anergy (Barber et al., 2006, Boni et al., 2007, Day et al., 2006, D'Souza et al., 2007, Okazaki et al., 2013, Radziewicz et al., 2007). Virus-specific CD8 T cells become gradually exhausted originally by loss of their cytotoxicity and IL-2 production which is followed by loss of TNF production and their proliferative potential (Freeman et al., 2006). Models of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection have indicated that knock down of PD1 expression may result in a rapid clearance of the pathogen preventing chronic infection, but the effect of excessive T cell activation on healthy tissue is deleterious (Barber et al., 2006).

High and persistent expression of PD1 has been observed in virus-specific immune cells during chronic infection as a result of demethylation in the promoter region of the PDCD1 gene (Youngblood et al., 2011). Hence, a state of phenotypic and functional senescence persists. Although cells are seemingly too "exhausted" to proliferate or produce cytokines, their transfer to an infection-naïve murine recipient experiencing acute infection triggers cell expansion and control of infection (Utzschneider et al., 2013). These data imply that at least a fraction of the exhausted virus-specific CD8 T cells is not terminally differentiated and retains unaffected memory properties of proliferation and cytokine production upon antigen presentation. Virus-infected cells seem to express PD1 to prevent an overwhelming chronic immune response (Utzschneider et al., 2013).

Similarly, some tumours ensure their survival by expressing high levels of PD-L1 which interacts with PD1 on cytotoxic T cells inhibiting their effector function. PD-L1 is also upregulated in various chronic viral infections. For instance, increased PD-L1 expression is demonstrated on bronchial and alveolar epithelial cells after their infection with respiratory syncytial virus, human hepatocytes infected with adenovirus, hepatocytes and circulating monocytes of patients with hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, dendritic cells infected with rhinoviruses and macrophages infected with the herpes simplex virus (HSV) type 1. In agreement PD1 expression was increased at the acute phase of hepatitis C virus (HCV)

infection and either decreased in patients with virus clearance or persisted in those with chronic infection (Trautmann et al., 2007). Murine models also imply that the same strategy of immune escape, by increased expression of PD-L1, is adapted by HIV-infected cells (Akhmetzyanova et al., 2015).

### 1.4.5 PD1/PD1 ligand blockade

Interferon  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  increase PD-L1 expression during early innate immune responses to infection (Freeman et al., 2006). Early data showed that transient blockade of PD1/ligand interaction restored the normal functions of LCMV-specific CD8 T cells (Barber et al., 2006). Similarly, monoclonal antibodies targeting the PD1/PD-L1 pathway are employed successfully in cancer therapy because they have shown to enhance cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses resulting in tumour regression (Hirano et al., 2005, Ohigashi et al., 2005). Although PD-L1 blockade overall improves cytotoxic functions, most experiments were conducted on T cell lines and replication of findings in primary T cells is required (Trautmann et al., 2007).

Checkpoint inhibitors have shown to suppress viral load in chronic infections with HBV, HCV and HIV by reversing exhaustion in virus specific T cells (Cox et al., 2017). Nivolumab, an anti-PD1 monoclonal antibody, was shown to reduce significantly viraemia in a chimpanzee model and a small subset of patients with HCV (Fuller et al., 2013, Gardiner et al., 2013). Responses were enhanced when two different inhibitory pathways were blocked. Liverderived CD8 T cells from chronically infected HCV patients had their functionality effectively restored once both the PD1 and CTLA-4 pathways were pharmacologically inhibited (Nakamoto et al., 2009). Studies in humanised mouse models and macaques have reported lymphocyte reconstitution with regard to both T and B cell functions and decrease in viral load with PD1 blockade (Finnefrock et al., 2009, Seung et al., 2013, Velu et al., 2009).

Immune checkpoint inhibitors have been used in HIV positive patients with advanced malignancies and a recent systematic review has demonstrated their safety and efficacy (Cook and Kim, 2019). However, reports on virological and immunological parameters of the HIV reservoir were inconsistent. Nivolumab in lung cancer patients has been shown to cause a decrease in HIV-1 DNA and an increase in viral-specific CD8 T cell activity (Guihot et al., 2018, Le Garff et al., 2017), whereas there was no effect in other studies (Gay et al., 2017, Lavolé et al., 2018, Scully et al., 2018). Administration of a single dose of nivolumab to an HIV-infected patient with metastatic melanoma on ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) increased cell-associated HIV RNA in CD4 T cells, but there were no changes to total HIV-1 DNA or viraemia (Evans et al., 2018). Of note, the sample sizes of these studies were small and their methodologies differed. Currently there a few ongoing clinical trials that will shed more light on the efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors in HIV infection (Chen et al., 2020). Combination therapy may also improve outcomes (Van der Sluis et al., 2020, Wykes and Lewin, 2018).

### 1.4.6 PD1 and HIV

A hallmark of HIV infection is chronic immune activation which is coupled with increases in checkpoint molecules. Antigen presence and persistence consist the main drives for the upregulation of several checkpoint receptors in T cell populations. PD1 expression is increased during HIV-1 infection on specific CD4 and CD8 T cells, Tfh cells, follicular CD8 T cells and HIV-1 infected CD4 T cells (Chen et al., 2020).

Chronic persistent infection results in the unresponsiveness of cytotoxic CD8 T cells to infected cells. Exhausted CD8 T cells first lose their ability to produce IL-2 and be cytotoxic and then TNF $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  production. Studies based on the LCMV model of infection demonstrated that epitope-specific CD8 T cells seem to have a phenotype of chronic activation with indefinitely impaired antigen-effector functions. This status of anergy was found predominately in CD4 (-/-) knockout mice implicating the critical role of CD4 T-helper cells in the function of cytotoxic CD8 T cells during infection clearance. Moreover, they were incapable of producing long lived memory subsets which persist at the absence of antigen (Wherry and Ahmed, 2004, Zajac et al., 1998). This functional impairment is also demonstrated in HIV infection (Sperk et al., 2018).

The PD1 pathway suppresses cytokine driven T cell proliferation and induces apoptosis during later stages of activation (effector phase) by inhibiting TCR-induced signals (Fife and Bluestone, 2008, Keir et al., 2008). Lack of CD4 helper cells and prolonged immune activation (both present in HIV infection) result in increased PD1 expression (Buchbinder and Desai, 2016). PD1 expression prior to ART commencement correlated with viral DNA levels and it was a predictor of time to rebound after treatment suspension (Hurst et al., 2015). Therefore, inhibitory pathways such as the PD1 have been proposed as responsible for suboptimal immune reconstitution in chronic HIV infection.

Day *et al.* and Trautmann *et al.* showed that PD1 expression on HIV-specific CD8 T cells was higher than on CMV-specific CD8 T cells and the degree of expression varied among HIV epitope-specific CD8 T cells from a single individual. Moreover, antigenaemia positively correlated with PD1 expression on HIV-specific or total CD8 T cells and total CD4 T cells. Further characterisation of HIV-specific CD8 T cells revealed that they were pre-terminally differentiated, with additional high expression of CD27 and low expression of CD28, CCR7 and CD45RA. Their cytotoxic (TNF $\alpha$  and IL-2 production) and proliferative functions were impaired, but restored with blockade of the PD1/PD-L1 axis (Day et al., 2006, Trautmann et al., 2006). Petrovas *et al.* took one step further and demonstrated that decreased cytokine production was an indirect effect of high PD1 expression on CD8 T cells which resulted from a defect in their proliferative capacity. Increased levels of PD1 expression can induce cell apoptosis independently of other factors (Petrovas et al., 2006). During chronic untreated infection PD1 expression on HIV-specific CD4 cells is up-regulated in strong correlation with viral load and it is twice higher than on HIV-specific CD8 cells. The same study also observed that viral suppression with ART causes a more prominent decrease of PD1 expression on HIV-specific CD4 T cells, but still the expression remains higher than on HIV-specific CD8 T cells. Simultaneous measurements in lymph node derived T cells demonstrated similar findings except from that PD1 expression is much higher compared to blood circulating T cells. This is related with increased expression of PD-L1 on APC reflecting the high levels of viral replication and antigen presence. PD-L1 blockade increased HIV-specific CD4 T cell proliferation, but not cytokine production. Interestingly, IFN-γ-producing cells demonstrated higher levels of PD1 expression compared to IL-2 producing cells (D'Souza et al., 2007).

Eradication strategies focus on the clearance of quiescent virus harboured in resting cells. Blockade of checkpoint pathways appears to reverse latency, as indicated by enhancement of immune responses against HIV and changes in markers of reservoirs, raising promises for a functional cure (Fromentin et al., 2019, Sperk et al., 2018). Based on the principles of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy for cancer treatment, viral reservoirs can be potentially reduced with ex vivo expansion and re-introduction of HIV-specific CD8 T cells which are negative for PD1 and other markers of impaired effector function (Chapuis et al., 2011, Miliotou and Papadopoulou, 2018, Porter et al., 2011, Terme et al., 2008). Similarly, but in vivo, a strategy called "shock and kill" involves stimulating activation of resting reservoirs in order to induce an immune response sufficient to clear them (Shan et al., 2012). This approach may be assisted by the blockage of inhibitory pathways such as PD1 (Amancha et al., 2013, Finnefrock et al., 2009, Freeman et al., 2006). Achieving a HIV cure is likely to require a combination of more than one strategy.

*Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of PD1 interaction with its ligand (Sharpe and Freeman, 2002).* 



The cytoplasmic tail of PD-1 contains two tyrosines: the immunoreceptor tyrosin-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) and the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM). Ligation of T cell receptor (TCR) and PD-1 can lead to tyrosine phosphorylation (P) and activation of Src homology 2-containing phosphotyrosine phosphatase (SHP-2), resulting in dephosphorylation of signalling molecules and reduced cytokine mRNA synthesis

Figure 1.4: The PD1 pathway illustrated (Buchbinder and Desai, 2016).



# 1.5 Aims and objectives

## 1.5.1 Aim

This work aims to investigate factors associated with residual viraemia defined as HIV-1 RNA in plasma less than 10 copies/mL during ART.

# 1.5.2 Objectives

1.5.2.1 Predictors of the presence of HIV-1 RNA in plasma between 10 and 200 copies/mL (low level viraemia) despite effective ART will be identified through a systematic review of current literature.

1.5.2.2 We will measure virological (total HIV-1 DNA in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC)) and immunological (PD1 expression on circulating memory CD4 and CD8 T cells) parameters and determine their association with residual viraemia, defined as HIV-1 RNA in plasma less than 10 copies/mL in successfully treated patients.

1.5.2.3 HIV-1 RNA in plasma, total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and drug levels will be measured during two consecutive clinical visits to describe their reproducibility and their relation.

# CHAPTER 2

A systematic review of factors associated with low level viraemia in HIV-positive patients on effective antiretroviral therapy

# 2.1 Introduction

Low level viraemia (LLV) is the presence of HIV-1 RNA in plasma despite effective ART which is detected by commercial assays and may reach a few hundred copies (Geretti et al., 2008). After a sharp decline in viral load (VL) following ART commencement and in the absence of treatment interruptions, VL remains suppressed (<50 copies/mL) in most patients. Inability to achieve VL suppression or virological rebound after an initial response may indicate treatment failure and a possible requirement for ART modification. VL thresholds defining virological failure vary from 50 to 1,000 copies/mL with most recommendations adapting a cut-off at 200 copies/mL (Table 2.1). Although guidelines suggest switch of treatment for confirmed viraemia above 200 copies/mL, some authors recommend considering regimen changes in cases of persistent VL results between 50 and 200 copies (Thompson et al., 2012). It remains unclear whether LLV ranging from a "target detected" result to 200 copies/mL is associated with an increased risk of resistance mutations (Gallien et al., 2011, Jordan et al., 2013, Malet et al., 2012, Swenson et al., 2014b, Taiwo et al., 2011) and immune activation (Schuler et al., 2013, Stephan et al., 2013, Zheng et al., 2014). Discordances in study design and definitions are main reasons for the conflicting findings.

Intermittent episodes of LLV which are preceded and followed by an undetectable VL measurement are referred to as viral blips (Di Mascio et al., 2003, Grennan et al., 2012, Greub et al., 2002, Mira et al., 2002, Nettles and Kieffer, 2006, Sklar et al., 2002). In a cohort from the Netherlands, episodic LLV between 50 and 1,000 copies/mL did not instigate therapy changes or clinical deterioration, whereas viraemia above 1,000 copies/mL was linked with drug resistance (van Sighem et al., 2008). At least one fifth of fully suppressed patients experience viral blips (Greub et al., 2002, van Sighem et al., 2008). Blips of low magnitude, such as less than 500 copies/mL as suggested by Grennan et al. (2012), do not predispose to virological failure or rebound. They may represent normal biological variation in patients with viraemia below or around the assay LLoQ, statistical variation due to assay variability at lower HIV-1 RNA levels, or methodological artefacts. On the contrary, viral blips of higher magnitude have been associated with virological failure (Easterbrook et al., 2002, Grennan et al., 2012, Moore et al., 2002, Nettles and Kieffer, 2006, Nettles et al., 2005). Persistent LLV, confirmed with at least two consecutive measurements, has been related with an increased risk for virological failure when above 200 copies/mL (Bernal et al., 2018, Boillat-Blanco et al., 2015). However, some studies reported an association between virological failure and any level or frequency of confirmed LLV identified with commercial assays (Laprise et al., 2013, Leierer et al., 2016, Pernas et al., 2016).

The range of LLV varies in literature depending on the assay used and the country of study (Appendix, Table A.1). Current commercial assays are based on the technologies of real-time RT-PCR and TMA achieving a LLoQ between 20 and 40 copies/mL. Introduction over time of more sensitive real-time assays increased the number of patients experiencing LLV on suppressive treatment who had previously undetectable VL (Do et al., 2011). Nevertheless, ultra-sensitive experimental methods have revealed that the effect of ART is suppressive and not eliminatory with residual HIV-1 RNA around 3 copies/mL persisting in patients with undetectable VL (Shen and Siliciano, 2008b, Bailey et al., 2006).

More than three quarters of stably suppressed patients with viral load below 50 copies/mL experience residual viraemia when tested with an ultrasensitive single copy assay (Palmer et al., 2008). Although the mechanism of this residual viraemia is unclear, it has been suggested that virus is primarily produced upon activation of chronically infected cells and, to a lesser or even negligible extent, during cycles of viral replication (Anderson et al., 2011, Palmer et al., 2011, Shen and Siliciano, 2008b). As to the significance of residual viraemia, it has been demonstrated that the risk for viral rebound is gradually increasing with levels of HIV-1 RNA above approximately 10 copies/ml (Doyle and Geretti, 2012, Doyle et al., 2012,

Gianotti et al., 2015, Hofstra et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2012). Current commercial VL assays have a LoD of around 10 copies/mL, reporting a qualitative "target detected" signal between the LLoQ and the LoD. In several studies, patients with "target detected" results by such commercial assays, were found to be at increased risk of virological rebound compared to those with "target not detected" (Doyle and Geretti, 2012, Doyle et al., 2012, Gianotti et al., 2015, Henrich et al., 2012, Hofstra et al., 2014, Pugliese et al., 2013). In contrast, HIV-1 RNA levels below this threshold appear to be stable and non-evolving (Shen and Siliciano, 2008b, Shen and Siliciano, 2008a).

LLV is a grey area causing confusion and nervousness as to clinical management. Our knowledge of probable predictors of LLV is even more limited since most studies adapt a cross-sectional observational design rather than an investigation of pre-defined causal relationships. Pre-ART conditions, ART-related factors and microbial translocation, as well as assay technical characteristics are proposed to contribute to LLV. We conducted a systematic review in order to summarise our current knowledge of clinical, virological and immunological factors associated with viral rebound post original suppression. Considering the LoD of commercial assays and the threshold of virological failure recommended by most guidelines, we defined LLV in treated patients as VL between 10 and 200 copies/mL.

Guidance	Definition of virological failure	Reference
WHO	>1,000 copies/mL on two consecutive	(WHO, 2017)
	measurements (3-6 months apart)	
DHHS	>200 copies/mL <sup>1</sup>	(DHHS, 2018)
EACS	• >200 copies/mL 6 months post first-line ART <sup>1</sup>	(EACS, 2018)
	<ul> <li>&gt;50 copies/mL on two consecutive</li> </ul>	
	measurements (1-2 months apart) in previously	
	suppressed patients	
BHIVA	>200 copies/mL on two consecutive measurements	(BHIVA, 2019)
BC-CfE	>250 copies/mL on two consecutive measurements	(British Columbia
		Centre for Excellence
		in HIV/AIDS, 2015)

*Table 2.1: Definitions of virological failure according to current guidelines.* 

1: Although the definition of virological failure does not specify the number of measurements required, it is recommended that treatment switch is considered with confirmed virological failure implying that a second measurement is needed.

WHO: World Health Organisation; DHHS: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; EACS: European AIDS Clinical Society; BHIVA: British HIV Association; BC-CfE: British Columbia Centre for Excellence.

# 2.2 Methods

### 2.2.1 Search strategy and review methodology

Three main databases, Medline (interrogated with Ovid and PubMed), Cochrane Library and Scopus were searched from 1st January 2008 to 16th August 2018 for studies identifying factors associated with LLV. We included work that adapted a definition for LLV as VL rebound between "target detected" and 200 copies/mL or 20 and 200 copies/mL for studies using a qualitative or quantitative lower cut-off, respectively. We also screened studies with broader definitions for subgroup analysis and we considered including those which reported that 95% of subjects with LLV had a VL within our pre-defined range. We used the median (or mean) and confidence interval (or standard deviation) of VL where the percentage was not mentioned. We chose 2008 as a starting point to capture mainly studies utilizing third generation assays which report VL values below 50 copies/mL. Our search strategy was developed using Medline and adapted for the other databases (Table 2.2). It was based on five main terms and their alternative keywords: HIV, viral load, ART, low level viraemia and predictors.

Virological blips were excluded as long as they were confirmed with the acquisition of three consecutive measurements, whereas studies using single measurement of VL and not providing confirmation of LLV were included (Table 2.3). Abstracts from meetings would be included if they contained sufficient information and their findings were not published in another work. Scripts in English were checked for eligibility. The references listed in the articles from the final selection were also queried for relevant records.

### 2.2.2 Data extraction and quality assessment

Citations were exported to EndNote X7 manager and the results from the three databases were merged. An EndNote command identifying duplicates (or triplicates) was followed by manual recognition and extraction of the same articles appearing in more than one database. Then titles and abstracts were carefully reviewed for relevance and eligibility (Table 2.3). In most cases the information on LLV was inadequate and a search of the main text was performed focusing on the 200 copies/mL cut-off (first stage of selection). A

detailed read of the remaining articles followed (second stage of selection). Only studies showing positive associations between a factor and LLV were included.

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) checklist was followed except from the points referring to meta-analysis conduct as this is a qualitative review. Being part of a thesis, abstract is not provided, but we will consider adding one in case of publishing in a peer reviewed journal. This work is registered with the PROSPERO international database (registration No: CRD42019132516).

### 2.2.3 Data analysis and synthesis

Studies were summarised according to study design. We extracted all factors demonstrating positive association with LLV from each publication. A template was created in excel to contain key characteristics of the selected studies including time period, country, primary outcome, sample size, definition of LLV, VL assay, ART regimen and suggested predictors. A second template was populated with information on each potential predictor including patient groups, descriptive statistics and test or model. Common categories and subcategories were identified to include relevant factors. For each factor we presented the number of studies reporting a significant association with LLV and details on the analysis performed by authors. The templates were also used to determine study heterogeneity and if a quantitative synthesis could be performed.

A detailed description of findings within the context of the selected studies was generated. We presented factors associated with LLV in author-reported multivariate models with odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI), as well as the co-variates that the models were adjusted for. Medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) or means and standard deviations (SD) were used for continuous parameters which were identified with less robust statistical methods than multivariate analysis. Categorical variables were presented with percentages. The statistical information for each factor was extracted from the publications based on the most robust method used. For instance, if a parameter was significant in the multivariate analysis, we did not include the univariate analysis. We generated tables reporting study characteristics including definition of LLV, assay for VL measurement, factors associated with LLV and statistical methods. Factors identified by author-reported multivariate models were summarised in a forest plot-like figure. Table 2.2: Search strategy.

Search	Query
#1: MeSH	(HIV/ OR HIV-1/) AND (RNA, viral/ OR Viral Load/ OR Viremia/) AND (Anti-
	retroviral Agents OR Anti-HIV Agents OR Antiretroviral Therapy, Highly
	Active OR HIV Integrase Inhibitors OR HIV Protease Inhibitors OR Reverse
	Transcriptase inhibitors) AND (Risk Factors/)
#2: ab.ti	(HIV) AND (anti?retroviral therapy OR ART OR cART OR HAART) AND (low
	level vir?emia) AND (predictors OR determinants OR factors)
#3: mp	(HIV) AND (low level vir?emia) AND (anti?retroviral therapy)
#4	#1 OR #2 OR #3
#5	Limit #4 to (humans AND yr= "2008-Current")

MeSH: Medline subject headings; ab.ti: abstract.title; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; cART: combined anti-retroviral therapy; HAART: highly active anti-retroviral therapy; mp: keyword; yr: year

# Table 2.3: Eligibility criteria.

Inclusion criteria		Exclusion criteria	
1.	HIV-1 infected adult patients (≥18	1.	Not specifying VL assay, LLV range
	years of age)		or ART duration
2.	Treated with ART for at least 6	2.	Not achieving suppression within 6
	months and achieving original		months of ART commencement
	suppression	3.	Utilisation of experimental in-
3.	VL measured with commercial		house or modified assays
	assays	4.	LLV >200 copies/mL
4.	LLV clearly defined as VL between	5.	Isolated viral blips (VL sequence:
	20 and 200 copies/mL or "target		ND -> 20-200 copies/mL -> ND)
	detected" and 200 copies/mL or at	6.	Reviews and poster abstracts if
	least 95% of the LLV group having		original studies published in peer-
	VL within these ranges		reviewed journal already included
5.	Original publications dated from		
	01/01/2008 to 16/08/2018		

ART: anti-retroviral therapy; VL: viral load; LLV: low level viraemia; ND: not detected

# 2.3 Results

### 2.3.1 Study characteristics and heterogeneity

Term search returned 639 publications including 165 duplicates which were removed (Figure 2.1). An original screening of 474 unique articles was conducted to review their relevance to the objective of this work and their eligibility as to the predefined inclusion/exclusion criteria. The original language of nine papers was not English but their titles and abstracts being in English contained adequate information to satisfy our exclusion criteria, such as defining LLV above 200 copies/mL and being reviews. A detailed examination of all sections (stage two) identified that more than half of records (28/43) were ineligible. The majority of excluded studies at the second review stage failed to fulfil our definition of LLV with less than 95% of patients ranging within 20 and 200 copies/mL (n = 7) or lack of clarity in reporting the portion of patients with VL within our range (n = 3). The second most frequent reason for exclusion was the utilisation of a modified protocol of a commercial assay aiming to increase sensitivity (n = 6). Other less frequent reasons were the allowance of isolated blips (n = 3), poor virological response to ART at 6- or 12-months post therapy commencement (n = 3) and a review. Query of references contributed 3 papers. In total 15 relevant publications are presented in this systematic review which are grouped as studies identifying patient parameters associated with LLV (n=8) (Table 2.4) and work comparing commercial assays (n=7) (Table 2.5).

Several factors have been associated with LLV in published multivariate and univariate models. These can be categorised as pre-ART, ART-related, virological, immunological and methodological due to assay variability. There were differences among authors in the way that a factor was treated (e.g. ordinal vs. continuous variable) and these were outlined under each category. Factors were presented along with the statistical method which was used by authors and differences in study design if they were identified in more than one work.

Definition of LLV, as to the VL range and confirmation on repeated measurements, varied significantly. Only two studies used our definition of LLV (20-200 copies/mL) with a single measurement of VL, while three adapted a VL range between 20 and 50 copies/mL as determined at one or multiple occasions. Three studies adapted a definition of LLV of detected HIV-1 RNA but less than the LLoQ of the assay used. Most authors (5 out of 8 articles) compared the group with LLV to a group of patients with reported VL as "target not

detected" (Table 2.4). All parameters that were associated with LLV in published multivariate models are presented in Figure 2.2. Articles comparing the performance of commercial platforms identified variability around a cut-off (Table 2.6). This threshold varied between the LLoQ of assays and 50 copies/mL (Table 2.5). The definition of some variables was also different among authors. Hence, heterogeneity did not allow pooling of data and performance of meta-analysis. Instead a realist synthesis has been adapted (Bearman and Dawson, 2013).

### 2.3.2 Patient parameters associated with low level viraemia

### 2.3.2.1 Pre-ART factors

Three studies reported that a higher VL prior to ART initiation was a predictor of LLV post therapy commencement. Pre-ART VL was treated as both ordinal and continuous variable. As ordinal there were two thresholds applied at 100,000 (or 5 log<sub>10</sub>) copies/mL (Martin-Blondel et al., 2012) and at 10,000 (or 4 log<sub>10</sub>) copies/mL (Leierer et al., 2015). Pre-ART VL higher than 100,000 copies/mL was strongly associated with LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL in the published (Leierer et al., 2015) multivariate analysis (Table 2.7). VL between 9,999 and 100,000 copies/mL also exhibited a significant, but weaker, association with LLV (Table 2.7). As a continuous variable, the median VL (IQR) for the group with LLV and the group with undetected VL was 5.13 (4.87-5.70) and 4.97 (4.65-5.29) log<sub>10</sub> copies/mL, respectively (Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010).

Patients with LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL (single measurement of VL) had a diagnosis of HIV for a median of 18 years (median, IQR: 14-20) compared to 10 years (IQR: 6-16) in patients with undetected VL (Table 2.7). Charpentier and colleagues reported that 53% of patients with confirmed LLV between 20 and 50 copies/mL had a diagnosis of CDC stage B/C at the time of first-line ART initiation compared to 30% in patients with undetectable VL. The difference was significant in a univariate, but not in the multivariate analysis. The same study also reported that the LLV group had an older age (median: 47, IQR: 43-53) compared to undetectable controls (median 44 years; IQR: 38-50) (Table 2.7).

### 2.3.2.2 ART-related factors

Two groups demonstrated that PI-based ART combinations were independently associated with LLV between 20 and 50 (confirmed LLV) or 20 and 200 copies/mL (Table 2.7). Falasca *et al.* reported a positive association between confirmed LLV up to 200 copies/mL and use of InSTI (Table 2.7). The authors added that half their patients receiving an InSTI were also on a PI. NRTI-sparing combinations were associated with LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL in a study by Reus and colleagues (Table 2.7).

Shorter ART duration was associated with LLV in two published multivariate logistic regressions adjusting for different co-founding factors as shown in Table 2.7. One study treated ART duration as an ordinal variable (<9 and >18 months), whereas the other study as a continuous (median: 15 months in the group with LLV and median: 25 months in the group with undetected VL). LLV was also associated with shorter duration of viral suppression (<50 copies/mL) less than 1 year (Table 2.7). Difference in ART duration was not significant in studies with treatment duration for more than one and a half years.

Previous ART interruption longer than 8 days and at least 6 months prior to study inclusion was associated with LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL as determined with a single measurement in a multivariate model (Table 2.7). The presence of clinical symptomatology or AIDS-defining conditions (CDC stage B/C) during stable ART was also related to LLV between 20 and 50 copies/mL (Table 2.7).

### 2.3.2.3 Virological factors

Infection with HIV non-B subtype (40% AG, 20% A, 17% G, 7% AE, 3% AB, 3% CRF & 3% F) was a predictor of LLV less than 50 copies/mL in a study from France (Table 2.7).

A study found that higher levels of HIV-1 DNA in PBMC were associated with confirmed LLV below 200 copies/mL. This work stratified LLV into measurable VL between the LLoQ (37 copies/mL) and 200 copies/mL and very low level viraemia (VLLV) reported as "target detected" below 37 copies/mL. Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC was higher in the group with LLV (median: 3.05 log copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC; IQR: 3.0–3.36) than VLLV (median: 2.87 log copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC; IQR: 2.53–3.18) and undetectable VL (median: 2.59 log copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC; IQR: 2.25–2.88). A logistic regression model adjusting for several clinical and immunological co-founding factors, as shown in Table 2.7, confirmed the relation between HIV-1 DNA load and LLV or VLLV.

Charpentier and colleagues demonstrated that more frequent episodes of transient viraemia (blip) between 50 copies/mL and 1,000 copies/mL were an independent predictor of persistent LLV from 20 to 50 copies/mL. Similarly, higher levels of HIV-1 RNA during earlier ART regimens were significantly associated with LLV during current ART, but this factor was not tested in the multivariate model (Table 2.7). Of note, only 6% (n=38) of their study population experienced LLV.

### 2.3.2.4 Immunological factors

Immune activation and microbial translocation are potential determinants or consequence of LLV. Lower CD4 count prior to initiation of current regimen and current CD4 count were significantly associated with LLV between 20 and 50 copies/mL and below 200 copies/mL, respectively, but did not maintain significance in the multivariate analysis (Table 2.7). Immune activation was also observed in a group of patients with detectable but unquantifiable VL <37 copies/mL. CD14+/CD16+/CD163+, indicating activated monocytes, were expressed with higher frequencies in the LLV group compared to patients with undetectable VL. The same work also reported an association of LLV with higher levels of lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP) (Table 2.7). A similar study, setting a higher limit for LLV at 200 copies/mL, demonstrated a significant association between soluble CD14, a marker of microbial translocation, and LLV in a logistic regression model. The same work also revealed a relation between the inflammatory marker TNF $\alpha$  and LLV, which did not reach statistical significance in the model (Table 2.7). Moreover, Reus et al. showed that increased bacterial ribosomal DNA circulated in the blood of patients with VL from 20 to 200 copies/mL. An analysis of variance indicated IL-6 levels were also higher in the group of patients with LLV compared to undetectable controls (Table 2.7).

### 2.3.3 Assay variability

Current knowledge as to LLV is founded on second and third generation assays the performance of which is compared in 7 studies (Tables 2.5 and 2.6). VL was measured in parallel with three real-time assays and the Amplicor v1.5 assay in a large cohort (n=391) of HIV-positive patients with a wide range of viraemia from target not detected (TND) to >100,000 copies/mL. The frequencies of LLV between 50 and 200 copies/mL with the RealTime, TaqMan v2.0 and TaqMan v1.0 were 11.5%, 8.2% and 9.5%, respectively, compared to 6.4% reported with the Amplicor v1.5 (Do et al., 2011). Overall agreement at

the cut-off of 50 copies/mL between the Amplicor v1.5 and the two assays currently in use (RealTime and TaqMan v2.0) was reported between 87% and 92% and kappa statistics (0.14) showed only slight agreement for LLV between the LLoQ and 200 copies/mL (Table 2.8). The most discrepant results were demonstrated in the comparison of the TaqMan v1.0 and Amplicor v1.5 with 73% (598/819) of samples being discordant at the cut-off of 50 copies/mL and kappa coefficients less than 0.20 (Table 2.8).

Higher level of discordance has been observed between current and previous versions of real-time assays. In one study, 27% (63/230) of samples that were measured as <50 copies/mL with the RealTime assay, were above 50 copies/mL with the TaqMan v1.0 (Table 2.8). Yan *et al.* reported fair agreement of the two methods (kappa coefficient = 0.38) for LLV between the LLoQ and 200 copies/mL (Table 2.8). Comparing the TaqMan v1.0 and v2.0 in 69 paired clinical samples with VL <200 copies/mL, 41% were quantified with a mean difference of 1 copy/mL and 9% were undetectable with both assays (Table 2.8). One study compared the Versant kPCR v1.0 with the RealTime and TaqMan v2.0 and found that 9.9% (6/61) and 8.2% (5/61) of samples, respectively, were discordant at the cut-off of 50 copies/mL (Table 2.8).

Discrepancies are reported with currently used real-time assays around their LLoQ. Leierer *et al.* conducted a multi-centre study with 78% of VL samples measured using the TaqMan v2.0 and 22% with the RealTime. In a multivariate analysis they found that the probability of having LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL vs VL <20 copies/mL was lower if the RealTime was utilised (Table 2.7). Karasi *et al.* tested 328 clinical specimens with VL <200 copies/mL, including samples with TND, with both methods. They demonstrated 91% overall agreement (95% CI: 88-93) at the threshold of 50 copies/mL and 2 copies/mL mean difference of quantifiable VL. Overall, 60% (196/328) and 46% (150/328) of samples were undetectable with the RealTime and TaqMan v2.0 assay, respectively (Table 2.8). Two studies showed that around 13% (73/569 and 7/59) of samples that were <50 copies/mI by RealTime were above 50 copies/mL using the TaMan v2.0 (Table 2.8).

Figure 2.1: Flowchart of study selection.


ART: anti-retroviral therapy; LLV: low level viraemia; VL: viral load



#### Figure 2.2: Factors associated with low level viraemia in published multivariate models<sup>1</sup>

1: Only variables that remained associated with LLV after adjustment are presented

2: Blip ratio was defined as the proportion of VL values >50 copies/mL to the number of VL measurements for the period from initiation of current ART until study inclusion

ART: anti-retroviral therapy; VL: viral load; PI: protease inhibitor; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; InSTI: integrase strand transfer inhibitor; CDC: Centres for Disease Control; PBMC: peripheral blood mononuclear cell

Table 2.4: Characteristics of studies identifying patient parameters associated with low level viraemia.

Reference	Study type (country; period)	ART regimen (%)	Assay (LLoQ, copies/mL)	Definition of control group	Definition of LLV, copies/mL	VL determinants <sup>1</sup>
(Leierer et al., 2015) <sup>3</sup>	Multi-centre (x5) retrospective (Austria; 2012- 2013)	PI-based (43); NNRTI- or InSTI- based (57)	TaqMan v2.0 (20) RealTime (40)	Below the LLoQ	20-200	1
(Martin-Blondel et al., 2012)	Cross-sectional (France; 2011)	PI-based (43); NNRTI-based (45); raltegravir-based (12)	TaqMan v2.0 (20)	Target not detected	20-50 (LLV) and target detected below the LLoQ (VLLV)	LLV/VLLV: 1-2 Control: 2
(Charpentier et al., 2012) <sup>2</sup>	Longitudinal retrospective (France; 2009- 2010)	PI-based (49); NNRTI-based (34); INI-based (6); Other (11)	TaqMan v2.0 (20)	Target not detected	20-50	LLV: ≥2 Control: ≥3 (median = 4 in both groups)

Reference	Study type (country; period)	ART regimen (%)	Assay (LLoQ, copies/mL)	Definition of control group	Definition of LLV, copies/mL	VL determinants <sup>1</sup>
(Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010)	Cross-sectional (Spain; 2009)	PI-based (55); NNRTI-based (45)	TaqMan v2.0 (20)	Below the LLoQ	20-49	1
(Saison et al., 2013)	Longitudinal prospective (France; 2009- 2010)	PI-based (89); NNRTI-based (7); raltegravir (2); T20 (2)	RealTime (40)	Target not detected	< 50 including target detected below the LLoQ	LLV: ≥1 Controls: all (median = 8 in both groups)
(Torres et al., 2014) <sup>3</sup>	Cross-sectional (Spain; 2011-2012)	PI-monotherapy (67); PI-based triple therapy (33)	Versant kPCR v3.0 (37)	Target not detected	Target detected below the LLoQ	1
(Falasca et al., 2017)	Longitudinal prospective (Italy; 2-years)	PI-, NNRTI- & INI- based and other (not specified)	Versant kPCR v1.0 (37)	Target not detected	37-200 (LLV) and target detected below the LLoQ (VLLV)	LLV: ≥2 VLLV: ≥3 Controls: all

Reference	Study type (country; period)	ART regimen (%)	Assay (LLoQ, copies/mL)	Definition of control group	Definition of LLV, copies/mL	VL determinants <sup>1</sup>
(Reus et al., 2013)	Cross-sectional (Spain; 2011)	PI (52); NNRTI (67); NRTI (86) Other (19)	TaqMan v2.0 (20)	Below the LLoQ	20-200	1

1: Number of VL measurements required to define the groups

2: This study also has a prospective follow-up period (2010-2011) aiming to assess virological outcomes, such as virological failure, which is not included in this analysis.

3: The study objective is to present the impact of ritonavir-boosted PI monotherapy (darunavir or lopinavir) on immune activation, inflammation and microbial translocation compared to PI-based triple therapy. In this review we include a sub-analysis comparing activated monocytes (CD14+CD16+CD163+ cells) and lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP) as a marker of microbial translocation in the LLV and control group.

ART: anti-retroviral therapy; LLoQ: lower limit of quantitation; LLV: low level viraemia; VL: viral load; PI: protease inhibitor; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; InSTI: integrase strand transfer inhibitor; TaqMan v2.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan version 2.0; RealTime: Abbott RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay; VLLV: very low level viraemia; NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; Versant kPCR v3.0: Siemens Versant HIV-1 RNA v3.0; Versant kPCR v1.0: Siemens Versant HIV-1 RNA kPCR v1.0 Table 2.5: Characteristics of studies comparing the performance of commercial assays.

Reference	Study type (country; period)	Assays (LLoQ, copies/mL)	Definition of LLV, copies/mL (VL determinants <sup>1</sup> )
(Do et al., 2011)	Cross-sectional multi-centre (x3) (USA; 2007-2008)	TaqMan v1.0 (40) TaqMan v2.0 (20) RealTime (40) Amplicor v1.5 (50)	<50 measured using the Amplicor v1.5 (1)
(Lima et al., 2009)	Retrospective (Canada; 2006-2008)	TaqMan v1.0 (40) Amplicor v1.5 (50)	No definition
(Swenson et al., 2014)	Multi-site (x14) cross-sectional (International)	TaqMan v1.0 (40) TaqMan v2.0 (20) RealTime (40) Amplicor v1.5 (50)	<1,000 (1)
(Yan et al., 2010)	Cross-sectional (Australia; 2008- 2009)	TaqMan v1.0 (40) RealTime (40) Amplicor v1.5 (50)	0-200 (not specified)
(Wojewoda et al., 2013)	Cross-sectional (USA)	TaqMan v1.0 (48) <sup>2</sup> TaqMan v2.0 (20)	<200 (1)

Reference	Study type (country; period)	Assays (LLoQ, copies/mL)	Definition of LLV, copies/mL (VL determinants <sup>1</sup> )
(Karasi et al., 2011)	Cross-sectional (Luxembourg & Rwanda; 2009)	RealTime (40) TaqMan v2.0 (20) Amplicor v1.5 (50)	<200 including unquantifiable samples and target not detected (1)
(Ruelle et al., 2012)	Cross-sectional (Belgium)	Versant kPCR v1.0 (37) TaqMan v2.0 (20) Realtime (40)	<50 and target detected below the LLoQ (1)

1: Number of VL measurements required to define the groups

2: Wojewoda et al. report a LLoQ for the TaqMan v1.0 of 48 copies/mL in their publication.

LLoQ: lower limit of quantitation; LLV: low level viraemia; VL: viral load; TaqMan v1.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 Test v1.0; TaqMan v2.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 Test v2.0; Abbott: Abbott RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay; Amplicor v1.5: Roche COBAS Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test, v1.5; Versant kPCR v1.0: Siemens Versant HIV-1 RNA 1.0 kPCR Table 2.6: Characteristics of commercial assays utilised by the selected studies.

	Lower limit of		
Assay	quantitation,	Assay characteristics	Reference
	copies/mL		
Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/		Dual-target of gag and LTR regions	(Roche Molecular Systems, 2018)
COBAS TaqMan HIV-1	20	Quantitation based on an internal standard	
Test v2.0 (RT)		Group M (A-H & CRF01-AE) and O subtypes	
Abbott RealTime HIV-1		Targets the pol integrase region	(Abbott, 2018)
Viral Load (RT)	40	Quantitation based on a calibration curve	
		Group M (A-G, CFR01-AE & CRF02-AG), O and N subtypes	
Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/		Targets a highly conserved gag region	(Roche Molecular Systems, 2007,
COBAS TaqMan HIV-1	40	Quantitation based on an internal standard	Swenson et al., 2014)
Test v1.0 (RT)		Group M (A-H & CRF01-AE) subtypes	
Roche COBAS Amplicor		Targets a highly conserved gag region	
HIV-1 Monitor Test v1.5	50	Quantitation based on an internal standard	(Roche Diagnostic Systems, 1996)
(end-point)		Non-B subtypes amplified with reduced efficiency	
Siemens Versant HIV-1	27	Targets a highly conserved pol integrase region	(Siemens, 2016)
RNA 1 - 3 (kPCR)	57	Quantitation based on 2 calibrators	

	Lower limit of		
Assay	quantitation,	Assay characteristics	Reference
	copies/mL		
		Group M (A-H & CRF02-AG) and O subtypes	

RT: real-time; LTR: long terminal repeat; CRF: circulating recombinant form, kPCR: kinetic PCR

Table 2.7: Patient factors associated with low level viraemia.

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
(Martin-Blondel	LLV (296)	Multivariate logistic regressions (x2)	Zenith VL <5 log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL	(1): 2.48 (1.75–3.50); p <0.001
et al., 2012)	VLLV (617)	Outcome: TND vs LLV (1) or VLLV (2)		(2): 1.51 (1.15–1.99); P = 0.003
	TND (479)	Co-variates: time since HIV diagnosis,	NNRTI-based regimen	(1): 1.45 (1.03–2.04); P = 0.03
		duration of ART, zenith VL, duration of		(2): N/K <sup>3</sup>
		suppression (<50 copies/mL), current CD4	Current CD4 count <500	(1): 1.25 (0.86-1.80); P = N/K <sup>3</sup>
		count, zenith VL and NNRTI-based regimen	cells/mm <sup>3</sup>	(2): 1.44 (1.08–1.92); P = 0.01
		(ref: PI).	Duration of viral suppression	(1): 3.33 (1.66–6.66); P = 0.0006
			>1 year	(2): 1.56 (0.83-2.94); P = N/K <sup>3</sup>
			Duration of viral suppression	(1): 3.23 (1.64-6.67); P = not
			>2 years	reported
				(2): 2.33 (1.20–4.54); P = 0.01
		Analysis of variance (ANOVA)	Time since HIV diagnosis	LLV: 14 years (7)
				VLLV: 13 years (7)
				TND: 15 years (7)

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
				P = 0.02
(Pascual-Pareja et	LLV (21)	Multivariate regression with a forward	Pre-ART VL	4.24 (1.28–13.97)
al., 2010)	BLQ (62)	stepwise selection		P = 0.018
		Outcome: LLV	ART duration	0.987 (0.974–1)
		Co-variates: pre-ART VL and duration of ART		P = 0.044
(Leierer et al.,	LLV (222)	Multivariate logistic regressions x2: VL	Pre-ART VL ≥ 100,000 (a) and	(a): 4.19 (2.07–8.49); p = N/K
2015)	BLQ (1,972)	measured with the TaqMan v2.0 or RealTime	10,000-99,999 copies/mL (b)	(S)(a): 3.95 (1.94-8.04); p = N/K
		assay and VL measured with the TaqMan		(b): 2.52 (1.23–5.19): n = N/K
	Sensitivity	v2.0 assay only (S)		
	analysis (S):	Outcome: LLV		(S) (b): 2.38 (1.15-4.94); p = N/K
	LLV (199)	Co-variates (ref): age (>50 years), HIV	Female heterosexuals	0.62 (0.41–0.95); p = N/K
	BLQ (1,497)	transmission mode (MSM), ART interruptions		(S): 0.67 (0.43-1.04); p = N/K
		(no interruptions), VL assay (TaqMan v2.0),	PI-based ART	1.54 (1.15–2.06); p = N/K
		ART duration (>18 months), ART regimen		(S): 1.60 (1.18-2.18); p = N/K
			ART duration < 9 months	2.59 (1.38–4.86); p = N/K

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
		(NNRTI- or InSTI- based regimens) and pre-		(S): 2.54 (1.32-4.90); p = N/K
		ART VL (≤9,999 copies/mL)	ART interruptions	1.69 (1.22–2.34); p = N/K (S): 1.66 (1.17-2.35); p = N/K
			RealTime assay	0.33 (0.21–0.51); p = N/K
				(S): N/A
(Charpentier et	LLV (38)	Multivariate logistic regression using a	CDC stage B/C at study	
al., 2012)	TND (618)	backward elimination	inclusion	2.9 (1.4–5.9)
		Outcome: LLV		P = 0.003
		Co-variates: age at inclusion, CDC stage at		
		inclusion (B/C vs A), CDC stage at initiation of	Blip ratio <sup>2</sup>	
		first-line ART (B/C vs A), VL at initiation of		
		current ART, CD4 count at initiation of		0.9 (0.9–1.0)
		current ART, duration of current ART and blip		P = 0.001
		ratio <sup>2</sup> .		

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
		Wilcoxon	Age at study at study inclusion	LLV: 47 years (43-53) TND: 44 years (38-50) P = 0.04
		Fisher's exact test	CDC stage B/C at initiation of first-line ART	LLV: 53% TND: 30% P = 0.006
		Wilcoxon	VL at initiation of current ART	LLV: 2.0 log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL (1.7-4.5) TND: 1.7 log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL (1.7-3.4) P = 0.02
		Wilcoxon	CD4 count at initiation of current ART	LLV: 254 cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (142-583) TND: 402 cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (262-587) P = 0.02
(Reus et al., 2013)	LLV (13) BLQ (39)	Mann-Whitney	Time since HIV diagnosis	LLV: 18 years (14-20) BLQ: 10 years (6-16)

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
				P < 0.01
		χ <sup>2</sup>	NRTI-sparing regimens	LLV: 69%
				BLQ: 92%
				P < 0.05
		Mann-Whitney	IL-6	LLV: 90 pg/mL (81–154)
				BLQ: 79 pg/mL (61–105)
				P <0.05
		χ <sup>2</sup>	Ribosomal bacterial DNA (16S	LLV: 46%
			rDNA) in blood	BLQ: 18%
				p <0.05
(Falasca et al.,	LLV (95)	Multivariate logistic regression	PI-based regimens	0.26 (0.08-0.88) <sup>1</sup>
2017)	VLLV (133)	Outcome: LLV or combined LLV and RV		P = 0.030
	TND (113)	Co-variates: age, sex, therapy combination	NNRTI-based regimens	0.11 (0.03-0.43) <sup>1</sup>
		(ref: INI-based regimens), duration of		P = 0.001
		therapy, CDC stage (ref: A), years since	HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	1.01 (1.00–1.02) <sup>1</sup>
		diagnosis, co-infection with HBV and HCV,		P = 0.003

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
		HIV-1 DNA in PBMC, soluble CD14, IL-6 and	Soluble CD14	1.66 (1.32–2.08) <sup>1</sup>
		ΤΝΓα.		P < 0.001
		Mann-Whitney with Bonferroni correction	ΤΝFα	LLV: 25.6 pg/mL (22.7–30.1)
		for LLV vs TND (1) and LLV vs TND (2)		VLLV: 23 pg/mL (18.2-26.2)
				TND: 15.5 pg/mL (13.1-21)
				P = 0.02 (1) and P = 0.046 (2)
		Kruskal-Wallis for VLLV vs TND	CD4 count	LLV: 565 cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (356-925)
				VLLV: 565 cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (303-795)
				TND: 641 cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (523-888)
				P = 0.017
(Saison et al.,	LLV (44)	Multivariate Cox regression model	B subtype	
2013)	TND (13)	Outcome: TND 2 years post virological		
		suppression		пк (35% U): 3.98 (1.08–14.7)
		Co-variates: age at HIV diagnosis and non-B		P = 0.037
		subtype		

Reference	Groups (n)	Statistical method used by authors	Parameters associated with LLV	Reported OR (95% CI) or median (IQR) or mean (SD) or as otherwise stated and p-value
(Torres et al.,	LLV (17)	Mann-Whitney	Activated monocytes in blood	LLV: 13.65% (4.02-22.17)
2014)	TND (39)		(CD14+/CD16+/CD163+)	TND: 7.65 (4.21-13.31)
				P = 0.029
		Mann-Whitney	Lipopolysaccharide-binding	LLV: 9,964 ng/mL (8,452-13,213)
			protein (LBP)	TND: 8,574 ng/mL (7,820-9,548)
				P = 0.025

1: Proportional odds ratio of LLV vs combined RV and TND and combined LLV and RV vs TND.

2: Blip ratio was defined as the proportion of VL values >50 copies/mL to the number of VL measurements for the period from initiation of current ART until study inclusion

*3:* Not presented because not statistically significant or *p* >0.05.

LLV: low level viraemia; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; IQR: interquartile; SD: standard deviation; VLLV: very low level viraemia; TND: target not detected; VL: viral load; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI: protease inhibitor; BLQ: below limit of quantitation; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; TaqMan v2.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 Test v2.0; Abbott: Abbott RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay; MSM: men who have sex with men; InSTI: integrase strand transfer inhibitor; CDC: Centers for Disease Control; NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; PBMC: peripheral blood mononuclear cells; IL-6: interleukin 6; TNFa: tumour necrosis factor aplha Table 2.8: Comparison of performance of assays.

Reference	Comparisons	No of paired samples	VL range of samples, copies/mL	Comparison strategy	Results
(Do et al.,	Amplicor v1.5 vs:	391	TND - >100,000	Concordance analysis at 50	Overall agreement % (95% CI); p-value:
2011)	TaqMan v1.0 (1) or			copies/mL cut-off with	(1): 91.8 (88.6-94.3); 0.0004
	TaqMan v2.0 (2) or			percent agreement and	(2): 92.1 (88.9-94.5); 0.0196
	RealTime (3)			McNemar's test (p-value)	(3): 90.5 (87.2-93.3); 0.2498
		(1): 19	50-200	Mean difference	log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL (SE); 95% CI:
		(2): 20			(1): 0.225 (0.0931); 0.030-0.421
		(3): 14			(2): 0.303 (0.1307); 0.030-0.577
					(3): 0.316 (0.1074); 0.084-0.548
(Lima et al.,	TaqMan v1.0 vs	159	40-100	Analysis at 50 copies/mL cut-	- 45% overall agreement
2009)	Amplicor v1.5			off with percent agreement	- kappa statistic 0.19 (95% CI: 0.10-0.29) indicating
				and Cohen's Kappa	slight agreement
					- mean difference log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL (SD): 0.04 (0.01)

		No of	VL range of		
Reference	Comparisons	paired	samples,	Comparison strategy	Results
		samples	copies/mL		
					-0.46 sensitivity, 0.88 specificity, 0.94 positive
					predictive value, 0.29 negative predictive value
(Swenson	RealTime vs	(1): 230	< 50 measured	Discordance at 50 copies/mL	% (n) of samples with VL >50 copies/mL measured
et al.,	TaqMan v1.0 (1)	(2): 569	using the	with presentation of	using the TaqMan v1.0 or v2.0
2014)	RealTime vs	(3): 819	RealTime, (1)-	percentages and absolute	(1): 27 (63)
	TaqMan v2.0 (2)	(4): 172	(2) or Amplicor	numbers	(2): 13 (73)
	Amplicor v1.5 vs		v1.5, (3)-(4)		(3): 73 (598)
	TaqMan v1.0 (3)				(4): 6 (10)
	Amplicor v1.5 vs				
	TaqMan v2.0 (4)				
(Yan et al.,	Amplicor v1.5 vs	(1): 103	LLoQ - 200	Cohen's kappa coefficient	Kappa coefficient (degree of agreement; 95% CI)
2010)	TaqMan v1.0 (1)	(2): 133			(1): = 0.16 (slight: -0.03-0.35)
	Amplicor v1.5 vs	(3): 166			(2): 0.14 (slight; 0.06-0.38)
	RealTime (2)				(3): 0.38 (fair; 0.22-0.53)
	TaqMan v1.0 vs				
	RealTime (3)				

Reference	Comparisons	No of paired samples	VL range of samples, copies/mL	Comparison strategy	Results
(Wojewoda	TaqMan v2.0 vs	69	<200 copies/mL,	Frequencies	- 49% (n = 34) were quantifiable with TaqMan
et al.,	TaqMan v1.0		including TND,		v1.0 and 54% (n = 37) with TaqMan v2.0
2013)			as measured		- 41% (n = 28) were quantifiable with both assays
			with the		with mean difference -0.096 $log_{10}$ copies/mL
			TaqMan v1		- 9% (n = 6) were TND with both assays
(Karasi et	TaqMan v2.0 vs	(1): 328	<200 copies/mL	Concordance analysis at 50	Overall agreement, % (95% CI):
al., 2011)	RealTime (1)	(2): 309	including TND	copies/mL with percent	(1): 90.9% (87.9-93.1)
	TaqMan v2.0 vs	(3): 209		agreement and Wilsons	(2): 88.3 (N/A)
	Amplicor v1.5 (2)			efficient-score method (95%	(3): 87.1 (N/A)
	RealTime vs			CI)	
	Amplicor v1.5 (3)				
(Ruelle et	RealTime (1) vs	61	Detected VL <50	Frequencies of VL >50	% (n)
al., 2012)	TaqMan v2.0 (2) vs		copies/mL	copies/mL	(1): 3.3 (2)
	Versant kPCR v1.0				(2): 14.8 (9)
	(3)				(3): 6.6 (4)

VL: viral load; TaqMan v2.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 Test v2.0; RealTime: Abbott RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load assay; Amplicor v1.5: Roche COBAS Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test, v1.5; TaqMan v1.0: Roche COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 Test v2.0; TND: target not detected; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; SE: standard error; SD: standard deviation; LLoQ: lower limit of quantitation; Versant kPCR v1.0: Siemens Versant HIV-1 RNA 1.0 kPCR

## 2.4 Discussion

Higher pre-ART VL, particularly above 5 log<sub>10</sub> copies/mL, time since HIV diagnosis and CDC stage B/C have been associated with LLV in the published literature. The most consistent association was with pre-ART VL, which was identified as a strong predictor in three independent multivariate models that adjusted for variables including time since HIV diagnosis, duration of ART, ART combination, CD4 count, age, HIV mode of transmission and ART interruptions (Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012, Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010). Pre-ART VL has also been described as a predictor of the level of residual viraemia (Maldarelli et al., 2007, Palmer et al., 2008). These findings seem to reflect a larger cellular compartment harbouring integrated virus which was established prior to therapy commencement.

Falasca and colleagues measured HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and they found that they were independently and positively associated with LLV in a multivariate analysis (Falasca et al., 2017). However, it was unclear whether viral replication drove the increase in total HIV-1 DNA or higher proviral load caused LLV. The frequency of HIV infection in CD4 T cells residing in the periphery, such as the GALT, was higher than in circulating CD4 T cells and cross-infection between the two compartments was recorded (Chun et al., 2008). Virus production may take place in the GALT with virus shedding in the blood. Parallel measurement of the size of reservoirs and HIV-1 RNA level in the periphery is important, but also more challenging.

Shorter duration of viral suppression also related with LLV in three independent multivariate analysis (Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012, Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010). A rapid decline in VL post ART initiation (first and second phase of viral decay) is followed by a third and fourth phase of viral decay (Palmer et al., 2008). The third phase represents a cellular compartment with a half-life of 39 months causing a decrease in HIV-1 RNA levels below 50 copies/mL during the first couple of years of ART. The fourth phase reflects a stable reservoir with proliferative capacity that replenishes residual viraemia. Indeed, in one study using two cut-offs for ART duration one year of suppressive ART was less strongly associated with LLV below the LLOQ than 2 years (Martin-Blondel et al., 2012).

Patients on PI-based regimens also appeared to be more likely to experience LLV (Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012). PIs have a high genetic barrier to resistance and they

are preferred by clinicians in cases of suspected non-adherence issues. Although the selected studies did not report or adjust their models for adherence, a sensitivity analysis revealed that groups of patients at higher risk of non-compliance, such as intravenous drug users, were more likely to be on PI-based ART (Leierer et al., 2015). Similarly, NRTI-sparing regimens and use of InSTI were associated with LLV (Falasca et al., 2017, Reus et al., 2013). These combinations were not first-line options at the time of recruitment for most studies and they were possibly used to target mutated viruses that were either transmitted or evolved during periods of treatment interruptions. As to the association of LLV with non-B subtypes it is likely to reflect factors other than the actual virus sequence and subtype. Socio-economic considerations, health care access and delays in HIV diagnosis may cluster with non-B subtypes in some settings (Saison et al., 2013). Moreover, most patients (51 out of 57) were on PI-based ART which was not accounted for in the analysis. A review investigating LLV up to 500 copies/mL reported poor adherence as a risk factor (Ryscavage et al., 2014). Adherence is difficult to quantify, because it is a parameter based on patientreporting and its accuracy may be questioned. However, it is an obvious cause of LLV and virological failure in a similar way as ART interruptions were independently associated with subsequent LLV (Leierer et al., 2015).

Markers of microbial translocation including soluble CD14, ribosomal bacterial DNA in blood, LBP and activated monocytes, were positively associated with LLV (Falasca et al., 2017, Reus et al., 2013, Torres et al., 2014). Increased levels of the inflammatory markers IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  in patients with LLV may also be the result of increased microbial translocation (Falasca et al., 2017, Reus et al., 2013). CD4 depletion in the GALT during early infection causes microbial translocation, which declines with the reduction of VL following therapy initiation, but does not normalise (Jiang et al., 2009). Residual viral replication at the intestinal mucosa may cause compromisation of the GALT and microbial translocation. Alternatively, early events during the infection may have significant structural effects on GALT, which do not reverse with ART, resulting in chronic microbial translocation and immune activation with subsequent virus production. As to circulating CD4 counts, they were significantly lower in patients with LLV, but adjusting for co-founding factors such as duration of ART and CDC stage made their difference insignificant (Martin-Blondel et al., 2012).

We report that current literature varies remarkably as to the definition of LLV and study design. We applied strict eligibility criteria in an attempt to collect comparable data. Despite the small number of relevant studies (n=15) included, methodology strategies adopted by

authors differed significantly making impossible to conduct of a collective approach and comparison, such as a meta-analysis. For instance, two studies with similar design utilised different definitions for LLV with one adapting a VL between 20 and 200 copies/mL as determined from a single measurement and the other using a VL range between 20 and 50 copies/mL as measured on one or two occasions (Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012). Moreover, the control group in the former probably (but not clearly stated) included patients with detected VL below the LLoQ, whereas patients with detected but not quantified (VLLV) VL shaped a separate category in the latter. The same model was applied to the VLLV group and the same associations as the LLV group were identified with the only exception of treatment combination that was not different. Yet, both studies identified higher pre-ART VL, shorter ART duration and PI-based regimens as factors associated with LLV.

The same factors were also demonstrated in a work by *Vancoillie et al.*, but isolated blips were allowed in the "aviraemic" control group (Vancoillie et al., 2014). In literature isolated viral blips are generally accepted as insignificant clinical events reflecting random biological or statistical variation (Nettles et al., 2005). Blips were reported in 10% of chronically suppressed patients during routine follow-ups with a median VL of 78 and 116 copies/mL with the TaqMan v1.0 and TaqMan v2.0, respectively (Garrett et al., 2012). Also, 38% of LLV may also evolve in future blips and vice versa, more frequent blips may predict future LLV (Charpentier et al., 2012, Wojewoda et al., 2013). Hence, viral blips are different from LLV and as a result we decided to exclude them from this work. However, we included studies that defined LLV based on a single measurement and in this scenario a proportion would represent isolated blips and not persistent LLV. Only 2 studies used strict criteria in their definition of persistent LLV including at least two consecutive measurements of VL. As a result, the size of the case group is smaller compared to the control group. Of note, we report that the proportion of patients with LLV ranges in selected studies from 6% to 77%.

We utilised a time frame beginning in 2008, which is the transition year from a decade of use of the Amplicor method in clinical settings to third generation assays. The rationale was to reduce under-reporting of LLV <200 copies/mL as demonstrated in five selected studies (Do et al., 2011, Karasi et al., 2011, Lima et al., 2009, Swenson et al., 2014, Yan et al., 2010). Third generation real-time assays detect nucleic acids during the exponential phase of each amplification cycle producing faster results and reducing the risk of contamination. The main representatives of real-time platforms, the TaqMan v2.0 and RealTime, show good correlation of results within their entire range of reporting values (Do et al., 2011, Paba et

al., 2011, Swenson et al., 2014, Yan et al., 2010). However, concordance is getting poorer close to their LLoQ. Percent agreement at the 50 copies/mL cut-off was reported around 90% (Karasi et al., 2011, Swenson et al., 2014). Intra-assay variability of the RealTime and TaqMan v2.0 was significant with over half of clinical samples being discordant as to their detection status at the 50 copies/mL cut-off for at least one out of three replicates (Ruelle et al., 2009). Discordant results around the assay LLoQ differed between the two methods and were more pronounced for the TaqMan v2.0 compared to the RealTime. *Leierer et al.* observed that patient samples tested with the TaqMan v2.0 had higher frequency of LLV between 20 and 200 copies/mL compared to the RealTime (Leierer et al., 2015). However, more than half of them (57%) had a VL between 20 and 50 copies/mL for which both interand intra- assay repeatability is poor. Non-B HIV subtypes and sample handling may have affected reported results in the past, but they are less of an issue with new fully automated assays (Ndiaye et al., 2015, Parekh et al., 2018).

A main drawback of this systematic review is that it is based on a qualitative synthesis. We tried to present the data accurately within the context of the selected studies. Yet, there is an element of subjectivity. In addition, only one reviewer conducted the search and selection of studies as part of the original work presented by the student in this thesis. Moreover, all selected studies have a cross-sectional design and causality is not proven but assumed for factors preceding LLV.

Current literature addressing the issue of LLV is subject to variability due to lack of a broadly accepted definition which would specify range of HIV-1 RNA levels and duration. We propose that the factors identified in literature to be associated with LLV between 10 and 200 copies/mL reflected a larger size of cellular reservoirs, adherence issues and enhanced microbial translocation. Due to assay limitations, we need to treat with caution any findings regarding viraemia between 20 and 50 copies/mL. Further work is required to confirm predictors of LLV.

# **CHAPTER 3**

Virological and immunological factors associated with residual viraemia in optimally treated patients

# 3.1 Introduction

Combination ART effectively suppresses viral replication, which is reflected in a steep decline in VL, but it cannot eradicate HIV as indicated by persistence of a latent reservoir and residual viraemia (Dornadula et al., 1999, Havlir et al., 2005, Maggiolo et al., 2012, Maldarelli et al., 2007, Palmer et al., 2008, Palmisano et al., 2005). Moreover, treatment cessation results in viral rebound with new cycles of viral production and infection (Wen et al., 2018). Replication-competent virus resides as integrated provirus mainly in resting CD4 T cells, a latent reservoir which is established early after infection and persists at stable levels in spite of effective ART (Ho et al., 2013, Hosmane et al., 2017, Ruggiero et al., 2015, Shen and Siliciano, 2008b, Siliciano et al., 2003, Siliciano and Siliciano, 2004). Ability to propagate via cell proliferation without requiring virus production and potential for generating intermittent bursts of virus production upon cell activation are key features of the HIV reservoir (Ananworanich et al., 2016, Bachmann et al., 2019, McManus WR et al., 2018, Pitman et al., 2018, Wang et al., 2018).

Residual viraemia is the presence of HIV-1 virus in the plasma at levels below the LoD of commercial assays. Residual viraemia is stable with a mean of 3 copies/mL and it is detected with ultrasensitive methods in the majority of ART-suppressed patients (Amendola et al.,

2011, Hatano et al., 2009, Margot et al., 2018, Palmer et al., 2008, Yukl et al., 2011). Palmer and colleagues found that all of their suppressed patients who were sampled longitudinally had at least one specimen with residual viraemia quantified with a SCA. Residual viraemia confirms the existence of an active, or intermittently active, HIV-1 reservoir. Yet, it remains to be elucidated which are the particular cell types or the circumstances that drive virus release. It has been proposed that direct or bystander activation of resting memory CD4 T cells harboring HIV-1 may result in intermittent virus shedding identified by SCA (Anderson et al., 2011, Hermankova et al., 2001, Kieffer et al., 2004). The clonal character of sequences found in residual viraemia indicate production of virus by a single type of cell with proliferative capacity (Sahu, 2015). The lack of occurrence of new drug resistance mutations following ART initiation and the inability of intensification strategies to clear residual virus in plasma are substantial arguments against ongoing cycles of viral replication and infection (Bailey et al., 2006, Brennan et al., 2009, Buzon et al., 2010, Hatano et al., 2011, McMahon et al., 2010).

Eradication of this cellular reservoir by the immune system appears unattainable. HIVspecific cytotoxic lymphocytes, although abundant during chronic infection, are unable to clear cellular reservoirs harboring integrated viral DNA (Lieberman et al., 2001). Antigen presentation to naïve T cells (CD45RA+) drives their differentiation to antigen-specific effector cells (CD45RA-) which reverse to a memory state, either as central (CCR7+) or effector (CCR7-), upon pathogen clearance (Ahmed and Gray, 1996, Bevan and Goldrath, 2000, Parish and Kaech, 2009, Seder and Ahmed, 2003, Wherry and Ahmed, 2004). Antigen persistence during chronic infection, on the other hand, results in functional impairment characterised by reduced cytokine production, proliferation and cytotoxicity (Wherry et al., 2003). Functional impairment appears to be associated with increased expression of PD1 (Barber et al., 2006, Freeman et al., 2006), which is also a marker of latency in HIV infection (Ghosn et al., 2018). PD1 binds to its ligands (PD-L1 and PD-L2) and approximates TCR while TCR interacts with antigens. The complex is a negative regulator of lymphocyte activation by downsizing intracellular signals (Freeman et al., 2000, Greenwald et al., 2005, Latchman et al., 2001, Okazaki and Honjo, 2007). PD1 overexpression on HIV-specific memory T cells has been observed and associated with cell exhaustion and apoptosis (Day et al., 2006, Petrovas et al., 2006).

We conducted a study in a strictly defined population of HIV-1 positive patients on first line ART experiencing consistent VL suppression since treatment commencement. Our aim was to identify virological and immunological factors associated with residual viraemia. We

focused on HIV-1 DNA load in PBMC, which is a good indicator of HIV-1 reservoirs and PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 subsets, which appears to play an important role in chronic infection.

## 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Study population

To circumvent heterogeneity and identify a highly stable on treatment population we applied strict eligibility criteria (Table 3.1). We screened the records of all patients attending the HIV clinic at the Royal Liverpool University Hospital between October 2013 and August 2014. Eligible patients were on first line combination ART with two NRTIs and either a NNRTI or a PI. We allowed a single switch of PI to another PI and modifications of the NRTI backbone for tolerability reasons. ART was commenced at least 6 months prior to recruitment and VL was regularly monitored with commercial assays at a minimum of two routine visits per year. VL was suppressed below 50 copies/mL within 6 months of ART commencement and remained persistently suppressed since and until all samples were collected. Patients on PIs were allowed single blips up to 200 copies/mL which were confirmed with suppressed VL preceding and following the isolated events of viraemia. Eligible patients had to report good adherence with no missed doses and no recorded treatment interruptions.

The study complied with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees (REC) in the UK and received approval by the National Research Ethics Service (NRES) committee and local Research Development and Innovation (RD&I) department (REC: 10/H0808/75). All patients were provided with an information leaflet and signed a consent form. This project is funded by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) and it is included in the National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network (NIHR CRN) portfolio.

#### 3.2.2 Sampling

Up to 36mL of whole blood was collected in EDTA tubes and processed within 1.5 hours of venipuncture to maximise yield and cell viability. Samples underwent centrifugation at 2,500 rpm for 10 min at 18°C and plasma was immediately stored at – 80°C. The remaining fractions were mixed with equal volume of Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) medium (80% RPMI 1640 and 20% fetal bovine serum [FBC]) and used to isolate PBMC by density gradient centrifugation. Briefly, 20mL of diluted sample was layered on 15mL of FicoII-Paque

medium and centrifuged at 500 xg for 30 min with no break at 18°C. The PBMC layer was harvested and washed twice to remove Ficoll-Paque and platelet contaminants. The washing steps included resuspension in RPMI medium up to a total volume of 50 mL and centrifugation at 300 xg for 10 minutes (18°C).

Cells were resuspended in 10 mL of RPMI medium and the number of viable cells was counted with the haematocytometer. Tryptan Blue stain 0.4% was mixed with the cells at a dilution 1:10 (10 µL of specimen and 90 µL of stain). Using a hand tally counter the number of live cells (unstained by Tryptan Blue) were counted in all four corner squares (a). The total number of cells was calculated from the formula:  $(a/4)*10*(10^{4})*10$ . The viability requirement was set at >90%. If less than 90% of cells were viable, another aliquot was tested. In cases of viability <90% in the repeated aliquot, the sample was discarded and a new sample from the patient was sought. However, cell viability was above 97% in all samples and none of the above was required. Cells for freezing were centrifuged and resuspended in cold sterile freezing medium made up of 80% FBS and 20% dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO). Aliquots were then placed in Mr Frosty, a container with isopropyl alcohol, which was kept for at least 2.5 hours at -80°C. This way the temperature was gradually decreased to -80°C at cooling rate of about 1°C/min to avoid osmotic intracellular dehydration. Aliquots were transferred to liquid nitrogen the following day. Fresh PBMC aliquots (10x10<sup>6</sup>) were used immediately for flow cytometry. Aliquots of 5x10<sup>6</sup> were stored in 1mL freezing medium at -80°C or liquid nitrogen. This process was carried out by three colleagues, Yufei Wang (post-doctoral researcher), Alessandra Ruggiero (doctoral student) and me.

#### 3.2.3 Ultrasensitive quantification of plasma HIV-1 RNA

HIV-1 RNA levels were measured with a validated in-house ultrasensitive assay that applied a modified version of the RealTime assay on the Abbott m2000 (sp/rt) platform (Maidenhead, UK) (Kiselinova et al., 2015, Ruggiero et al., 2015). A total of 8 mL of plasma was ultra-centrifuged at 35,000 rpm (209,490.6 xg) for 15 min at 4<sup>o</sup>C with a centrifuge rotor Beckman SW41. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of basematrix (SeraCare, USA) and processed on the Abbott m2000 platform as per the manufacturer's instructions. The assay employs automated RNA extraction, followed by cDNA transcription and amplification using internally controlled real-time PCR. Three types of results were reported: (i) HIV-1 RNA copies/mL if the level was above the LLoQ, (ii) target detected if below the LLoQ but above the LoD and (iii) target not detected if less than the LoD. For samples reported in (i) and (ii) the output Ct value was used in a formula with the run intercept and slope values to estimate the number of copies per mL of plasma (VL = 10^[(Ct-Intercept)/Slope]/8). Results were reported in copies/mL.

The assay was previously validated by spiking HIV-negative plasma with four serial dilutions of the WHO 3rd International HIV-1 RNA Standard in quadruplicates (Palmer et al., 2003). The assay detection rates for 5, 3 and 1 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL were 100%, 80% and 60%, respectively (Ruggiero et al., 2015).

#### 3.2.4 Quantitation of cellular HIV-1 DNA

#### 3.2.4.1 DNA extraction

HIV-1 DNA load was measured using cryopreserved PBMC. For each patient, an aliquot of 5 x  $10^6$  PBMC stored at - $80^{\circ}$ C was thawed to room temperature. DMSO-containing freezing solution was immediately removed with two washing steps by adding phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and centrifugation at 800 xg for 10 min on a bench microcentrifuge. Cell death and release of viscous DNA causing cell clumping was expected to be minimal only from thawing, as cells were frozen gradually with Mr Frosty. Cells were resuspended in 200 µL of PBS. The QIAamp® DNA Mini and Blood Mini kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to isolate DNA as described by Geretti *et al.* (Geretti et al., 2013a). In brief, cell lysis was performed with addition of Proteinase K (20 µL) and lysis buffer (200 µL) and incubation at  $56^{\circ}$ C for 30 min and  $100^{\circ}$ C for 30 min. DNA was then purified with QIAamp Mini spin columns following the manufacturer's instructions to yield a 100 µL DNA eluate which was stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until DNA quantification.

#### 3.2.4.2 DNA quantitation

Total DNA concentration in extracts was determined by a spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific NanoDropTM 1000) at an optical density of 260 nm. DNA concentration was adjusted to 50 ng/ $\mu$ L in a volume of 50  $\mu$ L, which corresponds to 1  $\mu$ g of double stranded DNA per PCR input volume (20  $\mu$ L) and 150,000 cells (Dib et al., 1996). The same buffer as the eluate (Buffer AE, Qiagen) was used as blank before measurements and to dilute DNA. DNA purity was assessed with the 260/280 and 260/230 ratios. Any ratio lower than 1.8

indicated contamination (e.g. protein) and extraction was repeated. Diluted samples were checked for concentration and readings were recorded, or further dilutions were performed if required.

Total HIV-1 DNA load in PBMC was quantified by a quantitative real-time PCR using the Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-Time PCR platform. A standard curve incorporating four quantities of HIV-1 DNA (6,000, 600, 60 and 6 copies/reaction) was produced for every run using the Generic HIV DNA CELL kit (Biocentric Laboratories, France) (Avettand-Fenoel et al., 2009). A 50  $\mu$ L volume per reaction contained 1  $\mu$ g of DNA extract. The target was a conserved LTR region. Thermal cycles included 2 minutes at 50°C (uracil-DNA glycosylases incubation), 10 minutes at 95°C (polymerase activation) and 50 cycles of 15 seconds at 95°C (denaturation/melting step) and 1 minute at 60°C (hybridisation/annealing step). The software reported HIV-1 DNA copies/ $\mu$ g (b) which was converted into HIV-1 DNA copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC using the formula: b \* 10^6 / 150,000.

#### 3.2.5 PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets

A post-doctoral researcher in the group (Yufei Wang) performed all immunophenotyping on fresh PBMC isolated from whole blood within 2 hours of collection<sup>1</sup>. Immunophenotyping was part of a separate project and I was given access to the final data only. An aliquot of 10 million PBMC was used. PBMCs were stained for markers of differentiation (CD3, CD4, CD8, CD45RA, CCR7) and exhaustion (PD1) with directly conjugated antibodies purchased from Biolegend (CD3/4/8-PE, CD45RA-perCP, CCR7-FITC, PD1-APC). Markers co-expression was measured on the BD FACSCalibur platform as per manufacturer instructions and raw data were processed with the accompanying software.

#### 3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistics were conducted with SPSS version 25 (IBM). Continuous variables that were normally distributed are presented as means with SD whereas continuous variables that did not have normal distribution are presented as medians and IQR. Normality of continuous variables was assessed through Shapiro-Wilk test (Shapiro and Wilk, 1965). Categorical

<sup>1:</sup> All experiments were performed by myself, unless otherwise stated.

variables are presented with frequencies and percentages. We assigned the value of 0.5 copies/mL to undetectable HIV-1 RNA with the SCA to use in descriptive statistics and further analysis. A comparative analysis between patients with detectable and undetectable HIV-1 RNA below 50 copies/mL was conducted using the chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney test were applied to continuous variables that were normally and non-normally distributed, respectively. Levene test was applied to confirm the assumption of equal variance between groups before proceeding with comparison of means. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression models were used to explore factors associated with residual viraemia. The outcome (dependent) variable was detectable HIV-1 RNA with the SCA. A stepwise model selection process was used for the adjusted analysis; initially every variable from the univariate analysis with a p value of less than 0.20 was added in the model and then the non-significant ones were removed sequentially with the "Backward: LR" method in SPSS. Predictor variables were tested for multicollinearity before included in the model with the variance inflation factor (VIF) being less than 5. The analysis was performed under the kind guidance of Eftychia Psarelli, a senior statistician in Molecular and Clinical Cancer Medicine, at the University of Liverpool.

Table 3.1: Eligibility criteria for inclusion in the study.

Eligibility criteria
Adult (>16 years old) HIV-1 positive patients
First line ART with two NRTIs and either an NNRTI or a PI
No changes of the NNRTI
Changes from one PI to another PI allowed
Changes of the NRTI arm allowed within the same drug class
ART commenced at least 6 months prior to recruitment
Viral load suppression <50 copies/mL documented within 6 months of starting ART
No recorded viral load rebound <sup>1</sup>
No treatment interruption
At least two viral load measurements documented per year

1: Episodes of viral rebound were defined as VL >50 copies/mL for the NNRTI-based group and VL >200 copies/mL for the PI group. Isolated blip events between 50 and 200 copies/mL were permitted in patients on PIs.

ART: anti-retroviral therapy; NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; NNRTI: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI: protease inhibitor; VL: viral load

### 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Study population

A total of 59 HIV-1 positive patients were recruited. Three moved to another region before sampling and we had inadequate blood volume for both virological and immunological experiments for three, yielding 53 patients for analysis. Their characteristics are shown in Table 3.2. In brief, all subjects were receiving ART with either an NNRTI (n=42, 79%) or a ritonavir-boosted PI (n=11, 21%). At sampling patients were on ART for a median duration of 5.1 years (IQR: 1.7-7.2) with VL suppression (<50 copies/mL) for a median of 4.8 years (IQR: 1.5-7.0). The shortest duration of ART was almost a year (34 weeks) and the longest 16.5 years. The most commonly used ART combination was TDF/emtricitabine (FTC) plus efavirenz (EFV) or darunavir/ritonavir (DRV/r) (Table 3.2). In the PI group, only 2 subjects changed from the initial PI (lopinavir/ritonavir and saquinavir/ritonavir were switched to DRV/r and atazanavir/ritonavir due to diarrhoea and hypercholesterolaemia, respectively). There were 15 cases of NRTI changes in 12 patients (Appendix, table A.2).

#### 3.3.2 Virological parameters

Residual HIV-1 RNA in plasma was detected in 19 patients. Almost two thirds (n=34, 64.2%) of all patients had undetectable HIV-1 RNA in the plasma. Although almost one third (n=13, 31%) experienced detectable HIV-1 RNA in the group of patients receiving NNRTI-based regimens, more than half (n=6, 54.5%) of patients on a PI-based regimen had residual viraemia quantified with our SCA. Reflecting these findings, the median was an undetectable HIV-1 RNA (assigned an arbitrary level of 0.5 copies/mL, IQR: 0.5-2) overall, and 2 copies/mL (IQR: 0.5-3) in patients on PI-based regimens (Table 3.2). Residual HIV-1 RNA which was quantified with our SCA had a median of 3 copies/mL (IQR: 2-7). Only three patients had viraemia quantified above 10 copies/mL. The highest value of 38 copies/mL was measured in a subject who at the time of sampling had been receiving TDF/FTC/DRV/r for 45 weeks and had shown a suppressed VL (<50 copies/mL) for 23 weeks, which was the shortest duration of suppression in our cohort.

Total HIV-1 DNA had a median of 2.6  $log_{10}$  copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC (IQR: 2.4-3.1) and a range between 1.74 and 3.59  $log_{10}$  copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC.

We first explored differences between groups with undetectable (n=34) and detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma (n=19) combining the NNRTI and PI group together (Table 3.3). HIV-1 DNA load in PBMC, PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 T cells and on central and effector memory CD8 T cells differed significantly among the two groups (Figure 3.1). We noted that duration of suppression below 50 copies/mL and ART duration were shorter in the group with detected HIV-1 RNA in plasma, although that was not statistically significant.

#### 3.3.3 Immunological parameters

CD4 and CD8 were balanced with a ratio of 1. The highest PD1 expression was observed on effector memory CD4 T cells (CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-) and the lowest on naive CD4 T cells (CD4+/CD45RA+) as shown in Table 3.2. CD4+ and CD8+ cells had similar expression levels of PD1. However, PD1 expression was higher on the effector memory CD4 subset compared to CD8 and naïve CD8 subset. PD1 expression on all CD4 and CD8 subsets was higher in patients receiving NNRTI-based ART compared to PI-based ART with the differences being more prominent for CD8 than CD4 cells.

PD1 expression on total and memory CD4 and CD8 subsets was consistently higher in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA compared to the group with detectable HIV-1 RNA (Figure 3.2). The highest PD1 expression was observed on effector memory CD4 cells in both undetected and detected groups. There was a consistent 5% difference between the two groups for total and central memory CD4 cells and this difference more than tripled for effector memory CD4 cells (17%). A similar trend was demonstrated among CD8 subsets with PD1 expression on effector memory CD8 cells being also the highest, but the difference between the two groups of patients remained stable around 10% for all memory subsets (Figure 3.2).

#### 3.3.4 Factors associated with residual viraemia

Factors independently associated with the detection of residual HIV-1 RNA were first explored by univariate logistic regression analysis and the results are summarized in Table 3.4. There was an association between the detection of HIV-1 RNA and total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC, and PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 cells and central and effector memory CD8 cells. More specifically, for every unit increase in the log<sub>10</sub> DNA copies, the odds of
detectable HIV-1 RNA were increasing 9 times, although with 95% assurance this estimate could have been between 1.8 to 45 times greater (p = 0.007). Similarly, for every unit increase in the % of PD1 expression on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-, the odds of residual viraemia as quantified with our SCA were decreased by 4%, although with 95% assurance this estimate could have been between 1% and 8% (p=0.034).

Age, third agent, total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC, time from suppression to recruitment, CD8%, PD1 on CD8+ (%), PD1% on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7+ (%), PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%) and PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%) had a p-value less than 0.2 in the univariate analyses and passed the multicollinearity check allowing for inclusion as predictor variables in the logistic regression (VIF for PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA- was 7.38 and the variable was excluded). The relation between total HIV-1 DNA and residual viraemia remained significant adjusting for PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 T cells and age in the final model (Table 3.5). The steps to the final model are shown in Appendix, Table A.3.



*Figure 3.1: Factors associated with residual viraemia in the univariate analysis.* 

(a) median total HIV-1 DNA in the group with undetectable and detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma and (b) median PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 subsets in the group with undetectable and detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma. P-value <0.05

Figure 3.2: PD1 expression (%) on CD4 and CD8 subsets in patients with undetected and detected HIV-1 RNA in plasma.



Table 3.2: Baseline characteristics of the study population overall and stratified by therapy
as non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor and protease inhibitor -based regimens.

Characteristic	Total (n=53)	NNRTI (n=42)	PI (n=11)
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.5 (9.9)	44.4 (10.1)	40.2 (8.5)
Gender, n (%) Male	28 (53)	25 (59)	3 (27)
Female	25 (47)	17 (41)	8 (73)
Ethnicity, n (%) Black	20 (38)	14 (33)	6 (55)
White	33 (62)	28 (67)	5 (45)
Risk group, n (%) Heterosexual	32 (60)	24 (57)	8 (73)
MSM	18 (34)	16 (38)	2 (18)
Other	3 (6)	2 (5)	1 (9)
Time from diagnosis to start of	99(19-442)	10.0(2.0-42)	49(33-59)
ART), median months (IQR)	5.5 (1.5 - 44.2)	10.0 (2.0 - 42)	4.5 (5.5 - 5.5)
HIV-1 clade, n (%) B	23 (43)	19 (45)	4 (36)
C	9 (17)	5 (12)	4 (36)
A	1 (2)	0	1 (9)
Unknown	20 (38)	18 (43)	2 (18)
TDR, n (%) Yes	12 (23)	5 (12)	7 (64)
No	34 (64)	31 (74)	3 (27)
Missing	7 (13)	6 (14)	1 (9)
Nadir CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ),	108 (108)	101 (100)	222 (100)
mean (SD)*	198 (108)	191 (109)	222 (109)
Nadir CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ),	183 (124-276)	179 (125-239)	233 (139 - 313)
median (IQR)*	105 (124 270)	175 (125 255)	
Pre-ART VL (log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL),	48(45-52)	4.8 (5 - 5.2)	49(08)*
median (IQR)			
Calendar year for ART	2009 (2006 –	2008 (2006-	2011 (2009-
commencement, median (IQR)	2012)	2011)	2012)
ART composition, n (%) EFV	38 (72)	38 (90)	N/A
NVP	2 (4)	2 (5)	N/A
RPV	2 (4)	2 (5)	N/A
DRV/r	8 (15)	N/A	8 (73)

Characteristic	Total (n=53)	NNRTI (n=42)	PI (n=11)
LPV/r	2 (4)	N/A	2 (18)
ATV/r	1(2)	N/A	1 (9)
TDF/FTC	39 (74)	31 (74)	8 (73)
ABC/3TC	12 (22)	11 (26)	1 (9)
ABC/AZT	2 (4)	0	2 (18)
No of NRTI changes, n 1	11	8	3
2-3	2	2	0
No of PI changes, n 1	2	N/A	2
Duration of ART (years), median (IQR)	5.1 (1.7 – 7.2)	5.9 (2.5 – 7.8)	2.8 (1.3 – 5.2)
Duration of viral load suppression (years), median (IQR)	4.8 (1.5 – 7.0)	5.2 (3.3) <sup>+</sup>	1.9 (0.8 – 4.8)
Residual HIV-1 RNA, median copies/mL (IQR)	0.5 (0.5-2)	0.5 (0.5-1.8)	2 (0.5-3)
Total HIV DNA, median log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup> PBMC (IQR)	2.6 (2.4 – 3.1)	2.6 (0.4) <sup>+</sup>	3.1 (0.4) *
CD4 count mean cells/mm <sup>3</sup> , (SD)	650 (223)	637 (220)	695 (241)
CD4 (%), mean (SD)	37.5 (8.2)	37.6 (8.3)	37 (8.5)
CD8 (%), mean (SD)	38.5 (11.3)	38.4 (10.6)	39 (14.0)
CD4/CD8 ratio, median (IQR)	1.0 (0.7 – 1.4)	1.0 (0.7 – 1.4)	1.1 (0.5) +
PD1 on CD8+ (%), median (IQR)	17.1 (10.2 – 24.0)	19.1 (9.0) †	12.1 (6.1) †
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA- (%), median (IQR)	28.0 (18.9 – 39.0)	32.3 (14.9) *	22.5 (14.6) †
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7+ (%), median (IQR)	22.6 (14.3 – 35.8)	25.7 (13.9) †	19.5 (13.2) †
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%), median (IQR)	32.3 (20.7 – 48.0)	36.7 (16.9) †	20.8 (15.1) +

Characteristic	Total (n=53)	NNRTI (n=42)	PI (n=11)
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA+ (%), median (IQR)	6.4 (3.9 – 11.9)	7.2 (4.0 – 13.6)	5.7 (3.1) <sup>+</sup>
PD1 on CD4+ (%), median	17.6 (11.5 -	18.5 (11.8 –	166(74)
(IQR)	25.1)	25.2)	10.0 (7.1)
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA- (%),	25 (18 9 – 31 9)	26 8 (21 9 - 33)	23.4 (10.7) *
median (IQR)			2011 (2017)
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7+	21 3 (9 0)	22 1 (8 8)	18.0 (9.3)
(%), mean (SD)	2210 (010)	2212 (0.0)	10.0 (0.0)
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	40.2 (16.3)	42 5 (16 2)	31 3 (13 9)
(%), mean (SD)	40.2 (10.3)	+2.5 (10.2)	51.5 (15.5)
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA+ (%),	24(10-4.7)	25(10-59)	24(1.7-2.7)
median (IQR)	2(2.0 1.7)	2.5 (2.5 5.5)	2(2, 2,)

\*Shapiro Wilcoxon test indicated a normal distribution for nadir CD4 count (P >0.05). Here we present both mean and median as per Shapiro Wilcoxon test and as frequently encountered in literature, †: mean (SD)

NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI: protease inhibitor; VL: viral load; SD: standard deviation; MSM: men who have sex with men; IQR: interquartile; TDT: transmitted drug resistance; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; VL: viral load; EFV: efavirenz; NVP: nevirapine; RPV: rilpivirine; DRV/r: darunavir/ritonavir; LPV/r: lopinavir/ritonavir; ATV/r: atazanavir/ritonavir; TDF/FTC: tenofovir/emtricitabine; ABC/3TC: abacavir/lamivudine; ABC/AZT: abacavir/zidovudine

Table 3.3: Comparative analysis of the group with undetected HIV-1 RNA in plasma vs. detected HIV-1 RNA in plasma.

Characteristic	Undetected HIV- 1 RNA (n=34)	Detected HIV-1 RNA (n=19)	p-value
Age (years), mean (SD)	44.9 (9.9)	40.9 (9.7)	0.162*
Gender, n (%) Male	17 (61)	11 (39)	0.581+
Female	17 (68)	8 (32)	0.5611
Ethnicity, n (%) Black	13 (65)	7 (35)	0.920+
White	21 (64)	12 (36)	0.9201
Risk group, n (%) Heterosexual	22 (69)	10 (31)	0.716+
MSM	10 (56)	8 (44)	0.710+
Time from diagnosis to start of	95 (18 - 37 1)	16 1 (1 9 - 54 3)	0 711**
ART), median months (IQR)	9.5 (1.8 - 57.1)	10.1 (1.9 - 54.3)	0.711
TDR, n (%) Yes	6 (50)	6 (50)	0 308+
No	22 (65)	12 (35)	0.308+
Nadir CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ),	195 (119)	202 (89)	0.818*
mean (SD)¥	199 (119)	202 (03)	0.010
Nadir CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ),	172 (114-242)	203 (147-288)	0 565**
median (IQR)¥	1,2(11,2,2)	200 (117 200)	0.000
Pre-ART VL (log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL),	47 (46 - 52)	49(45-50)	0.857**
median (IQR)	(		0.007
Third agent, n (%) NNRTI	29 (69)	13 (31)	0.136‡
PI	5 (45)	6 (55)	012001
Duration of ART (years),	59(24-80)	39(16-60)	0 111**
median (IQR)	5.5 (2.1 0.0)	3.5 (1.6 6.6)	0.111
Duration of viral load			
suppression (years), median	5.6 (1.5-7.8)	3.5 (1.4-5.9)	0.097**
(IQR)			
Total HIV DNA, median log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup> PBMC (IQR)	2.5 (2.3 – 2.9)	3.0 (2.5 – 3.2)	0.004**

Characteristic	Undetected HIV- 1 RNA (n=34)	Detected HIV-1 RNA (n=19)	p-value	
CD4 count mean cells/mm <sup>3</sup> , (SD)	627 (223)	691 (224)	0.359*	
CD4 (%), mean (SD)	38.4 (7.7)	35.9 (9.0)	0.297*	
CD8 (%), mean (SD)	36.7 (10.5)	41.7 (12.2)	0.124*	
CD4/CD8 ratio, median (IQR)	1.0 (0.8 – 1.5)	1.0 (0.6 – 1.4)	0.250**	
PD1 on CD8+ (%), median (IQR)	18.5 (12.7 – 27.6)	12.1 (9.2 – 18.2)	0.064**	
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA- (%),	31.0 (2.07 –	21.3 (15.3 –	0.007**	
median (IQR)	41.9)	32.4)	0.097**	
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7+	24.9 (17.8 –	15.7 (10.3 –	0.024**	
(%), median (IQR)	37.3)	25.2)	0.034***	
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	37.5 (23.9 –	23.0 (16.5 –	0 0 0 2 2 * *	
(%), median (IQR)	52.0)	34.8)	0.022**	
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA+ (%), median (IQR)	9.6 (3.9 – 13.8)	5.1 (3.9 – 9.0)	0.179**	
PD1 on CD4+ (%), median (IQR)	19.0 (2.6 – 27.9)	13.6 (2.1 – 22.8)	0.383**	
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA- (%), median (IQR)	25.2 (3.7 – 33.9)	22.6 (6.7 – 27.8)	0.105**	
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7+ (%), mean (SD)	22.4 (8.8)	19.2 (9.1)	0.219*	
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%), mean (SD)	43.9 (16.0)	33.7 (15.2)	0.028*	
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA+ (%), median (IQR)	12.0 (1.0 – 22.0)	11.6 (1.4 – 17.5)	0.809**	

\*Student's t-test (normally distributed continuous variables),  $\dagger$ : Chi-squared test (categorical variables),  $\ast$ : Mann-Whitney test (non-normal continuous variables),  $\ddagger$ : Fisher's Exact test (categorical variables with at least one expected frequency cell  $\leq$ 5),  $\ddagger$ : Shapiro Wilk test

indicated a normal distribution for nadir CD4 count (P >0.05). Here we present both mean and median as per Shapiro Wilcoxon test and as frequently encountered in literature

VL: viral load; SD: standard deviation; MSM: men who have sex with men; IQR: interquartile; TDT: transmitted drug resistance; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; VL: viral load; TDF: tenofovir; FTC: emtricitabine; EFV: efavirenz; ABC: abacavir; 3TC: lamivudine; RPV: rilpivirine; NVP: nevirapine; DRV: darunavir; r: ritonavir; AZT: zidovudine; LPV: lopinavir; ATV: atazanavir

Table 3.4: Univariate logistic regression of clinical, virological and immunological factors on the outcome of residual viraemia detection.

Factor	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	0.96	[0.90 – 1.02]	0.163
Gender (F vs. M)	0.73	[0.23 – 2.25]	0.581
Ethnicity (Black vs. White)	0.94	[0.29 – 3.00]	0.920
Risk group (MSM/Other vs. Hetero)	1.65	[0.53 – 5.17]	0.390
Time from diagnosis to start of ART	1 01	[0 99 – 1 02]	0 533
(months)	1101	[0.00 1.02]	0.000
HIV-1 clade (B vs. A/C)	0.80	[0.17 – 3.69]	0.775
TDR (Yes vs. No)	1.83	[0.48 – 6.95]	0.373
Nadir CD4 count (In cells/mm <sup>3</sup> )	1.26	[0.59 – 2.72]	0.547
Pre-ART VL (log10 copies/mL)	1.02	[0.45 – 2.32]	0.957
Third agent (PI vs. NNRTI)	2.68	[0.69 – 10.38]	0.154
Time from suppression to recruitment	0.84	[0.70 – 1.01]	0.068
(years)			
Total HIV-1 DNA (log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup>	9.15	[1.85 – 45.4]	0.007
PBMC)			
CD4 count (In cells/mm <sup>3</sup> )	2.45	[0.42 – 14.4]	0.319
CD4 (%)	0.96	[0.90 – 1.03]	0.293
CD8 (%)	1.04	[0.99 – 1.10]	0.126
CD4/CD8 ratio	0.50	[0.15 – 1.60]	0.243
PD1 on CD8+ (%)	0.94	[0.87 – 1.01]	0.071
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA- (%)	0.97	[0.93 – 1.01]	0.119
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7+ (%)	0.95	[0.91 – 0.99]	0.049
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%)	0.96	[0.92 – 0.99]	0.029
PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA+ (%)	0.92	[0.83 – 1.02]	0.117
PD1 on CD4+ (%)	0.97	[0.91 - 1.4]	0.374
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA- (%)	0.96	[0.90 - 1.01]	0.142
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7+ (%)	0.96	[0.89 – 1.03]	0.218
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7- (%)	0.96	[0.92 - 0.99]	0.034

Factor	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA+ (%)	1.02	[0.94 – 1.12]	0.575

CI: confidence interval; F: female; M male; MSM: men who have sex with men; Hetero: heterosexual; TDT: transmitted drug resistance; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; VL: viral load; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI: protease inhibitor; PBMC: peripheral mononuclear cells Table 3.5: Multivariate logistic regression model of factors associated with detection of residual viraemia in plasma.

Factor	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Total HIV-1 DNA, log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup> PBMC	3.42	[1.32 – 8.83]	0.011
PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	[0.93 – 1.00]	0.05
Age	0.95	[0.89-1.01]	0.072

CI: confidence interval

# 3.4 Discussion

This study investigated a cohort of successfully treated HIV-1 patients on first line ART and no evidence of virological failure for a duration of around 5 years. HIV-1 RNA in plasma was detected and quantified with a SCA in almost one third of patients and the median was 3 copies/mL. Previous studies have shown that residual viraemia of this level has identical HIV sequences implying that the source is a clonally expanded infected cell (Bailey et al., 2006, Bozzi et al., 2019, Jacobs et al., 2019, Rosenbloom et al., 2017). Hence, ongoing virus replication is probably rare, if not absent at all, in our cohort of patients. Antigen or cytokine triggered activation of cells harboring HIV-1 DNA is responsible for production of virus (McManus WR et al., 2018, Wang et al., 2018). Reservoirs are maintained by proliferation and escape clearance by cytotoxic cells (Shen and Siliciano, 2008b, Zheng et al., 2014). Immune checkpoints such as the PD1 play a critical role in responses which are pivotal in controlling HIV-1 replication and viraemia (Schmitz et al., 1999, Zheng et al., 2014) and appear to be a mechanism of short-term latency (Boyer and Palmer, 2018).

Patients on a PI-based regimen demonstrated some trends different from the group of patients on NNRTI-based ART. Subjects on PIs were allowed to have changes of the PI arm and isolated VL measurements up to 200 copies/mL post suppression. The rationale was that PI-based regimens exhibit increased toxicity and pharmacokinetics which make drug switches and isolated episodes of viraemia (viral blips), respectively, more frequent than NNRTIS. Moreover, blips of this magnitude have not been associated with virological failure (Grennan et al., 2012, Raffi et al., 2017). Regardless, the number of patients on PIs was very small and only one fifth of our population. Although our study lacked sufficient statistical power to find differences by regimen, we observed some trends. Subjects receiving PI-based ART compared to NNRTI-based ART appeared to have a distinct virological profile with a higher frequency of transmitted drug resistance mutations, detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma and total HIV-1 RNA in PBMC, shorter duration of ART and lower PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 subsets compared to the NNRTI group. These observations agree with previous studies suggesting that PI-based ART is less suppressive than NNRTI and InSTI based regimens (Bonora et al., 2009, Darcis et al., 2020, Geretti et al., 2019, Gianotti et al., 2018, Gianotti et al., 2012, Maggiolo et al., 2012, McKinnon et al., 2016, Sarmati et al., 2012). PIs have insufficient tissue penetration and even small decreases in their plasma concentration can cause significant reduction in their activity (Shen et al., 2008, Yeh et al., 2009). These

pharmacological features coupled with shorter ART duration in our cohort may imply that ongoing viral replication may occur more frequently in the PI group. Yet, the level of residual viraemia was the same as in the NNRTI group and except for one sample, which also had the shortest duration of suppression in the study (23 weeks), all the rest were below 5 copies/mL.

This study found that successfully treated patients had their total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC strongly associated with residual viraemia. HIV-1 DNA load in blood was a strong predictor of detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma when adjusting for PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 T cells (CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-) and age. This should be interpreted with caution due to the wide 95% confidence interval (1.2 - 31). Two previous studies reported a positive correlation between residual viraemia (<10 copies/mL) and HIV-1 DNA in circulating CD4 T cells or total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC (Chun et al., 2011, Hong et al., 2018). Indeed, we may speculate that a larger reservoir may increase the probability of bursts of virus production upon cell activation. The argument is that only a small proportion of the reservoir (~5%) can produce intact viruses without defects and this subset appears to lack the capacity to clonally expand in response to TCR stimulation *ex vivo* (Bruner et al., 2019). On the contrary, cells harboring defective viruses proliferate with the potential to produce residual viraemia upon activation (Imamichi et al., 2016). Our group has previously reported no association between residual viraemia and integrated or total HIV-1 DNA (Ruggiero et al., 2018, Ruggiero et al., 2015). This finding accrued from a very similar population, but on NNRTIbased ART exclusively, while in this cohort we have included patients on PI-based regimens. The characteristics of the PI group may reflect a more active and bigger cellular reservoir which could have strengthened the association between HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and HIV-1 RNA in plasma. From a technical perspective, it has been demonstrated that co-amplification of cellular HIV-1 DNA along with HIV-1 RNA results in increased HIV-1 RNA values (Wan et al., 2010). However, the Abbott m2000sp platform employs an RNA-centric extraction method with the use of purification reagents specific for RNA. It has been shown that coamplification of HIV-1 DNA is minimal with the RealTime assay compared to the TagMan v2.0 (Fernandes et al., 2010).

Surprisingly, residual viraemia did not associate with increased PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 subsets. On the contrary, PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 and CD8 T cells and central memory CD4 T cells was significantly increased in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA in a univariate model. Moreover, PD1 expression was consistently higher on all CD4 and CD8 subsets in the group with undetectable HIV-1 RNA compared to the group with

residual viraemia with the biggest difference seen on effector memory CD4 T cells. PD1 is expressed on activated CD4 and CD8 T cells to orchestrate the balance between immune stimulation and inhibition (Sharpe et al., 2007). PD1 regulatory and inhibitory roles are evident in two models of acute and chronic LCMV infection. Transient expression of PD1 on early effector CD8 T cells precedes acute infection clearance contrary to persistent PD1 upregulation during chronic infection which attenuates a constant TCR signaling from antigen presence (Barber et al., 2006). PD1 has been associated with immune exhaustion and T cell dysfunction in HIV-1 infection (Day et al., 2006, D'Souza et al., 2007, Trautmann et al., 2006). High PD1 expression on T cells during chronic HIV infection is epitope-dependent driving functional inactivation and facilitating HIV persistence (Blattman et al., 2009, Day et al., 2006, Gilboa, 1999, Oldstone, 1997, Petrovas et al., 2006, Trautmann et al., 2006). However, the interaction of HIV-specific CD8 cells with mutated epitopes does not result in increased PD1 expression (Blattman et al., 2009, Conrad et al., 2011). Indeed, RNA viruses escape cytotoxicity and establish chronic infection with the acquisition of mutations at the sites of interaction with TCR receptors or by impairing important helper CD4 functions disabling their communication with CD8 cells (Blattman et al., 2009, Oldstone, 1997). Assuming that residual viraemia is clonal and bears mutations at the antigenic regions, it would not trigger PD1 expression. This would not explain the increased expression in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma, though.

Studies blocking the PD1-PD-L1/2 pathway in vitro and in vivo during SIV infection demonstrated immunological recovery with potential clinical benefit (Finnefrock et al., 2009, Freeman et al., 2006, Velu et al., 2009). Contrary to these promising findings, a model of rhesus macaques failed to show any VL suppression with PD1-PD-L1 inhibition in vivo (Amancha et al., 2013). These reports underscore the complex interplay of immune-regulatory mechanisms. Our group and others have provided evidence of immune activation during long-term suppressive ART (Ruggiero et al., 2018, Ruggiero et al., 2015, Zaidan et al., 2019). As a result, PD1 may increase to control an immune response that effectively clears residual virus production in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma. For instance, the interaction of PD1 with PD-L2 on APC exhibits a costimulatory role for T cell activation and prevents PD-L1 induced exhaustion in murine models (Dyck and Mills, 2017b, Karunarathne et al., 2016). PD1 is also normally expressed on Tfh which comprise around 20% of circulating CD4 T cells (CD4+/CD45RA-/CXCR5+/PD1+) and trigger B cells to produce antibody responses in secondary lymphoid tissues (Eivazi et al., 2016, Kawamoto et al., 2012, Tangye et al., 2013). Frequency of Tfh cells in HIV positive subjects correlates positively with

the capacity to develop bnAbs and stronger immune responses (Locci et al., 2013). Hence, PD1 expression in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA may reflect the activation of protective immune mechanisms.

Our study has limitations. The main disadvantage is our small sample size due to the rarity of the population we targeted to recruit. For this reason, we combined data from patients on NNRTI and PI based regimens and we allowed single episodes of viral rebound up to 200 copies/mL in the latter. Moreover, we included the three patients with LLV in our group with detectable HIV-1 RNA. Multi-centre studies are required to achieve larger numbers of participants on each type of therapy. We also focused on the PD1 pathway to address immune exhaustion and impairment of the cytotoxic machinery. A future approach would be to measure additional markers on CD4 and CD8 T cells, such as the exhaustion markers Tim-3 and CD160 (Kuchroo et al., 2014) and Tfh cell markers with mass cytometry. It would also be useful to have longitudinal immunological data to demonstrate the dynamics of PD1 expression.

Our findings imply that residual viraemia in successfully treated patients can be predicted by the size of circulating reservoirs when adjusting for PD1 expression on effector memory CD4 T cells and age. To the best of our knowledge there is no previous work on PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cells in patients with residual viraemia. In this work it was demonstrated that patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA express PD1 at increased levels compared to those with residual viraemia. Further work is required to investigate this finding and delineate additional immune factors associated with residual viraemia.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# Residual viraemia persists despite optimal drug levels

# 4.1 Introduction

ART initiation causes decay of HIV-1 RNA in plasma in four phases (Palmer et al., 2008). A very rapid decrease in VL during the first and second phase ( $t_{1/2} = 1.5$  and  $t_{1/2} = 28$  days, respectively) is followed by a slower decay in the third phase ( $t_{1/2} = 39$  weeks). Eventually, the fourth phase is established during which HIV-1 RNA in plasma persists indefinitely in most patients on successful ART (Hatano et al., 2009, Havlir et al., 2005, Palmer et al., 2008, Ruggiero et al., 2018). Accumulating evidence suggests that residual viraemia at the level of around 3 copies/mL has an archival character and derives from clonally expanded cells harbouring HIV-1 DNA (Bailey et al., 2006, Hosmane et al., 2017, Lorenzi et al., 2016, Simonetti et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2018). Some of these clones persist longitudinally while others disappear with residual viraemia remaining stable (Wang et al., 2018).

However, sub-optimal drug levels at sanctuary sites may allow ongoing cycles of viral replication and virus detection in plasma (Fletcher et al., 2014, Nightingale et al., 2016). At the same time, modest lapses in adherence may result in low level HIV-1 replication which may not be detected with commercial assays (Konstantopoulos et al., 2015, Pasternak et al., 2012); consistent with this view, adherence levels have been associated with persistent HIV-1 RNA detection below 50 copies/mL as measured with ultra-sensitive assays (Li et al., 2014). Yet, patients with optimal adherence can also have detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma (Li et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2017).

Here, we investigated whether detection of residual plasma HIV-1 RNA at levels below 10 copies/mL during suppressive first-line ART remains stable in subsequent measurements and explored its association with plasma drug concentrations.

## 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Study population

Methods have been described in Chapter 3. In brief, we recruited HIV-1 infected individuals on first-line ART comprising of two NRTI and either a NNRTI or a PI. ART regimen modifications were allowed for the NRTI and PI arm and within the same drug class. Eligible patients were on therapy for at least 6 months. Their VL was consistently suppressed below 50 copies/mL. Patients on PI based regimens were allowed blips up to 200 copies/mL.

### 4.2.2 HIV-1 RNA and DNA quantification

Whole blood was collected at two time points (baseline, S0, and second sampling, S1). On the day of collection PBMC and plasma were separated, as described in Chapter 3, and stored at -80°C. We measured HIV-1 RNA in plasma with our in-house SCA. In brief, 8mL of plasma were concentrated with ultra-centrifugation. HIV-1 RNA was measured in the concentrate with the Abbott m2000 platform and HIV-1 copies/mL were calculated from the formula: 10^[(Ct-Intercept)/Slope]/8. Samples with undetectable HIV-1 RNA were assigned the value of 0.5 copies/mL (Mens et al., 2011). The assay detection rates for 5, 3 and 1 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL were 100%, 80% and 60%, respectively.

Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC was extracted with the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> DNA Mini and Blood Mini kit. DNA extract concentration was quantified by spectrophotometry (NanoDrop 1000, Thermo Scientific) and adjusted to 50 ng/ $\mu$ L corresponding to yield 1  $\mu$ g DNA per PCR reaction. A real-time qRT-PCR targeting an LTR region was applied to measure the copies of HIV-1 DNA per 10<sup>6</sup> PBMC (Avettand-Fenoel et al., 2009).

## 4.2.3 Plasma drug levels

Plasma concentrations of EFV, DRV and lopinavir (LPV) were measured by validated highperformance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS) at the Department of Pharmacology, University of Liverpool, as previously described (Dickinson et al., 2005). Time of sample relative to dose intake was recorded. We used untimed drug levels and categorised them as optimal or suboptimal based on target trough concentrations as per drug manufacturer's prescribing information for drug-susceptible virus: 1,000 ng/mL for EFV, 1,000 ng/mL for LPV and 550 ng/mL for DRV (Acosta et al., 2012, Gonzalez-Serna et al., 2016). To investigate HIV-1 RNA levels in relation to drug levels we stratified samples as <1 copy/mL or undetectable (UD), 1 to 10 copies/mL or residual viraemia (RV) and >10 copies/mL or LLV.

## 4.2.4 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed with SPSS version 25 (IBM) as in Chapter 3. We utilised the McNemar test for repeated measurements of categorical data. The paired t-test (parametric) and Wilcoxon rank sum test (non-parametric) were used for repeated (correlated) variables. A sensitivity sub-analysis was performed for patents on EFV.

## 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Individual characteristics

Almost two third (60%, n=32) of subjects from our original cohort of patients were sampled twice (n=64 samples). The majority (81%, n= 26) were on first line NNRTI-based regimens with EFV (n=25) and rilpivirine (RLP, n=1). Ritonavir boosted PI-based ART included DRV (n=5) and LPV (n=1). Baseline characteristics for our longitudinal cohort and for patients on EFV are shown in Table 4.1. The median duration of first-line ART at the time of sampling was 205 weeks (IQR: 80-356) with a range between 37 and 672 weeks and the median duration of suppression was 193 weeks (IQR: 63-351). CD4 count, HIV-1 RNA in plasma, total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and drug levels for EFV, DRV and LPV were measured at two time points separated by a median 4 months (IQR: 3-6, range: 2-7) interval (Table 4.2). CD4% was around 33% and mean total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC was 2.6 log<sub>10</sub> copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells at each sampling point (Table 4.2). No treatment changes or interruptions were recorded during this period and VL remained suppressed (50 copies/mL) at routine clinic visits.

## 4.3.2 Residual viraemia

Of 32 patients, 17 (53%) had undetectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma at both time points and 8 (25%) had consistently detectable HIV-1 RNA. Undetectable HIV-1 RNA was preceded (n=4) or followed (n=3) by detected viraemia in seven subjects (Figure 4.1 & Appendix Figure A.1). The median plasma HIV-1 RNA level was 0.5 copies/mL (IQR: 0.5-2) at each time point (Table 4.2).

Of 23 samples with detectable HIV-1 RNA, 18 (78%) samples from 13 patients had residual viraemia between 1 and 10 copies/mL and 5 samples from 3 subjects had LLV between 10 and 40 copies/mL. Samples with quantifiable HIV-1 RNA had median 3 copies/mL (IQR: 2-9) and 4 copies/mL (IQR: 2-7) at S0 and S1, respectively. Patients with residual viraemia at one or both time points (n=12) fluctuated within a very confined range of 0 to 6.5 copies/mL (median 1.5; IQR: 1.5-3.3) (Figure 4.1 and Appendix Figure A.1). Only one patient crossed the adapted threshold of 10 copies/mL and had LLV (20 copies/mL) at S0 and residual viraemia (2 copies/mL) at S1.

#### 4.3.3 Drug levels

Drug levels were measured in 59 of 64 samples for which the volume was adequate. Plasma levels of EFV relative to time post dosing were measured in 48 samples (23 at S0 and 25 at S2) and they are shown in Figure 4.2. The concentration of EFV was above the recommended threshold of 1,000 ng/mL for the majority of samples (n=42, 87.5%). Sub-optimal levels timed between 12 and 16 hours after dosing were identified in six samples from five patients (one patient, P5-Figure 4.2, had EFV <1,000 ng/mL at S0 and S2). The highest EFV levels were above the upper therapeutic target of 4,000 ng/mL in six samples from three female patients at both time points (Figure 4.2).

Concentration of DRV and LPV in the plasma was above the recommended threshold for all 11 samples (inadequate volume for one DRV specimen at S0). The median time of dosing was 10.5 hours (IQR: 4.3-15.3) prior to S0 and 13 hours (IQR: 6.6-16.8) before S1.

#### 4.3.4 HIV-1 RNA level and drug levels

Of the 59 samples, 37 (62.7%) were UD and 17 (28.8%) and 5 (8.5%) were categorised as RV and LLV, respectively. Drug levels were optimal in 92% (n=34) of the UD samples. This proportion lowered to 88% (n=15) and further to 80% (n=4) in samples with RV and LLV, respectively. Of the 53 samples with optimal drug concentration, 36% (n=19) had detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma between 1 and 40 copies/mL of which 28% (n=15) had residual viraemia (1-10 copies/mL).

A sensitivity sub-analysis was performed for samples taken from patients on EFV (25 patients, 48 samples). Baseline characteristics are shown in Table 4.1. There were no differences in HIV-1 RNA in plasma and total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC between the two time points (Table 4.3). The proportions of UD, RV and LLV were 65% (n=31), 29% (n=14) and 6% (n=3), respectively. Of the 48 samples with EFV levels, six (13%) had sub-optimal concentration. Of those six, three were UD, two RV and one LLV. The proportion of samples with EFV levels less than 1,000 ng/mL and detectable HIV-1 RNA (RV and LLV combined) was almost twice the proportion of those with UD [17.6% (3/17) vs. 9.7% (3/31)]. One patient had RV (7 copies/mL) with sub-optimal EFV levels (417 ng/mL) at S0 and UD with optimal drug concentration (1,263ng/mL) at S1. However, another patient with sub-optimal EFV levels at S0 and S1 had detectable HIV-1 RNA only at S1.

Figure 4.1: Reproducibility of HIV-1 RNA in plasma.

а.		SO		
		Undetected	Detected	
1	Undetected	17 (53%)	4 (13%)	21 (66%)
S	Detected	3 (9%)	8 (25%)	11 (34%)
		20 (62%)	12 (38%)	



(a) frequency of patients with detected and undetected HIV-1 RNA at baseline (SO) and second sampling (S1) and (b) level of HIV-1 RNA in plasma measured with a single copy assay at least 24 weeks after starting anti-retroviral therapy (ART). Each line represents a patient and the dots represent baseline sampling (SO) and second sampling (S1). The 10 copies/mL cut-off was used to define residual viraemia.

Figure 4.2: Efavirenz levels in plasma at baseline (SO) and second sampling (S1) in patients with detected and undetected HIV-1 RNA in plasma.



Outliers have been labelled with patient number (P1-5) and sampling point (S0 or S1). P5 is the single patient with efavirenz (EFV) levels below the target of 1,000 ng/mL at both sampling points. Table 4.1: Baseline characteristics of the whole cohort and of patients on efavirenz based regimens at recruitment.

Characteristic	Total (n=32)	EFV (n=25)
Age (years), mean (SD)	42 (10.3)	42 (10.7)
Gender, n (%) Male	17 (53)	14 (56)
Female	15 (47)	11 (44)
Ethnicity, n (%) Black	10 (31)	8 (32)
White	22 (69)	17 (68)
Risk group, n (%) Heterosexual	19 (59)	15 (60)
MSM	12 (38)	9 (36)
Other	1 (3)	1 (4)
Time from diagnosis to start of ART, median	10 (2 26)	E (0.17)
months (IQR)	10 (2 - 36)	5 (2-17)
HIV-1 clade, n (%) B	15 (47)	11 (44)
С	5 (16)	3 (12)
А	1 (3)	0
Unknown	11 (34)	11 (44)
TDR, n (%) Yes	7 (22)	2 (8)
No	23 (72)	21 (84)
Missing	2 (6)	2 (8)
Nadir CD4 count, mean cells/mm <sup>3</sup> (SD)	229 (102)	199 (77.5)
Pre-ART VL, mean log <sub>10</sub> copies/mL (SD)	4.6 (0.7)	4.6 (0.7)
ART composition, n (%) TDF/FTC/EFV	20 (63)	20 (80)
ABC/3TC/EFV	5 (16)	5 (20)
TDF/FTC/RLP	1 (3)	0
TDF/FTC/DRV/r	4 (13)	0
ABC/3TC/DRV/r	1 (3)	0
ABC/3TC/LPV/r	1 (3)	0
Subjects with NRTI backbone changes <sup>¥</sup> , n (%)	6 (19)	6 (24)
Colondar year for start of ABT modion (IOD)	2010 (2007 2012)	2009 (2007-
Calenuar year for start of AKT, median (IQK)	2010 (2007-2012)	2011)

Characteristic	Total (n=32)	EFV (n=25)
Duration of ART median weeks (IQR)	205 (80-356)	266 (127-378)
Duration of VL suppression median weeks	193 (63-351)	261 (114-371)
(IQR)	199 (09 991)	201 (111 371)

*¥*: number of changes was one with the exception of one subject who had two changes

EFV: efavirenz; VL: viral load; SD: standard deviation; MSM: men who have sex with men; IQR: interquartile; TDT: transmitted drug resistance; ART: anti-retroviral therapy; TDF: tenofovir; FTC: emtricitabine; ABC: abacavir; 3TC: lamivudine; RPV: rilpivirine; NVP: nevirapine; DRV: darunavir; r: ritonavir; AZT: zidovudine; LPV: lopinavir; ATV: atazanavir Table 4.2: Comparative analysis of virological parameters, CD4 and drug levels between the two time points (S0 and S1).

Characteristic	S0 (n=32)	S1 (n=32)	p-value
Residual HIV-1 RNA, median copies/mL (IQR)	0.5 (0.5-2)	0.5 (0.5-2)	0.900**
HIV-1 RNA, n (%) Undetected Detected	20 (63) 12 (37)	21 (66) 11 (34)	1.00†
Total HIV DNA mean log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup> PBMC (SD)	2.65 (0.41)	2.64 (0.38)	0.938*
CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ), mean (SD)	572 (202)	662 (226)	0.002*
CD4 (%), mean (SD)	32.5 (9.7)	33.3 (8.4)	0.282*
EFV levels in plasma (ng/mL), median (IQR)	1,699 (1,439- 2,301) ª	1,777 (1,263- 2,703)ª	0.465**
DRV levels in plasma (ng/mL), median (IQR)	3,781.7 (3,144.8- 9,860.2) <sup>b</sup>	3,058.6 (2,568.3- 3,983.7) <sup>b</sup>	0.273**
LPV levels in plasma (ng/mL), n=1	9,050.4	7,857.2	N/A

\*Paired t-test (normally distributed continuous variables), \*\*: Wilcoxon rank sum test (nonnormal continuous variables), †: McNemar's test (categorical variables), a: n=23 at S0 (x2 missing values) and n=25 at S1, b: n=4 at S0 (x1 missing value) and n=5 at S1,

S0: baseline sampling; S1: second sampling; IQR: interquartile range; SD: standard deviation; PBMC: peripheral mononuclear cells; EFV: efavirenz; DRV: darunavir; LPV: lopinavir; N/A: not applicable Table 4.3: Comparative analysis of virological parameters, CD4 and drug levels between the two sampling points (S0 and S1) for patients receiving efavirenz.

Characteristic	SO (n=25)	S1 (n=25)	p-value
Time post dose, median hours (IQR)	13.6 (13-14.3)	13.7 (12.5-14.1)	0.654*
Residual HIV-1 RNA, median copies/mL (IQR)	0.5 (0.5-2)	0.5 (0.5-2)	0.964*
HIV-1 RNA, n (%) Undetectable	15 (60)	16 (64)	1.00+
Detected	10 (40)	9 (36)	1.00
Total HIV DNA mean log <sub>10</sub> copies/10 <sup>6</sup> PBMC (SD)	2.65 (0.38)	2.59 (0.38)	0.484**
CD4 count (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> ), mean (SD)	558 (198)	650 (215)	0.018**
CD4 (%), mean (SD)	32 (10)	33 (9)	0.423**

\*Paired t-test (normally distributed continuous variables), \*\*: Wilcoxon rank sum test (nonnormal continuous variables), †: McNemar's test (categorical variables)

*S0: baseline sampling; S1: second sampling; IQR: interquartile range; SD: standard deviation; PBMC: peripheral mononuclear cells* 

# 4.4 Discussion

We recruited a unique cohort of successfully treated patients on long term ART and we sampled more than half of them (32/53) twice within a median interval of four months (S0 and S1). Most patients (n=25, 78%) were on suppressive first line ART for more than a year and viral reservoirs represented by total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC were stable between S0 and S1. The undetected and detected status of HIV-1 RNA in plasma was reproducible at second sampling in 78% of cases (n=17 and n=8, respectively). The level of residual viraemia also remained stable between time points. This remarkable reproducibility in our cohort reflects the stability of HIV-1 RNA levels in plasma during chronic effective treatment (Maldarelli et al., 2007, Palmer et al., 2008).

We investigated if sub-optimal drug concentrations were associated with residual HIV-1 RNA in plasma. Over one third of samples had plasma HIV-1 RNA levels ranging from 1 to 40 copies/mL despite optimal drug levels, of which the majority had residual viraemia (<10 copies/mL). If we infer adherence from drug concentrations, our findings are consistent with previous studies demonstrating that one third to half of patients with persistent viraemia below 50 copies/mL had optimal adherence (Li et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2017). These findings also support the hypothesis that residual viraemia derives from bursts of virus production from latently infected reservoirs which is quickly suppressed by ART. However, a small subset of samples with residual viraemia had sub-optimal drug levels reflecting the possible presence of viral replication replenishing HIV-1 RNA in plasma (Li et al., 2014, Maggiolo et al., 2017). Our study differs from previous work because we treated residual viraemia <10 copies/mL as a separate entity from LLV between 10 and 50 copies/mL. This was justified by the observation that there is a gradual increase in the risk of viral rebound with increasing HIV-1 RNA above 10 copies/mL (Doyle et al., 2012).

We identified three outliers in our cohort having LLV between 10 and 40 copies/mL. One subject had viral suppression for less than a year (23 and 35 weeks at S0 and S1, respectively), during which viraemia may be expected to continue to decline (Hatano et al., 2010) and one had sub-optimal drug levels which may reflect poor adherence (Li et al., 2014). The third subject went from LLV (S0) to residual viraemia (S1) but none of the above explanations could be applied.

Contrary to previous studies using drug refill and pill count, we utilised drug levels to measure adherence. Although it is indicated in Chapter 3 that all our patients reported optimal adherence, recall bias and social acceptance may result in an overestimate (Goldman et al., 2008). Liechty and colleagues showed that subtherapeutic untimed drug levels were an acceptable indicator of non-adherence, but therapeutic drug concentrations, particularly for EFV which has a long half-life, were not a good marker of adherence in clinical practice (Liechty et al., 2004). Therapeutic EFV levels have been associated with self-reported adherence at 85% and above in a study investigating the aetiology of blips (Farmer et al., 2016). Sub-optimal untimed drug levels have not been associated with viral blips, but they have been proposed as an independent predictor of virologic failure in patients with episodic or recurrent viraemia between 50 and 1,000 copies/mL (Gonzalez-Serna et al., 2016). Taken together, we linked sub-optimal levels with decreased adherence, but we note that our untimed analysis cannot adjust for pharmacokinetic variability causing reduced levels. We also acknowledge that a small proportion of our patients with optimal drug levels in plasma may not have been 100% adherent to ART.

Our effort to reduce variability by sampling a strictly pre-defined population stable on treatment came at the cost of a small sample size. As a result, we did not model repeated measures and treated each sample as independent in a descriptive analysis. The small number of patients and time points is the main drawback, which does not allow for robust findings. The study also lacked a longitudinal assessment of immunological parameters. Lastly, at the time of study conduct InSTI were not part of first line recommendations in guidelines, as they are now, and our subjects were on rather old-fashioned regimens.

Nevertheless, we noted some interesting trends. We report that HIV-1 RNA in successfully suppressed patients on ART fluctuated in less than half of patients and within a very stringent range between routine visits. Residual virus still persists at a stable level despite optimal drug levels reflecting the presence of an active reservoir as the source of HIV-1 RNA in plasma. In a small proportion of patients, though, inadequate drug levels may contribute to new rounds of virus replication and residual viraemia.

# **CHAPTER 5**

# General discussion

HIV-1 RNA in plasma persists in patients under suppressive ART and factors associated with residual viraemia remain elusive. Treatment initiation causes a rapid decline in VL which continues at a slower rate until HIV-1 RNA reaches a level around 3 copies/mL (Maldarelli et al., 2007, Palmer et al., 2008). In line with the kinetics of viral decay, our systematic review showed that patients who had been on suppressive ART for less than two years experienced LLV more frequently than those on longer duration of treatment (Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012, Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010). Hints of this notion were also demonstrated in isolated cases of our observational cohort with residual viraemia.

The terms of low level and residual viraemia have been widely used to stratify HIV-1 RNA levels, but their definitions vary significantly in literature. Our systematic review included 15 studies and the proportion of patients with LLV was between 6% and 77%. We adapted a threshold of 10 copies/mL to distinguish between the two entities, because the risk of viral rebound starts to increase gradually around this cut-off in proportion with the level of viraemia (Doyle et al., 2012, Maggiolo et al., 2012, Pugliese et al., 2013, Ryscavage et al., 2014). Residual viraemia around 3 copies/mL is clonal and derives from reservoirs established during primary infection (Anderson et al., 2011, Bailey et al., 2006, Buzon et al., 2010, Gianotti et al., 2012, Palmer et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2018). However, higher levels of HIV-1 RNA may result from additional mechanisms such as ongoing viral replication due to sub-optimal ART penetration at sanctuaries or moderate adherence (Fletcher et al., 2014, Konstantopoulos et al., 2015, Li et al., 2014, Nightingale et al., 2016), and drug resistant mutations (Delaugerre et al., 2012, Mackie et al., 2010, Taiwo et al., 2011).

Consistent with the hypothesis of activation of cellular reservoirs as the source of residual HIV-1 RNA during suppressive ART, our systematic review and our observational study showed that LLV and residual viraemia, respectively, were associated with a larger cellular reservoir as measured by levels of total HIV-1 DNA (Charpentier et al., 2012, Falasca et al., 2017, Leierer et al., 2015, Martin-Blondel et al., 2012, Pascual-Pareja et al., 2010, Reus et

al., 2013). Our review identified that higher pre-ART VL, longer time since HIV-1 diagnosis and advanced clinical stage were more frequently encountered in patients with LLV. These factors reflect a prolonged course of infection prior to treatment initiation resulting in an increased number of cells being infected (Hong and Mellors, 2015, Jain et al., 2013, Maldarelli et al., 2007). In this context, a larger latent reservoir in blood, as indicated with increased total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC, was associated with LLV in one of the included studies (Falasca et al., 2017). Among the population of our observational cohort, one third had residual viraemia around 3 copies/mL and HIV-1 RNA levels in plasma were reproducible at re-sampling. These findings are consistent with previous reports describing clonal expansion of cells harbouring HIV-1 DNA as a probable source of residual virus before being effectively suppressed by ART (Josefsson et al., 2013, Shen and Siliciano, 2008b). These cells may be circulating in peripheral blood as illustrated in our data by the observed association between total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC and residual HIV-1 RNA in plasma (Mullins and Frenkel, 2017).

Virus replication, on the other hand, can be driven by inefficient ART penetration in tissues and decreased adherence. Patients on PI-based regimens or during ART holidays experienced LLV with increased frequency in our systematic review (Falasca et al., 2017, Leierer et al., 2015, Saison et al., 2013). A small proportion of our study patients were on PIs (n=11) and we performed drug levels in plasma on two different occasions in almost half of them which were found optimal. However, PI levels in lymphoid tissues may have been suboptimal and this may have caused some trends (e.g. higher frequency of patients with residual viraemia) seen in the PI group compared to the NNRTI group. A small fraction of EFV samples with detectable HIV-1 RNA in plasma had sub-optimal drug concentration. This observation implies that virus replication may generate residual viraemia in a limited number of patients with sub-optimal treatment and this warrants further investigation.

Sometimes, both mechanisms may co-exist. In our review, we identified an association between enhanced microbial translocation and LLV (Falasca et al., 2017, Reus et al., 2013, Torres et al., 2014). Ongoing residual replication at the sanctuary of GALT causes structural changes and microbial translocation which may activate cells harbouring HIV-1 DNA and trigger immune responses with further local damage in a self-perpetuating manner (Chun et al., 2008, Cory et al., 2013). The interplay of immune activation is much more complex during residual viraemia (Hatano, 2013, Ruggiero et al., 2015, Younas et al., 2016). Increased PD1 expression on memory CD4 and CD8 subsets in our patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA entailed the existence of a pathway with immunoregulatory properties. At first this seemed contradictory to current evidence presenting PD1 as an indicator of immune

exhaustion and viral latency (Blattman et al., 2009, Filaci et al., 2018). However, PD1 expression has also been associated with protective immune mechanisms via different pathways (e.g. interaction with PD-L2) in HIV-1 infection (Dyck and Mills, 2017b, Karunarathne et al., 2016, Locci et al., 2013). Moreover, PD1 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cells may exert opposite effects. It has been suggested that PD1 expression on regulatory CD8 T cells may hamper cytotoxic anti-viral responses against cellular reservoirs (Filaci et al., 2018), whereas on memory CD4 T cells it may reflect increased frequency of Tfh which correlates with broadly neutralizing antibodies to residual virus (Locci et al., 2013). Further work is required to shed light on the role of PD1 as to activation of cellular reservoirs and/or viral replication.

Our systematic review underscored poor inter- and intra-assay repeatability for viraemia around 50 copies/mL (Garcia-Diaz et al., 2013, Hopkins et al., 2015, Ruelle et al., 2012, Swenson et al., 2014). Discrepancies were identified in most studies between the two widely used commercial assays, the TaqMan v2.0 and the RealTime. An explanation could lie with co-amplification of cellular HIV-1 DNA along with HIV-1 RNA with the former platform (Fernandes et al., 2010, Taylor et al., 2013). Residual viraemia is quantified with ultrasensitive assays frequently employing modified protocols of these assays. Hence, technical variation should be factored in when comparing data derived from different platforms.

Taken together these findings, residual viraemia appeared to be mainly the result of transient bursts of virus production which were quickly suppressed by ART. However, virus replication may have been allowed in a small subset of patients due to sub-optimal drug levels or dysregulation of immune checkpoints, such as PD1. In this context, residual viraemia and LLV are generated by similar mechanisms but to a different extent.

In prospective work it would be interesting to investigate if the association between residual viraemia and viral reservoir persists with measurement of HIV-1 DNA in cells harbouring intact viruses lacking fatal defects such as large deletions and hypermutations which are found in the majority of reservoirs. Recently, *Bruner et al.* developed a novel method of quantification of intact HIV-1 DNA load (Intact Proviral DNA Assay, IPDA) which overcomes underestimation issues observed with quantitative viral outgrowth assays (Bruner et al., 2019, Simonetti et al., 2020). Replication-competent HIV-1 DNA appeared to correlate with HIV-1 DNA in total CD4 cells in a cohort of suppressed patients, but treatment duration and history were unknown (Papasavvas et al., 2020). Application of IPDA in our cohort of

carefully selected patients would shed more light as to the degree of ongoing replication contribution to residual viraemia.

Another aspect that warrants further investigation is the unexpected increase of PD1 expression on memory CD4 and CD8 cells in patients with undetectable HIV-1 RNA compared to those with residual HIV-1 RNA presence in plasma. We would wish to confirm this finding in a larger longitudinal cohort including patients on InSTI regimens. The aim would be to better characterise memory CD4 and CD8 subsets by measuring additional checkpoint receptors and surface markers, such as CCRX5 for circulating Tfh and the T cell factor 1 (TCF) which differentiates between terminally exhausted (TCF1-) and self-renewing (TCF1+) T cells (Blank et al., 2019).

The preliminary data of this work and the advancements in knowledge and techniques since I started my studies could lead to exciting future research.

# Appendix

This appendix contains:

- Figure A.1, which depicts HIV-1 RNA level over time in patients with detected viraemia at one or both sample points (Chapter 4)
- Table A.1, which illustrates the variability in the definition of LLV in literature by giving examples of LLV ranges used by different authors (Chapter 2)
- Table A.2, which tabulates changes in the NRTI backbone in our study cohort (Chapter 3)
- Table A.3, which details the steps of the backward selection process of the multivariate analysis and the effect of removing each variable on the model as performed in SPSS version 25 (Chapter 3).

*Figure A.1: Reproducibility of HIV-1 RNA level (copies/mL) in subjects with detected viraemia at one or both sample points.* 



Each line represents an individual. Starting dot at 0 months represents baseline sampling (S0) and finish dot represents second sampling (S1).
First author	LLV range (copies/mL)	Country database		Reference
Dravid	21-999	India	NucliSENS Easy Q real-time nucleic acid sequence- based amplification (NASBA)	(Dravid et al., 2018)
Rupérez	150-999	Mozambique	Abbott m2000 RealTime (0.2 mL sample volume)	(Ruperez et al., 2015)
Chao	75-5,000	California	Kaiser Permanente's laboratory database	(Chao et al., 2012)
Charpentier	21-49	France CAP/CTM v2.0		(Charpentier et al., 2012)

LLV: low level viraemia; VL: viral load; CAP/CTM v2.0: COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 test version 2.0 Table A.2: Changes in the nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors backbone.

No	First combination	Second combination	Reason for 1 <sup>st</sup> change	Third combination	Reason for 2 <sup>nd</sup> change	Forth combination	Reason for 3 <sup>rd</sup> change
1	AZT/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Simplification				
2	ABC/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	CVD risk				
3	ABC/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Low CD4 count				
4	AZT/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Lipodystrophy				
5	AZT/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Low CD4 count				
6	AZT/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Simplification				
7	AZT/3TC/EFV	TDF/FTC/EFV	Update				
8	AZT/3TC/EFV	ABC/3TC/EFV	Update	TDF/FTC/EFV	Hepatitis C infection		
9	AZT/3TC/EFV	ABC/3TC/EFV	Update				
10	AZT/3TC/EFV	DDI/3TC/EFV	Anaemia	TDF/3TC/EFV	Lipodystrophy	TDF/FTC/EFV	Hypercholesterolaemia
11	AZT/3TC/LPV/r	AZT/ABC/LPV/r	Neuropathy	AZT/ABC/DRV/r	Diarrhoea		
12	AZT/3TC/SQN	AZT/3TC/ATV/r	Hypercholesterolaemia	ABC/3TC/ATV/r	Lipodystrophy		

AZT: zidovudine; 3TC: lamivudine; EFV: efavirenz; TDF: tenofovir; FTC: emtricitabine; ABC: abacavir; CVD: cardio-vascular disease; DDI: didanosine; LPV: lopinavir; r: ritonavir; DRV: darunavir; SQN: saquinavir: ATV: atazanavir

Table A.3: Steps of the backward selection process of the multivariate analysis and the effect of removing each variable on the model.

Step No	Independent variables	Odds ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
1	A	0.00	0.00.1.00	0.250
	Age	0.96	0.89-1.03	0.258
	Third agent (PI vs. NNRTI)	0.58	0.08-4.27	0.589
	Time from suppression to recruitment	0.89	0.70-1.13	0.349
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	2.79	0.78-9.94	0.114
	CD8	1.04	0.97-1.10	0.267
	PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7+	0.99	0.92-1.06	0.749
	PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.98	0.92-1.04	0.461
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	0.92-1.02	0.213
2	Age	0.96	0.89-1.03	0.233
	Third agent (PI vs. NNRTI)	0.54	0.08-3.88	0.543
	Time from suppression to recruitment	0.89	0.70-1.14	0.359
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	2.85	0.80-10.12	0.106
	CD8	1.04	0.97-1.10	0.268
	PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	0.93-1.02	0.199
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	0.92-1.02	0.175
3	Age	0.96	0.89-1.03	0.253
	Time from suppression to recruitment	0.91	0.72-1.14	0.400
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	2.34	0.78-6.99	0.127
	CD8	1.04	0.98-1.11	0.245
	PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.98	0.94-1.02	0.243
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	0.92-1.02	0.187
4	Age	0.95	0.87-1.00	0.093
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	2.52	0.86-7.40	0.093
	CD8	1.04	0.98-1.11	0.236
	PD1 on CD8+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.98	0.94-1.02	0.250
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.97	0.92-1.01	0.153
5	Age	0.94	0.88-1.00	0.054
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	2.37	0.82-6.80	0.109

Step No	Independent variables	Odds ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
	CD8	1.04	0.98-1.11	0.192
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.95	0.91-0.99	0.032
6	Age	0.95	0.89-1.01	0.072
	Total HIV-1 DNA in PBMC	3.42	1.32-8.83	0.011
	PD1 on CD4+/CD45RA-/CCR7-	0.96	0.93-1.00	0.050

CI: confidence interval; PI: protease inhibitor; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor

## References

- ABBOTT. 2018. *RealTime HIV-1 Viral Load* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.molecular.abbott/int/en/products/infectious-disease/realtime-hiv-1-viral-load</u> [Accessed].
- ACHHRA, A. C., MWASAKIFWA, G., AMIN, J. & BOYD, M. A. 2016. Efficacy and safety of contemporary dual-drug antiretroviral regimens as first-line treatment or as a simplification strategy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet HIV*, **3**, e351-e360.
- ACOSTA, E. P., LIMOLI, K. L., TRINH, L., PARKIN, N. T., KING, J. R., WEIDLER, J. M., OFOTOKUN, I. & PETROPOULOS, C. J. 2012. Novel method to assess antiretroviral target trough concentrations using in vitro susceptibility data. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 56, 5938-5945.
- AGATA, Y., KAWASAKI, A., NISHIMURA, H., ISHIDA, Y., TSUBATA, T., YAGITA, H. & HONJO, T. 1996. Expression of the PD-1 antigen on the surface of stimulated mouse T and B lymphocytes. *Int Immunol*, **8**, 765-72.
- AHMED, R. & GRAY, D. 1996. Immunological memory and protective immunity: understanding their relation. *Science*, 272, 54-60.
- AIDSINFO. 2019. FDA-Approved HIV Medicines [Online]. Available: <u>https://aidsinfo.nih.gov/understanding-hiv-aids/fact-sheets/21/58/fda-approved-hiv-medicines</u> [Accessed 30/05/2019].
- AKHMETZYANOVA, I., DRABCZYK, M., NEFF, C. P., GIBBERT, K., DIETZE, K. K., WERNER, T., LIU, J., CHEN, L., LANG, K. S., PALMER, B. E., DITTMER, U. & ZELINSKYY, G. 2015. PD-L1 Expression on Retrovirus-Infected Cells Mediates Immune Escape from CD8+ T Cell Killing. *PLoS pathogens*, 11, e1005224-e1005224.
- ALLERS, K. & SCHNEIDER, T. 2015. CCR5Delta32 mutation and HIV infection: basis for curative HIV therapy. *Curr Opin Virol*, 14, 24-9.
- AMANCHA, P. K., HONG, J. J., ROGERS, K., ANSARI, A. A. & VILLINGER, F. 2013. In vivo blockade of the programmed cell death-1 pathway using soluble recombinant PD-1-Fc enhances CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses but has limited clinical benefit. *J Immunol*, 191, 6060-70.
- AMENDOLA, A., BLOISI, M., MARSELLA, P., SABATINI, R., BIBBO, A., ANGELETTI, C. & CAPOBIANCHI, M. R. 2011. Standardization and performance evaluation of "modified" and "ultrasensitive" versions of the Abbott RealTime HIV-1 assay, adapted to quantify minimal residual viremia. *J Clin Virol*, 52, 17-22.
- AMENDOLA, A., MARSELLA, P., BLOISI, M., FORBICI, F., ANGELETTI, C. & CAPOBIANCHI, M.
   R. 2014. Ability of two commercially available assays (Abbott RealTime HIV-1 and Roche Cobas AmpliPrep/Cobas TaqMan HIV-1 Version 2.0) to quantify low HIV-1
   RNA Levels (<1,000 copies/milliliter): comparison with clinical samples and NIBSC working reagent for nucleic acid testing assays. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 52, 2019-2026.
- ANANWORANICH, J., CHOMONT, N., ELLER, L. A., KROON, E., TOVANABUTRA, S., BOSE, M., NAU, M., FLETCHER, J. L. K., TIPSUK, S., VANDERGEETEN, C., O'CONNELL, R. J., PINYAKORN, S., MICHAEL, N., PHANUPHAK, N. & ROBB, M. L. 2016. HIV DNA Set Point is Rapidly Established in Acute HIV Infection and Dramatically Reduced by Early ART. *EBioMedicine*, 11, 68-72.

- ANDERSON, J. A., ARCHIN, N. M., INCE, W., PARKER, D., WIEGAND, A., COFFIN, J. M., KURUC, J., ERON, J., SWANSTROM, R. & MARGOLIS, D. M. 2011. Clonal sequences recovered from plasma from patients with residual HIV-1 viremia and on intensified antiretroviral therapy are identical to replicating viral RNAs recovered from circulating resting CD4+ T cells. J Virol, 85, 5220-3.
- ANGLEMYER, A., RUTHERFORD, G. W., EGGER, M. & SIEGFRIED, N. 2011. Antiretroviral therapy for prevention of HIV transmission in HIV-discordant couples. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd009153.
- APPAY, V. & KELLEHER, A. D. 2016. Immune activation and immune aging in HIV infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 11, 242-9.
- ARCIA, D., ACEVEDO-SÁENZ, L., RUGELES, M. T. & VELILLA, P. A. 2016. Role of CD8+ T Cells in the Selection of HIV-1 Immune Escape Mutations. *Viral Immunology*, 30, 3-12.
- AVETTAND-FENOEL, V., CHAIX, M. L., BLANCHE, S., BURGARD, M., FLOCH, C., TOURE, K., ALLEMON, M. C., WARSZAWSKI, J. & ROUZIOUX, C. 2009. LTR real-time PCR for HIV-1 DNA quantitation in blood cells for early diagnosis in infants born to seropositive mothers treated in HAART area (ANRS CO 01). J Med Virol, 81, 217-23.
- BACHMANN, N., VON SIEBENTHAL, C., VONGRAD, V., TURK, T., NEUMANN, K.,
  BEERENWINKEL, N., BOGOJESKA, J., FELLAY, J., ROTH, V., KOK, Y. L., THORBALL, C.
  W., BORGHESI, A., PARBHOO, S., WIESER, M., BONI, J., PERREAU, M., KLIMKAIT, T.,
  YERLY, S., BATTEGAY, M., RAUCH, A., HOFFMANN, M., BERNASCONI, E.,
  CAVASSINI, M., KOUYOS, R. D., GUNTHARD, H. F. & METZNER, K. J. 2019.
  Determinants of HIV-1 reservoir size and long-term dynamics during suppressive
  ART. Nat Commun, 10, 3193.
- BAILEY, J. R., SEDAGHAT, A. R., KIEFFER, T., BRENNAN, T., LEE, P. K., WIND-ROTOLO, M., HAGGERTY, C. M., KAMIREDDI, A. R., LIU, Y., LEE, J., PERSAUD, D., GALLANT, J. E., COFRANCESCO, J., JR., QUINN, T. C., WILKE, C. O., RAY, S. C., SILICIANO, J. D., NETTLES, R. E. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2006. Residual human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viremia in some patients on antiretroviral therapy is dominated by a small number of invariant clones rarely found in circulating CD4+ T cells. *J Virol*, 80, 6441-57.
- BAKKOUR, S., DENG, X., BACCHETTI, P., STONE, M., WORLOCK, A., HAUENSTEIN, S., DEEKS,
   S. & BUSCH, M. Replicate Aptima Assay For Quantifying Residual Plasma Viremia In
   Individuals On ART. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections
   (CROI), 2019 Seattle, WA.
- BANGA, R., PROCOPIO, F. A., NOTO, A., POLLAKIS, G., CAVASSINI, M., OHMITI, K., CORPATAUX, J.-M., DE LEVAL, L., PANTALEO, G. & PERREAU, M. 2016. PD-1+ and follicular helper T cells are responsible for persistent HIV-1 transcription in treated aviremic individuals. *Nature Medicine*, 22, 754-761.
- BARBER, D. L., WHERRY, E. J., MASOPUST, D., ZHU, B., ALLISON, J. P., SHARPE, A. H., FREEMAN, G. J. & AHMED, R. 2006. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature*, 439, 682-7.
- BBOSA, N., KALEEBU, P. & SSEMWANGA, D. 2019. HIV subtype diversity worldwide. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 14, 153-160.
- BEARMAN, M. & DAWSON, P. 2013. Qualitative synthesis and systematic review in health professions education. *Med Educ*, 47, 252-60.
- BECCARI, M. V., MOGLE, B. T., SIDMAN, E. F., MASTRO, K. A., ASIAGO-REDDY, E. & KUFEL,
   W. D. 2019. Ibalizumab, a Novel Monoclonal Antibody for the Management of
   Multidrug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 63.
- BEDIMO, R., ROSENBLATT, L. & MYERS, J. 2016. Systematic review of renal and bone safety of the antiretroviral regimen efavirenz, emtricitabine, and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in patients with HIV infection. *HIV Clin Trials*, 17, 246-266.

- BELLO, G., VELASCO-DE-CASTRO, C. A., BONGERTZ, V., RODRIGUES, C. A., GIACOIA-GRIPP,
   C. B., PILOTTO, J. H., GRINSZTEJN, B., VELOSO, V. G. & MORGADO, M. G. 2009.
   Immune activation and antibody responses in non-progressing elite controller
   individuals infected with HIV-1. J Med Virol, 81, 1681-90.
- BERNAL, E., GOMEZ, J. M., JARRIN, I., CANO, A., MUNOZ, A., ALCARAZ, A., IMAZ, A.,
   IRIBARREN, J. A., RIVERO, M., ARAZO, P. & GUTIERREZ, F. 2018. Low-Level Viremia Is Associated With Clinical Progression in HIV-Infected Patients Receiving Antiretroviral Treatment. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 78, 329-337.
- BEVAN, M. J. & GOLDRATH, A. W. 2000. T-cell memory: You must remember this. *Curr Biol*, 10, R338-40.
- BHAGAVAN, N. V. & HA, C.-E. 2015. Chapter 22 DNA Replication, Repair, and Mutagenesis. In: BHAGAVAN, N. V. & HA, C.-E. (eds.) Essentials of Medical Biochemistry (Second Edition). San Diego: Academic Press.
- BHIVA. 2019. BHIVA guidelines for the routine investigation and monitoring of adult HIV-1positiveindividuals (2019 interim update) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.bhiva.org/file/DqZbRxfzlYtLg/Monitoring-Guidelines.pdf</u> [Accessed 10/03/2019].
- BLANCO, J. L., VARGHESE, V., RHEE, S. Y., GATELL, J. M. & SHAFER, R. W. 2011. HIV-1 integrase inhibitor resistance and its clinical implications. *J Infect Dis*, 203, 1204-14.
- BLANK, C. U., HAINING, W. N., HELD, W., HOGAN, P. G., KALLIES, A., LUGLI, E., LYNN, R. C., PHILIP, M., RAO, A., RESTIFO, N. P., SCHIETINGER, A., SCHUMACHER, T. N., SCHWARTZBERG, P. L., SHARPE, A. H., SPEISER, D. E., WHERRY, E. J., YOUNGBLOOD, B. A. & ZEHN, D. 2019. Defining 'T cell exhaustion'. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 19, 665-674.
- BLATTMAN, J. N., WHERRY, E. J., HA, S. J., VAN DER MOST, R. G. & AHMED, R. 2009. Impact of epitope escape on PD-1 expression and CD8 T-cell exhaustion during chronic infection. *J Virol*, 83, 4386-94.
- BOENDER, T. S., SIGALOFF, K. C., MCMAHON, J. H., KIERTIBURANAKUL, S., JORDAN, M. R., BARCAROLO, J., FORD, N., RINKE DE WIT, T. F. & BERTAGNOLIO, S. 2015. Long-term Virological Outcomes of First-Line Antiretroviral Therapy for HIV-1 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clin Infect Dis*, 61, 1453-61.
- BOILLAT-BLANCO, N., DARLING, K. E., SCHONI-AFFOLTER, F., VUICHARD, D., ROUGEMONT,
  M., FULCHINI, R., BERNASCONI, E., AOURI, M., CLERC, O., FURRER, H., GUNTHARD,
  H. F. & CAVASSINI, M. 2015. Virological outcome and management of persistent
  low-level viraemia in HIV-1-infected patients: 11 years of the Swiss HIV Cohort
  Study. Antivir Ther, 20, 165-75.
- BONI, C., FISICARO, P., VALDATTA, C., AMADEI, B., DI VINCENZO, P., GIUBERTI, T., LACCABUE, D., ZERBINI, A., CAVALLI, A., MISSALE, G., BERTOLETTI, A. & FERRARI, C.
  2007. Characterization of hepatitis B virus (HBV)-specific T-cell dysfunction in chronic HBV infection. J Virol, 81, 4215-25.
- BONI, J., OPRAVIL, M., TOMASIK, Z., ROTHEN, M., BISSET, L., GROB, P. J., LUTHY, R. & SCHUPBACH, J. 1997. Simple monitoring of antiretroviral therapy with a signalamplification-boosted HIV-1 p24 antigen assay with heat-denatured plasma. *Aids*, 11, F47-52.
- BONORA, S., NICASTRI, E., CALCAGNO, A., GONZALEZ DE REQUENA, D., D'ETTORRE, G., SARMATI, L., PALMISANO, L., VULLO, V., DI PERRI, G. & ANDREONI, M. 2009. Ultrasensitive assessment of residual HIV viraemia in HAART-treated patients with persistently undetectable plasma HIV-RNA: a cross-sectional evaluation. *J Med Virol*, 81, 400-5.

- BORROW, P., LEWICKI, H., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M. & OLDSTONE, M. B. 1994. Virusspecific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Journal of virology*, 68, 6103-6110.
- BOYER, Z. & PALMER, S. 2018. Targeting Immune Checkpoint Molecules to Eliminate Latent HIV. *Front Immunol*, 9, 2339.
- BOZZI, G., SIMONETTI, F. R., WATTERS, S. A., ANDERSON, E. M., GOUZOULIS, M., KEARNEY, M. F., ROTE, P., LANGE, C., SHAO, W., GORELICK, R., FULLMER, B., KUMAR, S., WANK, S., HEWITT, S., KLEINER, D. E., HATTORI, J., BALE, M. J., HILL, S., BELL, J., REHM, C., GROSSMAN, Z., YARCHOAN, R., ULDRICK, T. & MALDARELLI, F. 2019. No evidence of ongoing HIV replication or compartmentalization in tissues during combination antiretroviral therapy: Implications for HIV eradication. *Sci Adv*, 5, eaav2045.
- BRENCHLEY, J. M., SCHACKER, T. W., RUFF, L. E., PRICE, D. A., TAYLOR, J. H., BEILMAN, G. J., NGUYEN, P. L., KHORUTS, A., LARSON, M., HAASE, A. T. & DOUEK, D. C. 2004. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med, 200, 749-59.
- BRENNAN, T. P., WOODS, J. O., SEDAGHAT, A. R., SILICIANO, J. D., SILICIANO, R. F. & WILKE, C. O. 2009. Analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viremia and provirus in resting CD4+ T cells reveals a novel source of residual viremia in patients on antiretroviral therapy. J Virol, 83, 8470-81.
- BRETSCHER, P. A. 1999. A two-step, two-signal model for the primary activation of precursor helper T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 185-90.
- BRITISH COLUMBIA CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN HIV/AIDS. 2015. Therapeutic Guidelines forAntiretroviral (ARV) Treatmentof Adult HIV Infection [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.cfenet.ubc.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/Guidelines/bccfe-art-guidelines-Oct 14 2015.pdf</u> [Accessed 10/03/2019].
- BRUNER, K. M., WANG, Z., SIMONETTI, F. R., BENDER, A. M., KWON, K. J., SENGUPTA, S., FRAY, E. J., BEG, S. A., ANTAR, A. A. R., JENIKE, K. M., BERTAGNOLLI, L. N., CAPOFERRI, A. A., KUFERA, J. T., TIMMONS, A., NOBLES, C., GREGG, J., WADA, N., HO, Y. C., ZHANG, H., MARGOLICK, J. B., BLANKSON, J. N., DEEKS, S. G., BUSHMAN, F. D., SILICIANO, J. D., LAIRD, G. M. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2019. A quantitative approach for measuring the reservoir of latent HIV-1 proviruses. *Nature*, 566, 120-125.
- BUTTE, M. J., KEIR, M. E., PHAMDUY, T. B., SHARPE, A. H. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2007. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. *Immunity*, 27, 111-22.
- BUZON, M. J., MASSANELLA, M., LLIBRE, J. M., ESTEVE, A., DAHL, V., PUERTAS, M. C., GATELL, J. M., DOMINGO, P., PAREDES, R., SHARKEY, M., PALMER, S., STEVENSON, M., CLOTET, B., BLANCO, J. & MARTINEZ-PICADO, J. 2010. HIV-1 replication and immune dynamics are affected by raltegravir intensification of HAART-suppressed subjects. *Nat Med*, 16, 460-5.
- CAHN, P., FINK, V. & PATTERSON, P. 2018. Fostemsavir: a new CD4 attachment inhibitor. 13, 341-345.
- CAI, G., KARNI, A., OLIVEIRA, E. M., WEINER, H. L., HAFLER, D. A. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2004. PD-1 ligands, negative regulators for activation of naive, memory, and recently activated human CD4+ T cells. *Cell Immunol*, 230, 89-98.
- CALZA, L., CAFAGGI, M., COLANGELI, V., BORDERI, M., BARCHI, E., LANZAFAME, M., NICOLE, S., DEGLI ANTONI, A. M., BON, I., RE, M. C. & VIALE, P. 2018. Simplification to dual-therapy containing lamivudine and darunavir/ritonavir or

atazanavir/ritonavir in HIV-infected patients on virologically suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Infect Dis (Lond),* 50, 352-360.

- CAMPBELL, E. M. & HOPE, T. J. 2015. HIV-1 capsid: the multifaceted key player in HIV-1 infection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 13, 471-483.
- CHAILLON, A., GIANELLA, S., LADA, S. M., PEREZ-SANTIAGO, J., JORDAN, P., IGNACIO, C., KARRIS, M., RICHMAN, D. D., MEHTA, S. R., LITTLE, S. J., WERTHEIM, J. O. & SMITH, D. M. 2018. Size, Composition, and Evolution of HIV DNA Populations during Early Antiretroviral Therapy and Intensification with Maraviroc. *J Virol*, 92.
- CHAO, C., TANG, B., HURLEY, L., SILVERBERG, M. J., TOWNER, W., PRECIADO, M. & HORBERG, M. 2012. Risk factors for short-term virologic outcomes among HIVinfected patients undergoing regimen switch of combination antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 28, 1630-6.
- CHARPENTIER, C., LANDMAN, R., LAOUENAN, C., JOLY, V., HAMET, G., DAMOND, F., BRUN-VEZINET, F., MENTRE, F., DESCAMPS, D. & YENI, P. 2012. Persistent low-level HIV-1 RNA between 20 and 50 copies/mL in antiretroviral-treated patients: associated factors and virological outcome. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 67, 2231-5.
- CHEN, H., MOUSSA, M. & CATALFAMO, M. 2020. The Role of Immunomodulatory Receptors in the Pathogenesis of HIV Infection: A Therapeutic Opportunity for HIV Cure? *Frontiers in immunology*, 11, 1223-1223.
- CHO, H. Y., LEE, S. W., SEO, S. K., CHOI, I. W., CHOI, I. & LEE, S. W. 2008. Interferonsensitive response element (ISRE) is mainly responsible for IFN-alpha-induced upregulation of programmed death-1 (PD-1) in macrophages. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1779, 811-9.
- CHOMONT, N., EL-FAR, M., ANCUTA, P., TRAUTMANN, L., PROCOPIO, F. A., YASSINE-DIAB,
  B., BOUCHER, G., BOULASSEL, M. R., GHATTAS, G., BRENCHLEY, J. M., SCHACKER, T.
  W., HILL, B. J., DOUEK, D. C., ROUTY, J. P., HADDAD, E. K. & SEKALY, R. P. 2009. HIV
  reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic
  proliferation. *Nat Med*, 15, 893-900.
- CHUN, T. W., JUSTEMENT, J. S., MURRAY, D., HALLAHAN, C. W., MAENZA, J., COLLIER, A. C., SHETH, P. M., KAUL, R., OSTROWSKI, M., MOIR, S., KOVACS, C. & FAUCI, A. S. 2010. Rebound of plasma viremia following cessation of antiretroviral therapy despite profoundly low levels of HIV reservoir: implications for eradication. *Aids*, 24, 2803-8.
- CHUN, T. W., MURRAY, D., JUSTEMENT, J. S., HALLAHAN, C. W., MOIR, S., KOVACS, C. & FAUCI, A. S. 2011. Relationship between residual plasma viremia and the size of HIV proviral DNA reservoirs in infected individuals receiving effective antiretroviral therapy. *J Infect Dis*, 204, 135-8.
- CHUN, T. W., NICKLE, D. C., JUSTEMENT, J. S., MEYERS, J. H., ROBY, G., HALLAHAN, C. W., KOTTILIL, S., MOIR, S., MICAN, J. M., MULLINS, J. I., WARD, D. J., KOVACS, J. A., MANNON, P. J. & FAUCI, A. S. 2008. Persistence of HIV in gut-associated lymphoid tissue despite long-term antiretroviral therapy. *J Infect Dis*, 197, 714-20.
- CHUN, T. W., STUYVER, L., MIZELL, S. B., EHLER, L. A., MICAN, J. A., BASELER, M., LLOYD, A. L., NOWAK, M. A. & FAUCI, A. S. 1997. Presence of an inducible HIV-1 latent reservoir during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 13193-7.
- CHURCHILL, D. & WEBER, J. 1999. Measurement of plasma HIV viral load--clinical applications. J Infect, 38, 147-50.
- CILLO, A. R., VAGRATIAN, D., BEDISON, M. A., ANDERSON, E. M., KEARNEY, M. F., FYNE, E., KOONTZ, D., COFFIN, J. M., PIATAK, M., JR. & MELLORS, J. W. 2014. Improved single-copy assays for quantification of persistent HIV-1 viremia in patients on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *J Clin Microbiol*, 52, 3944-51.

- CLSI 2012. Evaluation of Detection Capability for Clinical Laboratory Measurement Procedures. Approved Guideline—Second Edition. CLSI Document EP17-A2. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- COHEN, C. J., MOLINA, J. M., CASSETTI, I., CHETCHOTISAKD, P., LAZZARIN, A., ORKIN, C., RHAME, F., STELLBRINK, H. J., LI, T., CRAUWELS, H., RIMSKY, L., VANVEGGEL, S., WILLIAMS, P. & BOVEN, K. 2013. Week 96 efficacy and safety of rilpivirine in treatment-naive, HIV-1 patients in two Phase III randomized trials. *Aids*, 27, 939-50.
- COHN, L. B., SILVA, I. T., OLIVEIRA, T. Y., ROSALES, R. A., PARRISH, E. H., LEARN, G. H., HAHN, B. H., CZARTOSKI, J. L., MCELRATH, M. J., LEHMANN, C., KLEIN, F., CASKEY, M., WALKER, B. D., SILICIANO, J. D., SILICIANO, R. F., JANKOVIC, M. & NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. 2015. HIV-1 integration landscape during latent and active infection. *Cell*, 160, 420-32.
- COLLINS, D. R., GAIHA, G. D. & WALKER, B. D. 2020. CD8+ T cells in HIV control, cure and prevention. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 20, 471-482.
- COLLINS, M. L., IRVINE, B., TYNER, D., FINE, E., ZAYATI, C., CHANG, C., HORN, T., AHLE, D., DETMER, J., SHEN, L. P., KOLBERG, J., BUSHNELL, S., URDEA, M. S. & HO, D. D. 1997. A branched DNA signal amplification assay for quantification of nucleic acid targets below 100 molecules/ml. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 25, 2979-84.
- COLOMBIER, M. A. & MOLINA, J. M. 2018. Doravirine: a review. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 13, 308-314.
- CONRAD, J. A., RAMALINGAM, R. K., SMITH, R. M., BARNETT, L., LOREY, S. L., WEI, J., SIMONS, B. C., SADAGOPAL, S., MEYER-OLSON, D. & KALAMS, S. A. 2011. Dominant clonotypes within HIV-specific T cell responses are programmed death-1high and CD127low and display reduced variant cross-reactivity. *J Immunol*, 186, 6871-85.
- COOK, M. R. & KIM, C. 2019. Safety and Efficacy of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Therapy in Patients With HIV Infection and Advanced-Stage Cancer: A Systematic Review. *JAMA Oncol*, 5, 1049-1054.
- CORY, T. J., SCHACKER, T. W., STEVENSON, M. & FLETCHER, C. V. 2013. Overcoming pharmacologic sanctuaries. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 8, 190-5.
- COUTURIER, J., SULIBURK, J. W., BROWN, J. M., LUKE, D. J., AGARWAL, N., YU, X., NGUYEN, C., IYER, D., KOZINETZ, C. A., OVERBEEK, P. A., METZKER, M. L., BALASUBRAMANYAM, A. & LEWIS, D. E. 2015. Human adipose tissue as a reservoir for memory CD4+ T cells and HIV. *Aids*, 29, 667-74.
- COX, M. A., NECHANITZKY, R. & MAK, T. W. 2017. Check point inhibitors as therapies for infectious diseases. *Curr Opin Immunol,* 48, 61-67.
- CRAIGIE, R. 2012. The molecular biology of HIV integrase. *Future virology*, 7, 679-686.
- CREPAZ, N., BAACK, B. N., HIGA, D. H. & MULLINS, M. M. 2015. Effects of integrated interventions on transmission risk and care continuum outcomes in persons living with HIV: meta-analysis, 1996-2014. *Aids*, 29, 2371-83.
- D'SOUZA, M., FONTENOT, A. P., MACK, D. G., LOZUPONE, C., DILLON, S., MEDITZ, A., WILSON, C. C., CONNICK, E. & PALMER, B. E. 2007. Programmed death 1 expression on HIV-specific CD4+ T cells is driven by viral replication and associated with T cell dysfunction. *J Immunol*, 179, 1979-87.
- DARCIS, G., MAES, N., PASTERNAK, A. O., SAUVAGE, A.-S., FRIPPIAT, F., MEURIS, C., UURLINGS, F., LECOMTE, M., LÉONARD, P., ELMOUSSAOUI, M., FOMBELLIDA, K., VAIRA, D. & MOUTSCHEN, M. 2020. Detectability of HIV Residual Viremia despite Therapy Is Highly Associated with Treatment with a Protease Inhibitor-Based Combination Antiretroviral Therapy. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 64, e01902-19.

- DARCIS, G. & MOUTSCHEN, M. 2017. The effect of treatment simplification on HIV reservoirs. *Lancet HIV*, 4, e328-e329.
- DAY, C. L., KAUFMANN, D. E., KIEPIELA, P., BROWN, J. A., MOODLEY, E. S., REDDY, S., MACKEY, E. W., MILLER, J. D., LESLIE, A. J., DEPIERRES, C., MNCUBE, Z., DURAISWAMY, J., ZHU, B., EICHBAUM, Q., ALTFELD, M., WHERRY, E. J., COOVADIA, H. M., GOULDER, P. J., KLENERMAN, P., AHMED, R., FREEMAN, G. J. & WALKER, B.
  D. 2006. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature*, 443, 350-4.
- DE MENDOZA, C. & SORIANO, V. 2009. Update on HIV viral-load assays: new technologies and testing in resource-limited settings. *Future Virology*, **4**, 423-430.
- DE SCHEERDER, M.-A., VRANCKEN, B., DELLICOUR, S., SCHLUB, T., LEE, E., SHAO, W., RUTSAERT, S., VERHOFSTEDE, C., KERRE, T., MALFAIT, T., HEMELSOET, D., COPPENS, M., DHONDT, A., DE LOOZE, D., VERMASSEN, F., LEMEY, P., PALMER, S. & VANDEKERCKHOVE, L. 2019. HIV Rebound Is Predominantly Fueled by Genetically Identical Viral Expansions from Diverse Reservoirs. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 26, 347-358.e7.
- DEEKS, S. G., LEWIN, S. R., ROSS, A. L., ANANWORANICH, J., BENKIRANE, M., CANNON, P., CHOMONT, N., DOUEK, D., LIFSON, J. D., LO, Y.-R., KURITZKES, D., MARGOLIS, D., MELLORS, J., PERSAUD, D., TUCKER, J. D., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F., INTERNATIONAL, A.
  S. T. A. C. W. G., ALTER, G., AUERBACH, J., AUTRAN, B., BAROUCH, D. H., BEHRENS, G., CAVAZZANA, M., CHEN, Z., COHEN, É. A., CORBELLI, G. M., EHOLIÉ, S., EYAL, N., FIDLER, S., GARCIA, L., GROSSMAN, C., HENDERSON, G., HENRICH, T. J., JEFFERYS, R., KIEM, H.-P., MCCUNE, J., MOODLEY, K., NEWMAN, P. A., NIJHUIS, M., NSUBUGA, M. S., OTT, M., PALMER, S., RICHMAN, D., SAEZ-CIRION, A., SHARP, M., SILICIANO, J., SILVESTRI, G., SINGH, J., SPIRE, B., TAYLOR, J., TOLSTRUP, M., VALENTE, S., VAN LUNZEN, J., WALENSKY, R., WILSON, I. & ZACK, J. 2016. International AIDS Society global scientific strategy: towards an HIV cure 2016. *Nature medicine*, 22, 839-850.
- DEEKS, S. G., OVERBAUGH, J., PHILLIPS, A. & BUCHBINDER, S. 2015. HIV infection. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 1, 15035.
- DEIMAN, B., VAN AARLE, P. & SILLEKENS, P. 2002. Characteristics and applications of nucleic acid sequence-based amplification (NASBA). *Mol Biotechnol*, 20, 163-79.
- DELANEY, K. P., HANSON, D. L., MASCIOTRA, S., ETHRIDGE, S. F., WESOLOWSKI, L. & OWEN, S. M. 2016. Time Until Emergence of HIV Test Reactivity Following Infection With HIV-1: Implications for Interpreting Test Results and Retesting After Exposure. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 64, 53-59.
- DELANEY, M. K., MALIKOV, V., CHAI, Q., ZHAO, G. & NAGHAVI, M. H. 2017. Distinct functions of diaphanous-related formins regulate HIV-1 uncoating and transport. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114, E6932-E6941.
- DELAUGERRE, C., GALLIEN, S., FLANDRE, P., MATHEZ, D., AMARSY, R., FERRET, S., TIMSIT, J., MOLINA, J. M. & DE TRUCHIS, P. 2012. Impact of low-level-viremia on HIV-1 drug-resistance evolution among antiretroviral treated-patients. *PLoS One*, **7**, e36673.
- DELVIKS-FRANKENBERRY, K., GALLI, A., NIKOLAITCHIK, O., MENS, H., PATHAK, V. K. & HU, W. S. 2011. Mechanisms and factors that influence high frequency retroviral recombination. *Viruses*, **3**, 1650-80.
- DHHS. 2018. Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents Living with HIV [Online]. Available: <u>https://aidsinfo.nih.gov/guidelines/html/1/adult-and-adolescent-arv/15/virologic-failure</u> [Accessed 10/03/2019].

- DI MASCIO, M., MARKOWITZ, M., LOUIE, M., HOGAN, C., HURLEY, A., CHUNG, C., HO, D. D. & PERELSON, A. S. 2003. Viral blip dynamics during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of virology*, 77, 12165-12172.
- DI MASCIO, M., SRINIVASULA, S., BHATTACHARJEE, A., CHENG, L., MARTINIOVA, L., HERSCOVITCH, P., LERTORA, J. & KIESEWETTER, D. 2009. Antiretroviral tissue kinetics: in vivo imaging using positron emission tomography. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 53, 4086-95.
- DIB, C., FAURE, S., FIZAMES, C., SAMSON, D., DROUOT, N., VIGNAL, A., MILLASSEAU, P., MARC, S., HAZAN, J., SEBOUN, E., LATHROP, M., GYAPAY, G., MORISSETTE, J. & WEISSENBACH, J. 1996. A comprehensive genetic map of the human genome based on 5,264 microsatellites. *Nature*, 380, 152-4.
- DICKINSON, L., ROBINSON, L., TJIA, J., KHOO, S. & BACK, D. 2005. Simultaneous determination of HIV protease inhibitors amprenavir, atazanavir, indinavir, lopinavir, nelfinavir, ritonavir and saquinavir in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci*, 829, 82-90.
- DINOSO, J. B., KIM, S. Y., WIEGAND, A. M., PALMER, S. E., GANGE, S. J., CRANMER, L.,
  O'SHEA, A., CALLENDER, M., SPIVAK, A., BRENNAN, T., KEARNEY, M. F., PROSCHAN,
  M. A., MICAN, J. M., REHM, C. A., COFFIN, J. M., MELLORS, J. W., SILICIANO, R. F. &
  MALDARELLI, F. 2009. Treatment intensification does not reduce residual HIV-1
  viremia in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 9403-8.
- DO, T., DUNCAN, J., BUTCHER, A. & LIEGLER, T. 2011. Comparative frequencies of HIV lowlevel viremia between real-time viral load assays at clinically relevant thresholds. *J Clin Virol*, 52 Suppl 1, S83-9.
- DONG, H., ZHU, G., TAMADA, K. & CHEN, L. 1999. B7-H1, a third member of the B7 family, co-stimulates T-cell proliferation and interleukin-10 secretion. *Nat Med*, *5*, 1365-9.
- DORNADULA, G., ZHANG, H., VANUITERT, B., STERN, J., LIVORNESE, L., JR., INGERMAN, M. J., WITEK, J., KEDANIS, R. J., NATKIN, J., DESIMONE, J. & POMERANTZ, R. J. 1999. Residual HIV-1 RNA in blood plasma of patients taking suppressive highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Jama*, 282, 1627-32.
- DOUGAN, S., PATEL, B., TOSSWILL, J. H. & SINKA, K. 2005. Diagnoses of HIV-1 and HIV-2 in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland associated with west Africa. *Sex Transm Infect*, 81, 338-41.
- DOYLE, T., DUNN, D. T., CECCHERINI-SILBERSTEIN, F., DE MENDOZA, C., GARCIA, F., SMIT, E., FEARNHILL, E., MARCELIN, A. G., MARTINEZ-PICADO, J., KAISER, R. & GERETTI, A. M. 2015. Integrase inhibitor (INI) genotypic resistance in treatment-naive and raltegravir-experienced patients infected with diverse HIV-1 clades. J Antimicrob Chemother, 70, 3080-6.
- DOYLE, T. & GERETTI, A. M. 2012. Low-level viraemia on HAART: significance and management. *Curr Opin Infect Dis,* 25, 17-25.
- DOYLE, T., SMITH, C., VITIELLO, P., CAMBIANO, V., JOHNSON, M., OWEN, A., PHILLIPS, A. N. & GERETTI, A. M. 2012. Plasma HIV-1 RNA detection below 50 copies/ml and risk of virologic rebound in patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Infect Dis*, 54, 724-32.
- DRAVID, A. N., NATRAJAN, K., KULKARNI, M. M., SARAF, C. K., MAHAJAN, U. S., KORE, S. D., RATHOD, N. M., MAHAJAN, U. S. & WADIA, R. S. 2018. Discordant CSF/plasma HIV-1 RNA in individuals on virologically suppressive antiretroviral therapy in Western India. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 97, e9969.
- DUNN, B. M., GOODENOW, M. M., GUSTCHINA, A. & WLODAWER, A. 2002. Retroviral proteases. *Genome biology*, **3**, REVIEWS3006-REVIEWS3006.

- DYCK, L. & MILLS, K. H. G. 2017a. Immune checkpoints and their inhibition in cancer and infectious diseases. *European Journal of Immunology*, 47, 765-779.
- DYCK, L. & MILLS, K. H. G. 2017b. Immune checkpoints and their inhibition in cancer and infectious diseases. *Eur J Immunol,* 47, 765-779.
- EACS. 2018. *Guidelines Version 9.1 October 2018* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.eacsociety.org/files/2018\_guidelines-9.1-english.pdf</u> [Accessed 10/03/2019].
- EASTERBROOK, P. J., IVES, N., WATERS, A., MULLEN, J., O'SHEA, S., PETERS, B. & GAZZARD, B. G. 2002. The natural history and clinical significance of intermittent viraemia in patients with initial viral suppression to < 400 copies/ml. *Aids*, 16, 1521-7.
- ECHECOPAR-SABOGAL, J., D'ANGELO-PIAGGIO, L., CHANAME-BACA, D. M. & UGARTE-GIL, C. 2018. Association between the use of protease inhibitors in highly active antiretroviral therapy and incidence of diabetes mellitus and/or metabolic syndrome in HIV-infected patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J STD AIDS*, 29, 443-452.
- EIVAZI, S., BAGHERI, S., HASHEMZADEH, M. S., GHALAVAND, M., QAMSARI, E. S., DOROSTKAR, R. & YASEMI, M. 2016. Development of T follicular helper cells and their role in disease and immune system. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 84, 1668-1678.
- ENGELMAN, A. & CHEREPANOV, P. 2012. The structural biology of HIV-1: mechanistic and therapeutic insights. *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, 10, 279-290.
- ESTES, J. D., KITYO, C., SSALI, F., SWAINSON, L., MAKAMDOP, K. N., DEL PRETE, G. Q., DEEKS, S. G., LUCIW, P. A., CHIPMAN, J. G., BEILMAN, G. J., HOSKULDSSON, T., KHORUTS, A., ANDERSON, J., DELEAGE, C., JASURDA, J., SCHMIDT, T. E., HAFERTEPE, M., CALLISTO, S. P., PEARSON, H., REIMANN, T., SCHUSTER, J., SCHOEPHOERSTER, J., SOUTHERN, P., PERKEY, K., SHANG, L., WIETGREFE, S. W., FLETCHER, C. V., LIFSON, J. D., DOUEK, D. C., MCCUNE, J. M., HAASE, A. T. & SCHACKER, T. W. 2017. Defining total-body AIDS-virus burden with implications for curative strategies. *Nat Med*, 23, 1271-1276.
- EVANS, V. A., VAN DER SLUIS, R. M., SOLOMON, A., DANTANARAYANA, A., MCNEIL, C., GARSIA, R., PALMER, S., FROMENTIN, R., CHOMONT, N., SÉKALY, R.-P., CAMERON, P. U. & LEWIN, S. R. 2018. Programmed cell death-1 contributes to the establishment and maintenance of HIV-1 latency. *AIDS (London, England)*, 32, 1491-1497.
- FALASCA, F., DI CARLO, D., DE VITO, C., BON, I., D'ETTORRE, G., FANTAUZZI, A.,
   MEZZAROMA, I., FIMIANI, C., RE, M. C., VULLO, V., ANTONELLI, G. & TURRIZIANI, O.
   2017. Evaluation of HIV-DNA and inflammatory markers in HIV-infected individuals with different viral load patterns. *BMC Infect Dis*, 17, 581.
- FARIA, N. R., RAMBAUT, A., SUCHARD, M. A., BAELE, G., BEDFORD, T., WARD, M. J., TATEM,
  A. J., SOUSA, J. D., ARINAMINPATHY, N., PÉPIN, J., POSADA, D., PEETERS, M.,
  PYBUS, O. G. & LEMEY, P. 2014. HIV epidemiology. The early spread and epidemic ignition of HIV-1 in human populations. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 346, 56-61.
- FARMER, A., WANG, X., GANESAN, A., DEISS, R. G., AGAN, B. K., O'BRYAN, T. A., AKERS, K.
   & OKULICZ, J. F. 2016. Factors associated with HIV viral load "blips" and the relationship between self-reported adherence and efavirenz blood levels on blip occurrence: a case-control study. *AIDS Res Ther*, 13, 16.
- FARRELL, R. E. 2010. Chapter 18 RT-PCR: A Science and an Art Form. *In:* FARRELL, R. E. (ed.) *RNA Methodologies (Fourth Edition).* San Diego: Academic Press.
- FDA. 2018. *HIV Timeline and History of Approvals* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.fda.gov/patients/hivaids/hiv-timeline-and-history-approvals</u> [Accessed 29/05/2019].

- FERNANDES, H., MOROSYUK, S., ABRAVAYA, K., RAMANATHAN, M. & RAINEN, L. 2010. Evaluation of Effect of Specimen-Handling Parameters for Plasma Preparation Tubes on Viral Load Measurements Obtained by Using the Abbott RealTi<em&gt;me&lt;/em&gt; HIV-1 Load Assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 48, 2464.
- FIEBIG, E. W., WRIGHT, D. J., RAWAL, B. D., GARRETT, P. E., SCHUMACHER, R. T., PEDDADA,
  L., HELDEBRANT, C., SMITH, R., CONRAD, A., KLEINMAN, S. H. & BUSCH, M. P.
  2003. Dynamics of HIV viremia and antibody seroconversion in plasma donors:
  implications for diagnosis and staging of primary HIV infection. *Aids*, 17, 1871-9.
- FIFE, B. T. & BLUESTONE, J. A. 2008. Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. *Immunol Rev*, 224, 166-82.
- FILACI, G., FENOGLIO, D., TARAMASSO, L., INDIVERI, F. & DI BIAGIO, A. 2018. Rationale for an Association Between PD1 Checkpoint Inhibition and Therapeutic Vaccination Against HIV. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 2447-2447.
- FINNEFROCK, A. C., TANG, A., LI, F., FREED, D. C., FENG, M., COX, K. S., SYKES, K. J., GUARE, J. P., MILLER, M. D., OLSEN, D. B., HAZUDA, D. J., SHIVER, J. W., CASIMIRO, D. R. & FU, T. M. 2009. PD-1 blockade in rhesus macaques: impact on chronic infection and prophylactic vaccination. *J Immunol*, 182, 980-7.
- FINZI, D., HERMANKOVA, M., PIERSON, T., CARRUTH, L. M., BUCK, C., CHAISSON, R. E., QUINN, T. C., CHADWICK, K., MARGOLICK, J., BROOKMEYER, R., GALLANT, J., MARKOWITZ, M., HO, D. D., RICHMAN, D. D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 1997. Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Science*, 278, 1295-300.
- FLETCHER, C. V., STASKUS, K., WIETGREFE, S. W., ROTHENBERGER, M., REILLY, C., CHIPMAN, J. G., BEILMAN, G. J., KHORUTS, A., THORKELSON, A., SCHMIDT, T. E., ANDERSON, J., PERKEY, K., STEVENSON, M., PERELSON, A. S., DOUEK, D. C., HAASE, A. T. & SCHACKER, T. W. 2014. Persistent HIV-1 replication is associated with lower antiretroviral drug concentrations in lymphatic tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 2307-12.
- FOLEY, B. T., KORBER, B. T. M., LEITNER, T. K., APETREI, C., HAHN, B., MIZRACHI, I., MULLINS, J., RAMBAUT, A. & WOLINSKY, S. M. 2018. HIV Sequence Compendium 2018.
- FREEMAN, G. J., LONG, A. J., IWAI, Y., BOURQUE, K., CHERNOVA, T., NISHIMURA, H., FITZ, L. J., MALENKOVICH, N., OKAZAKI, T., BYRNE, M. C., HORTON, H. F., FOUSER, L., CARTER, L., LING, V., BOWMAN, M. R., CARRENO, B. M., COLLINS, M., WOOD, C. R. & HONJO, T. 2000. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J Exp Med*, 192, 1027-34.
- FREEMAN, G. J., WHERRY, E. J., AHMED, R. & SHARPE, A. H. 2006. Reinvigorating exhausted HIV-specific T cells via PD-1-PD-1 ligand blockade. *J Exp Med*, 203, 2223-7.
- FROMENTIN, R., DAFONSECA, S., COSTINIUK, C. T., EL-FAR, M., PROCOPIO, F. A., HECHT, F. M., HOH, R., DEEKS, S. G., HAZUDA, D. J., LEWIN, S. R., ROUTY, J.-P., SÉKALY, R.-P. & CHOMONT, N. 2019. PD-1 blockade potentiates HIV latency reversal ex vivo in CD4(+) T cells from ART-suppressed individuals. *Nature communications*, 10, 814-814.
- FULLER, M. J., CALLENDRET, B., ZHU, B., FREEMAN, G. J., HASSELSCHWERT, D. L., SATTERFIELD, W., SHARPE, A. H., DUSTIN, L. B., RICE, C. M., GRAKOUI, A., AHMED, R. & WALKER, C. M. 2013. Immunotherapy of chronic hepatitis C virus infection with antibodies against programmed cell death-1 (PD-1). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 15001-6.

- GANDHI, R. T., MCMAHON, D. K., BOSCH, R. J., LALAMA, C. M., CYKTOR, J. C., MACATANGAY, B. J., RINALDO, C. R., RIDDLER, S. A., HOGG, E., GODFREY, C., COLLIER, A. C., ERON, J. J. & MELLORS, J. W. 2017. Levels of HIV-1 persistence on antiretroviral therapy are not associated with markers of inflammation or activation. *PLoS Pathog*, 13, e1006285.
- GANDHI, R. T., ZHENG, L., BOSCH, R. J., CHAN, E. S., MARGOLIS, D. M., READ, S.,
  KALLUNGAL, B., PALMER, S., MEDVIK, K., LEDERMAN, M. M., ALATRAKCHI, N.,
  JACOBSON, J. M., WIEGAND, A., KEARNEY, M., COFFIN, J. M., MELLORS, J. W. &
  ERON, J. J. 2010. The effect of raltegravir intensification on low-level residual
  viremia in HIV-infected patients on antiretroviral therapy: a randomized controlled
  trial. *PLoS Med*, 7.
- GANOR, Y., REAL, F., SENNEPIN, A., DUTERTRE, C. A., PREVEDEL, L., XU, L., TUDOR, D.,
  CHARMETEAU, B., COUEDEL-COURTEILLE, A., MARION, S., ZENAK, A. R., JOURDAIN,
  J. P., ZHOU, Z., SCHMITT, A., CAPRON, C., EUGENIN, E. A., CHEYNIER, R., REVOL, M.,
  CRISTOFARI, S., HOSMALIN, A. & BOMSEL, M. 2019. HIV-1 reservoirs in urethral
  macrophages of patients under suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Nat Microbiol*,
  4, 633-644.
- GARCIA-DIAZ, A., LABBETT, W., CLEWLEY, G. S., GUERRERO-RAMOS, A. & GERETTI, A. M. 2013. Comparative evaluation of the Artus HIV-1 QS-RGQ assay and the Abbott RealTime HIV-1 assay for the quantification of HIV-1 RNA in plasma. *J Clin Virol*, 57, 66-9.
- GARDINER, D., LALEZARI, J., LAWITZ, E., DIMICCO, M., GHALIB, R., REDDY, K. R., CHANG, K.
   M., SULKOWSKI, M., MARRO, S. O., ANDERSON, J., HE, B., KANSRA, V., MCPHEE, F.,
   WIND-ROTOLO, M., GRASELA, D., SELBY, M., KORMAN, A. J. & LOWY, I. 2013. A
   randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled assessment of BMS-936558, a fully
   human monoclonal antibody to programmed death-1 (PD-1), in patients with
   chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *PLoS One*, 8, e63818.
- GARRETT, N. J., APEA, V., NORI, A., USHIRO-LUMB, I., OLIVER, A. R., BAILY, G. & CLARK, D.
   A. 2012. Comparison of the rate and size of HIV-1 viral load blips with Roche
   COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 versions 1.0 and 2.0 and implications for patient
   management. J Clin Virol, 53, 354-5.
- GASPER-SMITH, N., CROSSMAN, D. M., WHITESIDES, J. F., MENSALI, N., OTTINGER, J. S., PLONK, S. G., MOODY, M. A., FERRARI, G., WEINHOLD, K. J., MILLER, S. E., REICH, C. F., 3RD, QIN, L., SELF, S. G., SHAW, G. M., DENNY, T. N., JONES, L. E., PISETSKY, D. S. & HAYNES, B. F. 2008. Induction of plasma (TRAIL), TNFR-2, Fas ligand, and plasma microparticles after human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) transmission: implications for HIV-1 vaccine design. J Virol, 82, 7700-10.
- GAY, C. L., BOSCH, R. J., RITZ, J., HATAYE, J. M., AGA, E., TRESSLER, R. L., MASON, S. W., HWANG, C. K., GRASELA, D. M., RAY, N., CYKTOR, J. C., COFFIN, J. M., ACOSTA, E. P., KOUP, R. A., MELLORS, J. W., ERON, J. J. & TEAM, A. C. T. S. 2017. Clinical Trial of the Anti-PD-L1 Antibody BMS-936559 in HIV-1 Infected Participants on Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 215, 1725-1733.
- GELDERBLOM, H. R. 1991. Assembly and morphology of HIV: potential effect of structure on viral function. *Aids*, 5, 617-37.
- GERETTI, A. M. 2009. HIV testing and monitoring. *Medicine*, 37, 326-329.
- GERETTI, A. M. 2017. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). *eLS*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (Ed.).
- GERETTI, A. M., ARRIBAS, J. R., LATHOUWERS, E., FOSTER, G. M., YAKOOB, R., KINLOCH, S., HILL, A., VAN DELFT, Y. & MOECKLINGHOFF, C. 2013a. Dynamics of cellular HIV-1

DNA levels over 144 weeks of darunavir/ritonavir monotherapy versus triple therapy in the MONET trial. *HIV Clin Trials*, 14, 45-50.

- GERETTI, A. M., FOX, Z., JOHNSON, J. A., BOOTH, C., LIPSCOMB, J., STUYVER, L. J., TACHEDJIAN, G., BAXTER, J., TOULOUMI, G., LEHMANN, C., OWEN, A. & PHILLIPS, A. 2013b. Sensitive assessment of the virologic outcomes of stopping and restarting non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based antiretroviral therapy. *PLoS One*, 8, e69266.
- GERETTI, A. M., SMITH, C., HABERL, A., GARCIA-DIAZ, A., NEBBIA, G., JOHNSON, M., PHILLIPS, A. & STASZEWSKI, S. 2008. Determinants of virological failure after successful viral load suppression in first-line highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Antivir Ther*, 13, 927-36.
- GERETTI, A. M. & TSAKIROGLOU, M. 2014. HIV: new drugs, new guidelines. *Curr Opin Infect Dis*, 27, 545-53.
- GERETTI, A. M., WHITE, E., ORKIN, C., TOSTEVIN, A., TILSTON, P., CHADWICK, D., LEEN, C., SABIN, C. & DUNN, D. T. 2019. Virological outcomes of boosted protease inhibitorbased first-line ART in subjects harbouring thymidine analogue-associated mutations as the sole form of transmitted drug resistance. J Antimicrob Chemother, 74, 746-753.
- GERMER, J. J., BENDEL, J. L., DOLENC, C. A., NELSON, S. R., MASTERS, A. L., GERADS, T. M., MANDREKAR, J. N., MITCHELL, P. S. & YAO, J. D. C. 2007. Impact of the COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS AMPLICOR HIV-1 MONITOR Test, Version 1.5, on clinical laboratory operations. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 45, 3101-3104.
- GHOSN, J., TAIWO, B., SEEDAT, S., AUTRAN, B. & KATLAMA, C. 2018. HIV. *Lancet*, 392, 685-697.
- GIACHETTI, C., LINNEN, J. M., KOLK, D. P., DOCKTER, J., GILLOTTE-TAYLOR, K., PARK, M., HO-SING-LOY, M., MCCORMICK, M. K., MIMMS, L. T. & MCDONOUGH, S. H. 2002.
   Highly sensitive multiplex assay for detection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and hepatitis C virus RNA. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 40, 2408-2419.
- GIANOTTI, N., CANDUCCI, F., GALLI, L., COSSARINI, F., SALPIETRO, S., POLI, A., NOZZA, S., SPAGNUOLO, V., CLEMENTI, M., SAMPAOLO, M., CERESOLA, E. R., RACCA, S., LAZZARIN, A. & CASTAGNA, A. 2015. HIV DNA loads, plasma residual viraemia and risk of virological rebound in heavily treated, virologically suppressed HIV-infected patients. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 21, 103.e7-103.e10.
- GIANOTTI, N., GALLI, L., GALIZZI, N., RIPA, M., ANDOLINA, A., NOZZA, S., SPAGNUOLO, V., POLI, A., LAZZARIN, A. & CASTAGNA, A. 2018. Time spent with residual viraemia after virological suppression below 50 HIV-RNA copies/mL according to type of first-line antiretroviral regimen. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 52, 492-499.
- GIANOTTI, N., GALLI, L., RACCA, S., SALPIETRO, S., COSSARINI, F., SPAGNUOLO, V., BARDA,
   B., CANDUCCI, F., CLEMENTI, M., LAZZARIN, A. & CASTAGNA, A. 2012. Residual
   viraemia does not influence 1 year virological rebound in HIV-infected patients
   with HIV RNA persistently below 50 copies/mL. J Antimicrob Chemother, 67, 213-7.
- GINOCCHIO, C. C., KEMPER, M., STELLRECHT, K. A. & WITT, D. J. 2003. Multicenter evaluation of the performance characteristics of the NucliSens HIV-1 QT assay used for quantitation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA. *J Clin Microbiol*, 41, 164-73.
- GLOSTER, S. E., NEWTON, P., CORNFORTH, D., LIFSON, J. D., WILLIAMS, I., SHAW, G. M. & BORROW, P. 2004. Association of strong virus-specific CD4 T cell responses with efficient natural control of primary HIV-1 infection. *Aids*, 18, 749-55.
- GOLDMAN, J. D., CANTRELL, R. A., MULENGA, L. B., TAMBATAMBA, B. C., REID, S. E., LEVY, J. W., LIMBADA, M., TAYLOR, A., SAAG, M. S., VERMUND, S. H., STRINGER, J. S. & CHI, B. H. 2008. Simple adherence assessments to predict virologic failure among

HIV-infected adults with discordant immunologic and clinical responses to antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses,* 24, 1031-5.

- GONZALEZ-SERNA, A., SWENSON, L. C., WATSON, B., ZHANG, W., NOHPAL, A., AUYEUNG,
   K., MONTANER, J. S. & HARRIGAN, P. R. 2016. A single untimed plasma drug concentration measurement during low-level HIV viremia predicts virologic failure. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 22, 1004.e9-1004.e16.
- GOONETILLEKE, N., LIU, M. K. P., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., FERRARI, G., GIORGI, E., GANUSOV, V. V., KEELE, B. F., LEARN, G. H., TURNBULL, E. L., SALAZAR, M. G., WEINHOLD, K. J., MOORE, S., LETVIN, N., HAYNES, B. F., COHEN, M. S., HRABER, P., BHATTACHARYA, T., BORROW, P., PERELSON, A. S., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M., KORBER, B. T. & MCMICHAEL, A. J. 2009. The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206, 1253.
- GREENWALD, R. J., FREEMAN, G. J. & SHARPE, A. H. 2005. The B7 family revisited. *Annu Rev Immunol,* 23, 515-48.
- GRENNAN, J. T., LOUTFY, M. R., SU, D., HARRIGAN, P. R., COOPER, C., KLEIN, M.,
  MACHOUF, N., MONTANER, J. S. G., ROURKE, S., TSOUKAS, C., HOGG, B., RABOUD,
  J. & COLLABORATION, C. 2012. Magnitude of virologic blips is associated with a higher risk for virologic rebound in HIV-infected individuals: a recurrent events analysis. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 205, 1230-1238.
- GREUB, G., COZZI-LEPRI, A., LEDERGERBER, B., STASZEWSKI, S., PERRIN, L., MILLER, V., FRANCIOLI, P., FURRER, H., BATTEGAY, M., VERNAZZA, P., BERNASCONI, E., GUNTHARD, H. F., HIRSCHEL, B., PHILLIPS, A. N. & TELENTI, A. 2002. Intermittent and sustained low-level HIV viral rebound in patients receiving potent antiretroviral therapy. *Aids*, 16, 1967-9.
- GUIHOT, A., MARCELIN, A. G., MASSIANI, M. A., SAMRI, A., SOULIÉ, C., AUTRAN, B. & SPANO, J. P. 2018. Drastic decrease of the HIV reservoir in a patient treated with nivolumab for lung cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 29, 517-518.
- HAIM-BOUKOBZA, S., MORAND-JOUBERT, L., FLANDRE, P., VALIN, N., FOURATI, S., SAYON,
   S., LAVIGNON, M., SIMON, A., GIRARD, P. M., KATLAMA, C., CALVEZ, V. &
   MARCELIN, A. G. 2011. Higher efficacy of nevirapine than efavirenz to achieve HIV-1 plasma viral load below 1 copy/ml. *Aids*, 25, 341-4.
- HARRIGAN, P. R., WHALEY, M. & MONTANER, J. S. 1999. Rate of HIV-1 RNA rebound upon stopping antiretroviral therapy. *Aids*, 13, F59-62.
- HATANO, H. 2013. Immune activation and HIV persistence: considerations for novel therapeutic interventions. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 8, 211-6.
- HATANO, H., DELWART, E. L., NORRIS, P. J., LEE, T.-H., NEILANDS, T. B., KELLEY, C. F., HUNT,
  P. W., HOH, R., LINNEN, J. M., MARTIN, J. N., BUSCH, M. P. & DEEKS, S. G. 2010.
  Evidence of persistent low-level viremia in long-term HAART-suppressed, HIVinfected individuals. *AIDS (London, England)*, 24, 2535-2539.
- HATANO, H., DELWART, E. L., NORRIS, P. J., LEE, T. H., DUNN-WILLIAMS, J., HUNT, P. W., HOH, R., STRAMER, S. L., LINNEN, J. M., MCCUNE, J. M., MARTIN, J. N., BUSCH, M. P. & DEEKS, S. G. 2009. Evidence for persistent low-level viremia in individuals who control human immunodeficiency virus in the absence of antiretroviral therapy. J Virol, 83, 329-35.
- HATANO, H., HAYES, T. L., DAHL, V., SINCLAIR, E., LEE, T. H., HOH, R., LAMPIRIS, H., HUNT, P. W., PALMER, S., MCCUNE, J. M., MARTIN, J. N., BUSCH, M. P., SHACKLETT, B. L. & DEEKS, S. G. 2011. A randomized, controlled trial of raltegravir intensification in antiretroviral-treated, HIV-infected patients with a suboptimal CD4+ T cell response. J Infect Dis, 203, 960-8.

- HATANO, H., STRAIN, M. C., SCHERZER, R., BACCHETTI, P., WENTWORTH, D., HOH, R., MARTIN, J. N., MCCUNE, J. M., NEATON, J. D., TRACY, R. P., HSUE, P. Y., RICHMAN, D. D. & DEEKS, S. G. 2013. Increase in 2-long terminal repeat circles and decrease in D-dimer after raltegravir intensification in patients with treated HIV infection: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Infect Dis, 208, 1436-42.
- HAVLIR, D. V., KOELSCH, K. K., STRAIN, M. C., MARGOT, N., LU, B., IGNACIO, C. C., MILLER, M. D. & WONG, J. K. 2005. Predictors of residual viremia in HIV-infected patients successfully treated with efavirenz and lamivudine plus either tenofovir or stavudine. J Infect Dis, 191, 1164-8.
- HEMELAAR, J., ELANGOVAN, R., YUN, J., DICKSON-TETTEH, L., FLEMINGER, I., KIRTLEY, S., WILLIAMS, B., GOUWS-WILLIAMS, E. & GHYS, P. D. 2019. Global and regional molecular epidemiology of HIV-1, 1990-2015: a systematic review, global survey, and trend analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis,* 19, 143-155.
- HENRICH, T. J., WOOD, B. R. & KURITZKES, D. R. 2012. Increased risk of virologic rebound in patients on antiviral therapy with a detectable HIV load <48 copies/mL. *PLoS One*, 7, e50065.
- HERMANKOVA, M., RAY, S. C., RUFF, C., POWELL-DAVIS, M., INGERSOLL, R., D'AQUILA, R. T., QUINN, T. C., SILICIANO, J. D., SILICIANO, R. F. & PERSAUD, D. 2001. HIV-1 drug resistance profiles in children and adults with viral load of <50 copies/ml receiving combination therapy. Jama, 286, 196-207.
- HETHERINGTON, S., MCGUIRK, S., POWELL, G., CUTRELL, A., NADERER, O., SPREEN, B., LAFON, S., PEARCE, G. & STEEL, H. 2001. Hypersensitivity reactions during therapy with the nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor abacavir. *Clin Ther*, 23, 1603-14.
- HIENER, B., HORSBURGH, B. A., EDEN, J. S., BARTON, K., SCHLUB, T. E., LEE, E., VON STOCKENSTROM, S., ODEVALL, L., MILUSH, J. M., LIEGLER, T., SINCLAIR, E., HOH, R., BORITZ, E. A., DOUEK, D., FROMENTIN, R., CHOMONT, N., DEEKS, S. G., HECHT, F. M. & PALMER, S. 2017. Identification of Genetically Intact HIV-1 Proviruses in Specific CD4(+) T Cells from Effectively Treated Participants. *Cell Rep*, 21, 813-822.
- HIRANO, F., KANEKO, K., TAMURA, H., DONG, H., WANG, S., ICHIKAWA, M., RIETZ, C., FLIES, D. B., LAU, J. S., ZHU, G., TAMADA, K. & CHEN, L. 2005. Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. *Cancer Res*, 65, 1089-96.
- HO, Y. C., SHAN, L., HOSMANE, N. N., WANG, J., LASKEY, S. B., ROSENBLOOM, D. I., LAI, J., BLANKSON, J. N., SILICIANO, J. D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2013. Replication-competent noninduced proviruses in the latent reservoir increase barrier to HIV-1 cure. *Cell*, 155, 540-51.
- HOFSTRA, L. M., MUDRIKOVA, T., STAM, A. J., OTTO, S., TESSELAAR, K., NIJHUIS, M. & WENSING, A. M. 2014. Residual viremia is preceding viral blips and persistent low-level viremia in treated HIV-1 patients. *PLoS One,* 9, e110749.
- HOLODNIY, M. 2006. HIV-1 load quantitation: a 17-year perspective. *J Infect Dis,* 194 Suppl 1, S38-44.
- HOLOGIC, I. 2017. Aptima<sup>™</sup> HIV-1 Quant Dx Assay for in vitro diagnostic use [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.hologic.com/sites/default/files/package-insert/AW-11853-001\_003\_01.pdf</u> [Accessed 04/07/2019].
- HONG, F., JACOBS, J. L., AGA, E., CILLO, A. R., FYNE, E., KOONTZ, D. L., ZHENG, L. & MELLORS, J. W. 2018. Associations between HIV-1 DNA copy number, proviral transcriptional activity, and plasma viremia in individuals off or on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Virology*, 521, 51-57.
- HONG, F. F. & MELLORS, J. W. 2015. Changes in HIV reservoirs during long-term antiretroviral therapy. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 10, 43-8.

- HOPKINS, M., HAU, S., TIERNAN, C., PAPADIMITROPOULOS, A., CHAWLA, A., BELOUKAS, A.
   & GERETTI, A. M. 2015. Comparative performance of the new Aptima HIV-1 Quant Dx assay with three commercial PCR-based HIV-1 RNA quantitation assays. *J Clin Virol*, 69, 56-62.
- HOSMANE, N. N., KWON, K. J., BRUNER, K. M., CAPOFERRI, A. A., BEG, S., ROSENBLOOM, D. I., KEELE, B. F., HO, Y. C., SILICIANO, J. D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2017. Proliferation of latently infected CD4(+) T cells carrying replication-competent HIV-1: Potential role in latent reservoir dynamics. J Exp Med, 214, 959-972.
- HUBER, M. & TRKOLA, A. 2007. Humoral immunity to HIV-1: neutralization and beyond. *J* Intern Med, 262, 5-25.
- ICTV. 2018. Virus Taxonomy: 2018b Release [Online]. Washington, DC. Available: https://talk.ictvonline.org/taxonomy/ [Accessed 24/05/2019].
- IMAMICHI, H., DEWAR, R. L., ADELSBERGER, J. W., REHM, C. A., O'DOHERTY, U., PAXINOS, E. E., FAUCI, A. S. & LANE, H. C. 2016. Defective HIV-1 proviruses produce novel protein-coding RNA species in HIV-infected patients on combination antiretroviral therapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113, 8783-8788.
- ISHIDA, Y., AGATA, Y., SHIBAHARA, K. & HONJO, T. 1992. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. *Embo j*, 11, 3887-95.
- JACOBS, J. L., HALVAS, E. K., TOSIANO, M. A. & MELLORS, J. W. 2019. Persistent HIV-1 Viremia on Antiretroviral Therapy: Measurement and Mechanisms. *Front Microbiol*, 10, 2383.
- JAIN, V., HARTOGENSIS, W., BACCHETTI, P., HUNT, P. W., HATANO, H., SINCLAIR, E., EPLING, L., LEE, T. H., BUSCH, M. P., MCCUNE, J. M., PILCHER, C. D., HECHT, F. M. & DEEKS, S. G. 2013. Antiretroviral therapy initiated within 6 months of HIV infection is associated with lower T-cell activation and smaller HIV reservoir size. J Infect Dis, 208, 1202-11.
- JIANG, W., LEDERMAN, M. M., HUNT, P., SIEG, S. F., HALEY, K., RODRIGUEZ, B., LANDAY, A., MARTIN, J., SINCLAIR, E., ASHER, A. I., DEEKS, S. G., DOUEK, D. C. & BRENCHLEY, J.
   M. 2009. Plasma levels of bacterial DNA correlate with immune activation and the magnitude of immune restoration in persons with antiretroviral-treated HIV infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 199, 1177-1185.
- JIN, H. T., AHMED, R. & OKAZAKI, T. 2011. Role of PD-1 in regulating T-cell immunity. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 350, 17-37.
- JOHANSON, J., ABRAVAYA, K., CAMINITI, W., ERICKSON, D., FLANDERS, R., LECKIE, G., MARSHALL, E., MULLEN, C., OHHASHI, Y., PERRY, R., RICCI, J., SALITURO, J., SMITH, A., TANG, N., VI, M. & ROBINSON, J. 2001. A new ultrasensitive assay for quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in plasma. *J Virol Methods*, 95, 81-92.
- JOOS, B., FISCHER, M., KUSTER, H., PILLAI, S. K., WONG, J. K., BONI, J., HIRSCHEL, B., WEBER, R., TRKOLA, A. & GUNTHARD, H. F. 2008. HIV rebounds from latently infected cells, rather than from continuing low-level replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 16725-30.
- JOSEFSSON, L., VON STOCKENSTROM, S., FARIA, N. R., SINCLAIR, E., BACCHETTI, P., KILLIAN, M., EPLING, L., TAN, A., HO, T., LEMEY, P., SHAO, W., HUNT, P. W., SOMSOUK, M., WYLIE, W., DOUEK, D. C., LOEB, L., CUSTER, J., HOH, R., POOLE, L., DEEKS, S. G., HECHT, F. & PALMER, S. 2013. The HIV-1 reservoir in eight patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy is stable with few genetic changes over time. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, E4987-96.

- JUBAULT, V., BURGARD, M., LE CORFEC, E., COSTAGLIOLA, D., ROUZIOUX, C. & VIARD, J. P. 1998. High rebound of plasma and cellular HIV load after discontinuation of triple combination therapy. *Aids*, 12, 2358-9.
- KARASI, J. C., DZIEZUK, F., QUENNERY, L., FORSTER, S., REISCHL, U., COLUCCI, G., SCHOENER, D., SEGUIN-DEVAUX, C. & SCHMIT, J. C. 2011. High correlation between the Roche COBAS(R) AmpliPrep/COBAS(R) TaqMan(R) HIV-1, v2.0 and the Abbott m2000 RealTime HIV-1 assays for quantification of viral load in HIV-1 B and non-B subtypes. J Clin Virol, 52, 181-6.
- KARUNARATHNE, D. S., HORNE-DEBETS, J. M., HUANG, J. X., FALEIRO, R., LEOW, C. Y., AMANTE, F., WATKINS, T. S., MILES, J. J., DWYER, P. J., STACEY, K. J., YARSKI, M., POH, C. M., LEE, J. S., COOPER, M. A., RENIA, L., RICHARD, D., MCCARTHY, J. S., SHARPE, A. H. & WYKES, M. N. 2016. Programmed Death-1 Ligand 2-Mediated Regulation of the PD-L1 to PD-1 Axis Is Essential for Establishing CD4(+) T Cell Immunity. *Immunity*, 45, 333-45.
- KAWAMOTO, S., TRAN, T. H., MARUYA, M., SUZUKI, K., DOI, Y., TSUTSUI, Y., KATO, L. M. & FAGARASAN, S. 2012. The inhibitory receptor PD-1 regulates IgA selection and bacterial composition in the gut. *Science*, 336, 485-9.
- KEARNEY, M. F., SPINDLER, J., SHAO, W., YU, S., ANDERSON, E. M., O'SHEA, A., REHM, C., POETHKE, C., KOVACS, N., MELLORS, J. W., COFFIN, J. M. & MALDARELLI, F. 2014. Lack of detectable HIV-1 molecular evolution during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *PLoS Pathog*, 10, e1004010.
- KEELE, B. F., GIORGI, E. E., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., DECKER, J. M., PHAM, K. T., SALAZAR, M. G., SUN, C., GRAYSON, T., WANG, S., LI, H., WEI, X., JIANG, C., KIRCHHERR, J. L., GAO, F., ANDERSON, J. A., PING, L.-H., SWANSTROM, R., TOMARAS, G. D., BLATTNER, W. A., GOEPFERT, P. A., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., DELWART, E. L., BUSCH, M. P., COHEN, M. S., MONTEFIORI, D. C., HAYNES, B. F., GASCHEN, B., ATHREYA, G. S., LEE, H. Y., WOOD, N., SEOIGHE, C., PERELSON, A. S., BHATTACHARYA, T., KORBER, B. T., HAHN, B. H. & SHAW, G. M. 2008a. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 7552-7557.
- KEELE, B. F., GIORGI, E. E., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., DECKER, J. M., PHAM, K. T., SALAZAR, M. G., SUN, C., GRAYSON, T., WANG, S., LI, H., WEI, X., JIANG, C., KIRCHHERR, J. L., GAO, F., ANDERSON, J. A., PING, L.-H., SWANSTROM, R., TOMARAS, G. D., BLATTNER, W. A., GOEPFERT, P. A., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., DELWART, E. L., BUSCH, M. P., COHEN, M. S., MONTEFIORI, D. C., HAYNES, B. F., GASCHEN, B., ATHREYA, G. S., LEE, H. Y., WOOD, N., SEOIGHE, C., PERELSON, A. S., BHATTACHARYA, T., KORBER, B. T., HAHN, B. H. & SHAW, G. M. 2008b. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 7552.
- KEELE, B. F., VAN HEUVERSWYN, F., LI, Y., BAILES, E., TAKEHISA, J., SANTIAGO, M. L., BIBOLLET-RUCHE, F., CHEN, Y., WAIN, L. V., LIEGEOIS, F., LOUL, S., NGOLE, E. M., BIENVENUE, Y., DELAPORTE, E., BROOKFIELD, J. F., SHARP, P. M., SHAW, G. M., PEETERS, M. & HAHN, B. H. 2006. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. *Science*, 313, 523-6.
- KEIR, M. E., BUTTE, M. J., FREEMAN, G. J. & SHARPE, A. H. 2008. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 26, 677-704.
- KENT, S. J., FERNANDEZ, C. S., JANE DALE, C. & DAVENPORT, M. P. 2005. Reversion of immune escape HIV variants upon transmission: insights into effective viral immunity. *Trends in Microbiology*, 13, 243-246.

- KIEFFER, T. L., FINUCANE, M. M., NETTLES, R. E., QUINN, T. C., BROMAN, K. W., RAY, S. C., PERSAUD, D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2004. Genotypic analysis of HIV-1 drug resistance at the limit of detection: virus production without evolution in treated adults with undetectable HIV loads. J Infect Dis, 189, 1452-65.
- KINTER, A. L., GODBOUT, E. J., MCNALLY, J. P., SERETI, I., ROBY, G. A., O'SHEA, M. A. & FAUCI, A. S. 2008. The common gamma-chain cytokines IL-2, IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21 induce the expression of programmed death-1 and its ligands. *J Immunol*, 181, 6738-46.
- KISELINOVA, M., GERETTI, A. M., MALATINKOVA, E., VERVISCH, K., BELOUKAS, A., MESSIAEN, P., BONCZKOWSKI, P., TRYPSTEEN, W., CALLENS, S., VERHOFSTEDE, C., DE SPIEGELAERE, W. & VANDEKERCKHOVE, L. 2015. HIV-1 RNA and HIV-1 DNA persistence during suppressive ART with PI-based or nevirapine-based regimens. J Antimicrob Chemother, 70, 3311-6.
- KONSTANTOPOULOS, C., RIBAUDO, H., RAGLAND, K., BANGSBERG, D. R. & LI, J. Z. 2015. Antiretroviral regimen and suboptimal medication adherence are associated with low-level human immunodeficiency virus viremia. *Open Forum Infect Dis,* 2, ofu119.
- KUCHROO, V. K., ANDERSON, A. C. & PETROVAS, C. 2014. Coinhibitory receptors and CD8 T cell exhaustion in chronic infections. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 9, 439-45.
- KURITZKES, D. R. 2009. HIV-1 entry inhibitors: an overview. *Current opinion in HIV and AIDS*, 4, 82-87.
- LABBETT, W., GARCIA-DIAZ, A., FOX, Z., CLEWLEY, G. S., FERNANDEZ, T., JOHNSON, M. & GERETTI, A. M. 2009. Comparative evaluation of the ExaVir Load version 3 reverse transcriptase assay for measurement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 plasma load. *J Clin Microbiol*, 47, 3266-70.
- LANDAIS, E. & MOORE, P. L. 2018. Development of broadly neutralizing antibodies in HIV-1 infected elite neutralizers. *Retrovirology*, 15, 61-61.
- LANL. 2020. *HIV Circulating Recombinant Forms (CRFs)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/sequence/HIV/CRFs/CRFs.html</u> [Accessed 01/08/2020].
- LAPRISE, C., DE POKOMANDY, A., BARIL, J. G., DUFRESNE, S. & TROTTIER, H. 2013. Virologic failure following persistent low-level viremia in a cohort of HIV-positive patients: results from 12 years of observation. *Clin Infect Dis*, 57, 1489-96.
- LARSON, K. B., WANG, K., DELILLE, C., OTOFOKUN, I. & ACOSTA, E. P. 2014. Pharmacokinetic enhancers in HIV therapeutics. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, 53, 865-72.
- LATCHMAN, Y., WOOD, C. R., CHERNOVA, T., CHAUDHARY, D., BORDE, M., CHERNOVA, I., IWAI, Y., LONG, A. J., BROWN, J. A., NUNES, R., GREENFIELD, E. A., BOURQUE, K., BOUSSIOTIS, V. A., CARTER, L. L., CARRENO, B. M., MALENKOVICH, N., NISHIMURA, H., OKAZAKI, T., HONJO, T., SHARPE, A. H. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2001. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nat Immunol*, 2, 261-8.
- LAVOLÉ, A., GUIHOT, A., VEYRI, M., LAMBOTTE, O., AUTRAN, B., CLOAREC, N., LE GARFF, G., FLAMENT, T., CADRANEL, J. & SPANO, J. P. 2018. PD-1 blockade in HIV-infected patients with lung cancer: a new challenge or already a strategy? *Ann Oncol*, 29, 1065-1066.
- LE GARFF, G., SAMRI, A., LAMBERT-NICLOT, S., EVEN, S., LAVOLÉ, A., CADRANEL, J., SPANO, J. P., AUTRAN, B., MARCELIN, A. G. & GUIHOT, A. 2017. Transient HIV-specific T cells increase and inflammation in an HIV-infected patient treated with nivolumab. *Aids*, 31, 1048-1051.
- LEE, S. A., TELWATTE, S., HATANO, H., KASHUBA, A. D. M., COTTRELL, M. L., HOH, R., LIEGLER, T. J., STEPHENSON, S., SOMSOUK, M., HUNT, P. W., DEEKS, S. G., YUKL, S. & SAVIC, R. M. 2020. Antiretroviral Therapy Concentrations Differ in Gut vs. Lymph

Node Tissues and Are Associated With HIV Viral Transcription by a Novel RT-ddPCR Assay. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 83, 530-537.

- LEIERER, G., GRABMEIER-PFISTERSHAMMER, K., STEUER, A., GEIT, M., SARCLETTI, M., HAAS, B., KANATSCHNIG, M., RAPPOLD, M., ZANGERLE, R., LEDERGERBER, B. & TAYLOR, N. 2015. Factors Associated with Low-Level Viraemia and Virological Failure: Results from the Austrian HIV Cohort Study. *PLoS One*, 10, e0142923.
- LEIERER, G., GRABMEIER-PFISTERSHAMMER, K., STEUER, A., SARCLETTI, M., GEIT, M., HAAS, B., TAYLOR, N., KANATSCHNIG, M., RAPPOLD, M., LEDERGERBER, B. & ZANGERLE, R. 2016. A Single Quantifiable Viral Load Is Predictive of Virological Failure in Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-Infected Patients on Combination Antiretroviral Therapy: The Austrian HIV Cohort Study. *Open Forum Infect Dis,* 3, ofw089.
- LEWIS, M., MORI, J., TOMA, J., MOSLEY, M., HUANG, W., SIMPSON, P., MANSFIELD, R., CRAIG, C., VAN DER RYST, E., ROBERTSON, D. L., WHITCOMB, J. M. & WESTBY, M. 2018. Clonal analysis of HIV-1 genotype and function associated with virologic failure in treatment-experienced persons receiving maraviroc: Results from the MOTIVATE phase 3 randomized, placebo-controlled trials. *PLoS One*, 13, e0204099.
- LEWIS, W., DAY, B. J. & COPELAND, W. C. 2003. Mitochondrial toxicity of NRTI antiviral drugs: an integrated cellular perspective. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 2, 812-22.
- LI, J. Z., GALLIEN, S., RIBAUDO, H., HEISEY, A., BANGSBERG, D. R. & KURITZKES, D. R. 2014. Incomplete adherence to antiretroviral therapy is associated with higher levels of residual HIV-1 viremia. *AIDS (London, England)*, 28, 181-186.
- LIANG, S. C., GREENWALD, R. J., LATCHMAN, Y. E., ROSAS, L., SATOSKAR, A., FREEMAN, G. J. & SHARPE, A. H. 2006. PD-L1 and PD-L2 have distinct roles in regulating host immunity to cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Eur J Immunol*, 36, 58-64.
- LIEBERMAN, J., SHANKAR, P., MANJUNATH, N. & ANDERSSON, J. 2001. Dressed to kill? A review of why antiviral CD8 T lymphocytes fail to prevent progressive immunodeficiency in HIV-1 infection. *Blood*, 98, 1667-77.
- LIECHTY, C. A., ALEXANDER, C. S., HARRIGAN, P. R., GUZMAN, J. D., CHARLEBOIS, E. D., MOSS, A. R. & BANGSBERG, D. R. 2004. Are untimed antiretroviral drug levels useful predictors of adherence behavior? *Aids*, 18, 127-9.
- LIEGLER TJ & RM, G. 2009. Nucleic acid-based HIV-1 viral load assays [Online]. Available: http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite?page=kb-02-02-01#S7X [Accessed 4/6/2001].
- LIMA, V., HARRIGAN, R. & MONTANER, J. S. 2009. Increased reporting of detectable plasma HIV-1 RNA levels at the critical threshold of 50 copies per milliliter with the Taqman assay in comparison to the Amplicor assay. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 51, 3-6.
- LLIBRE, J. M., HUNG, C. C., BRINSON, C., CASTELLI, F., GIRARD, P. M., KAHL, L. P., BLAIR, E. A., ANGELIS, K., WYNNE, B., VANDERMEULEN, K., UNDERWOOD, M., SMITH, K., GARTLAND, M. & ABOUD, M. 2018. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of dolutegravir-rilpivirine for the maintenance of virological suppression in adults with HIV-1: phase 3, randomised, non-inferiority SWORD-1 and SWORD-2 studies. *Lancet*, 391, 839-849.
- LOCCI, M., HAVENAR-DAUGHTON, C., LANDAIS, E., WU, J., KROENKE, M. A., ARLEHAMN, C. L., SU, L. F., CUBAS, R., DAVIS, M. M., SETTE, A., HADDAD, E. K., POIGNARD, P. & CROTTY, S. 2013. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity*, 39, 758-69.
- LONGO, S., BON, I., MUSUMECI, G., BERTOLDI, A., D'URBANO, V., CALZA, L. & RE, M. C. 2018. Comparison of the Aptima HIV-1 Quant Dx assay with the COBAS

AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan HIV-1 v2.0 Test for HIV-1 viral load quantification in plasma samples from HIV-1-infected patients. *Health Sci Rep*, 1, e31.

- LORENZI, J. C., COHEN, Y. Z., COHN, L. B., KREIDER, E. F., BARTON, J. P., LEARN, G. H.,
   OLIVEIRA, T., LAVINE, C. L., HORWITZ, J. A., SETTLER, A., JANKOVIC, M., SEAMAN,
   M. S., CHAKRABORTY, A. K., HAHN, B. H., CASKEY, M. & NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. 2016.
   Paired quantitative and qualitative assessment of the replication-competent HIV-1
   reservoir and comparison with integrated proviral DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, E7908-e7916.
- LORENZO-REDONDO, R., FRYER, H. R., BEDFORD, T., KIM, E.-Y., ARCHER, J., KOSAKOVSKY POND, S. L., CHUNG, Y.-S., PENUGONDA, S., CHIPMAN, J. G., FLETCHER, C. V., SCHACKER, T. W., MALIM, M. H., RAMBAUT, A., HAASE, A. T., MCLEAN, A. R. & WOLINSKY, S. M. 2016. Persistent HIV-1 replication maintains the tissue reservoir during therapy. *Nature*, 530, 51.
- MACKAY, I. M., ARDEN, K. E. & NITSCHE, A. 2002. Real-time PCR in virology. *Nucleic acids research*, 30, 1292-1305.
- MACKIE, N. E., PHILLIPS, A. N., KAYE, S., BOOTH, C. & GERETTI, A. M. 2010. Antiretroviral drug resistance in HIV-1-infected patients with low-level viremia. *J Infect Dis*, 201, 1303-7.
- MAGGIOLO, F., CALLEGARO, A., COLOGNI, G., BERNARDINI, C., VELENTI, D., GREGIS, G., QUINZAN, G., SOAVI, L., IANNOTTI, N., MALFATTO, E. & LEONE, S. 2012. Ultrasensitive assessment of residual low-level HIV viremia in HAART-treated patients and risk of virological failure. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 60, 473-82.
- MAGGIOLO, F., DI FILIPPO, E., COMI, L., CALLEGARO, A., COLOMBO, G. L., DI MATTEO, S., VALSECCHI, D. & RIZZI, M. 2017. Reduced adherence to antiretroviral therapy is associated with residual low-level viremia. *Pragmat Obs Res*, **8**, 91-97.
- MALDARELLI, F., PALMER, S., KING, M. S., WIEGAND, A., POLIS, M. A., MICAN, J., KOVACS, J. A., DAVEY, R. T., ROCK-KRESS, D., DEWAR, R., LIU, S., METCALF, J. A., REHM, C., BRUN, S. C., HANNA, G. J., KEMPF, D. J., COFFIN, J. M. & MELLORS, J. W. 2007. ART suppresses plasma HIV-1 RNA to a stable set point predicted by pretherapy viremia. *PLoS Pathog*, **3**, e46.
- MALIM, M. H. & EMERMAN, M. 2001. HIV-1 Sequence Variation: Drift, Shift, and Attenuation. *Cell*, 104, 469-472.
- MARGOT, N., KOONTZ, D., MCCALLISTER, S., MELLORS, J. W. & CALLEBAUT, C. 2018. Measurement of plasma HIV-1 RNA below the limit of quantification (<20 copies/mL) of commercial assays with the integrase HIV RNA single-copy assay. *J Clin Virol*, 108, 50-52.
- MARRAZZO, J. M. 2017. HIV Prevention: Opportunities and Challenges. *Top Antivir Med*, 24, 123-126.
- MARTIN-BLONDEL, G., SAUNE, K., VU HAI, V., MARCHOU, B., DELOBEL, P., IZOPET, J., CUZIN, L. & MASSIP, P. 2012. Factors associated with a strictly undetectable viral load in HIV-1-infected patients. *HIV Med*, 13, 568-73.
- MCKINNON, E., CASTLEY, A., PAYNE, L., PUMMER, S. & NOLAN, D. 2016. Determinants of residual viraemia during combination HIV treatment: Impacts of baseline HIV RNA levels and treatment choice. *HIV Medicine*, 17, 495-504.
- MCMAHON, D., JONES, J., WIEGAND, A., GANGE, S. J., KEARNEY, M., PALMER, S.,
   MCNULTY, S., METCALF, J. A., ACOSTA, E., REHM, C., COFFIN, J. M., MELLORS, J. W.
   & MALDARELLI, F. 2010. Short-course raltegravir intensification does not reduce persistent low-level viremia in patients with HIV-1 suppression during receipt of combination antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Infect Dis*, 50, 912-9.
- MCMANUS WR, BALE MJ, SPINDLER J, WIEGAND A, MUSICK A, WU X, WELLS D, HUGHES SH, KEELE B, HOH R, MILUSH J, COFFIN JM, MELLORS JW, DEEKS SG & MF, K. 2018.

No evidence for ongoing HIV replication in lymph nodes during suppressive ART. *25th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI).* Boston.

- MCMICHAEL, A. J., BORROW, P., TOMARAS, G. D., GOONETILLEKE, N. & HAYNES, B. F. 2010. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 10, 11-23.
- MELLORS, J. W., MUNOZ, A., GIORGI, J. V., MARGOLICK, J. B., TASSONI, C. J., GUPTA, P., KINGSLEY, L. A., TODD, J. A., SAAH, A. J., DETELS, R., PHAIR, J. P. & RINALDO, C. R., JR. 1997. Plasma viral load and CD4+ lymphocytes as prognostic markers of HIV-1 infection. *Ann Intern Med*, 126, 946-54.
- MELLORS, J. W., RINALDO, C. R., JR., GUPTA, P., WHITE, R. M., TODD, J. A. & KINGSLEY, L. A. 1996. Prognosis in HIV-1 infection predicted by the quantity of virus in plasma. *Science*, 272, 1167-70.
- MENS, H., KEARNEY, M., WIEGAND, A., SPINDLER, J., MALDARELLI, F., MELLORS, J. W. & COFFIN, J. M. 2011. Amplifying and quantifying HIV-1 RNA in HIV infected individuals with viral loads below the limit of detection by standard clinical assays. *J Vis Exp*.
- MIRA, J. A., MACIAS, J., NOGALES, C., FERNANDEZ-RIVERA, J., GARCIA-GARCIA, J. A., RAMOS, A. & PINEDA, J. A. 2002. Transient rebounds of low-level viraemia among HIV-infected patients under HAART are not associated with virological or immunological failure. *Antivir Ther*, 7, 251-6.
- MITCHELL, B. I., LAWS, E. I. & NDHLOVU, L. C. 2019. Impact of Myeloid Reservoirs in HIV Cure Trials. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep*, 16, 129-140.
- MOCROFT, A., LEDERGERBER, B., KATLAMA, C., KIRK, O., REISS, P., D'ARMINIO MONFORTE, A., KNYSZ, B., DIETRICH, M., PHILLIPS, A. N. & LUNDGREN, J. D. 2003. Decline in the AIDS and death rates in the EuroSIDA study: an observational study. *Lancet*, 362, 22-9.
- MOORE, A. L., YOULE, M., LIPMAN, M., COZZI-LEPRI, A., LAMPE, F., MADGE, S., NESARATNAM, S., TYRER, M., CUTHBERTSON, Z., RANSOM, D., LOVEDAY, C., JOHNSON, M. A. & PHILLIPS, A. N. 2002. Raised viral load in patients with viral suppression on highly active antiretroviral therapy: transient increase or treatment failure? *Aids*, 16, 615-8.
- MOUREZ, T., DELAUGERRE, C., VRAY, M., LEMEE, V., SIMON, F. & PLANTIER, J. C. 2015. Comparison of the bioMerieux NucliSENS EasyQ HIV-1 v2.0-HIV-1 RNA quantification assay versus Abbott RealTime HIV-1 and Roche Cobas TaqMan HIV-1 v2.0 on current epidemic HIV-1 variants. *J Clin Virol*, 71, 76-81.
- MULDER, J., MCKINNEY, N., CHRISTOPHERSON, C., SNINSKY, J., GREENFIELD, L. & KWOK, S. 1994. Rapid and simple PCR assay for quantitation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in plasma: application to acute retroviral infection. *J Clin Microbiol*, 32, 292-300.
- MULLINS, J. I. & FRENKEL, L. M. 2017. Clonal Expansion of Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Cells and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Persistence During Antiretroviral Therapy. *J Infect Dis*, 215, S119-s127.
- MUSUMECI, D., RICCARDI, C. & MONTESARCHIO, D. 2015. G-Quadruplex Forming Oligonucleotides as Anti-HIV Agents. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland),* 20, 17511-17532.
- NAKAMOTO, N., CHO, H., SHAKED, A., OLTHOFF, K., VALIGA, M. E., KAMINSKI, M., GOSTICK, E., PRICE, D. A., FREEMAN, G. J., WHERRY, E. J. & CHANG, K.-M. 2009. Synergistic Reversal of Intrahepatic HCV-Specific CD8 T Cell Exhaustion by Combined PD-1/CTLA-4 Blockade. *PLOS Pathogens*, 5, e1000313.

- NASH, M., HUDDART, S., BADAR, S., BALIGA, S., SARAVU, K. & PAI, M. 2018. Performance of the Xpert HIV-1 Viral Load Assay: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 56, e01673-17.
- NDIAYE, O., DIOP-NDIAYE, H., OUEDRAOGO, A. S., FALL-MALICK, F. Z., SOW-SALL, A., THIAM, M., DIOUARA, A. A., NDOUR, C. T., GAYE-DIALLO, A., MBOUP, S. & TOURE-KANE, C. 2015. Comparison of four commercial viral load techniques in an area of non-B HIV-1 subtypes circulation. *J Virol Methods*, 222, 122-31.
- NETTLES, R. E. & KIEFFER, T. L. 2006. Update on HIV-1 viral load blips. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 1, 157-61.
- NETTLES, R. E., KIEFFER, T. L., KWON, P., MONIE, D., HAN, Y., PARSONS, T., COFRANCESCO, J., JR., GALLANT, J. E., QUINN, T. C., JACKSON, B., FLEXNER, C., CARSON, K., RAY, S., PERSAUD, D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2005. Intermittent HIV-1 viremia (Blips) and drug resistance in patients receiving HAART. *Jama*, 293, 817-29.
- NIELSEN, C., OHM-LAURSEN, L., BARINGTON, T., HUSBY, S. & LILLEVANG, S. T. 2005. Alternative splice variants of the human PD-1 gene. *Cell Immunol*, 235, 109-16.
- NIGHTINGALE, S., GERETTI, A. M., BELOUKAS, A., FISHER, M., WINSTON, A., ELSE, L.,
  NELSON, M., TAYLOR, S., USTIANOWSKI, A., AINSWORTH, J., GILSON, R., HADDOW,
  L., ONG, E., WATSON, V., LEEN, C., MINTON, J., POST, F., PIRMOHAMED, M.,
  SOLOMON, T. & KHOO, S. 2016. Discordant CSF/plasma HIV-1 RNA in patients with
  unexplained low-level viraemia. J Neurovirol, 22, 852-860.
- NOTERMANS, D. W., DE WOLF, F., OUDSHOORN, P., CUIJPERS, H. T., PIRILLO, M., TILLER, F. W., MCCLERNON, D. R., PRINS, J. M., LANGE, J. M., DANNER, S. A., GOUDSMIT, J. & JURRIAANS, S. 2000. Evaluation of a second-generation nucleic acid sequencebased amplification assay for quantification of HIV type 1 RNA and the use of ultrasensitive protocol adaptations. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 16, 1507-17.
- NOU, E., LO, J., HADIGAN, C. & GRINSPOON, S. K. 2016. Pathophysiology and management of cardiovascular disease in patients with HIV. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*, 4, 598-610.
- OESTREICH, K. J., YOON, H., AHMED, R. & BOSS, J. M. 2008. NFATc1 regulates PD-1 expression upon T cell activation. *J Immunol*, 181, 4832-9.
- OHIGASHI, Y., SHO, M., YAMADA, Y., TSURUI, Y., HAMADA, K., IKEDA, N., MIZUNO, T., YORIKI, R., KASHIZUKA, H., YANE, K., TSUSHIMA, F., OTSUKI, N., YAGITA, H., AZUMA, M. & NAKAJIMA, Y. 2005. Clinical significance of programmed death-1 ligand-1 and programmed death-1 ligand-2 expression in human esophageal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 11, 2947-53.
- OKAZAKI, T., CHIKUMA, S., IWAI, Y., FAGARASAN, S. & HONJO, T. 2013. A rheostat for immune responses: the unique properties of PD-1 and their advantages for clinical application. *Nat Immunol*, 14, 1212-8.
- OKAZAKI, T. & HONJO, T. 2007. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. *Int Immunol,* 19, 813-24.
- OLDSTONE, M. B. 1997. How viruses escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes: molecular parameters and players. *Virology*, 234, 179-85.
- OLIVEIRA, M., IBANESCU, R. I., ANSTETT, K., MESPLEDE, T., ROUTY, J. P., ROBBINS, M. A. & BRENNER, B. G. 2018. Selective resistance profiles emerging in patient-derived clinical isolates with cabotegravir, bictegravir, dolutegravir, and elvitegravir. *Retrovirology*, 15, 56.
- OSTERHOLZER, D. A. & GOLDMAN, M. 2014. Dolutegravir: a next-generation integrase inhibitor for treatment of HIV infection. *Clin Infect Dis*, 59, 265-71.
- PABA, P., FABENI, L., CICCOZZI, M., PERNO, C. F. & CIOTTI, M. 2011. Performance evaluation of the COBAS/TaqMan HIV-1 v2.0 in HIV-1 positive patients with low viral load: a comparative study. *J Virol Methods*, 173, 399-402.

- PALMER, S., JOSEFSSON, L. & COFFIN, J. M. 2011. HIV reservoirs and the possibility of a cure for HIV infection. *J Intern Med*, 270, 550-60.
- PALMER, S., MALDARELLI, F., WIEGAND, A., BERNSTEIN, B., HANNA, G. J., BRUN, S. C., KEMPF, D. J., MELLORS, J. W., COFFIN, J. M. & KING, M. S. 2008. Low-level viremia persists for at least 7 years in patients on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 3879-84.
- PALMER, S., WIEGAND, A. P., MALDARELLI, F., BAZMI, H., MICAN, J. M., POLIS, M., DEWAR, R. L., PLANTA, A., LIU, S., METCALF, J. A., MELLORS, J. W. & COFFIN, J. M. 2003. New real-time reverse transcriptase-initiated PCR assay with single-copy sensitivity for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in plasma. *J Clin Microbiol*, 41, 4531-6.
- PALMISANO, L., GIULIANO, M., NICASTRI, E., PIRILLO, M. F., ANDREOTTI, M., GALLUZZO, C. M., BUCCIARDINI, R., FRAGOLA, V., ANDREONI, M. & VELLA, S. 2005. Residual viraemia in subjects with chronic HIV infection and viral load < 50 copies/ml: the impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Aids*, 19, 1843-7.
- PANDEY, K. K. & GRANDGENETT, D. P. 2008. HIV-1 Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors: Novel Insights into their Mechanism of Action. *Retrovirology : research and treatment*, 2, 11-16.
- PANTALEO, G., GRAZIOSI, C. & FAUCI, A. S. 1993. The immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N Engl J Med*, 328, 327-35.
- PAPASAVVAS, E., AZZONI, L., ROSS, B. N., FAIR, M., YUAN, Z., GYAMPOH, K., MACKIEWICZ, A., SCIORILLO, A. C., PAGGLIUZZA, A., LADA, S. M., WU, G., GOH, S. L., BAHNCK-TEETS, C., HOLDER, D. J., ZUCK, P. D., DAMRA, M., LYNN, K. M., TEBAS, P., MOUNZER, K., KOSTMAN, J. R., ABDEL-MOHSEN, M., RICHMAN, D., CHOMONT, N., HOWELL, B. J. & MONTANER, L. J. 2020. Intact HIV reservoir estimated by the intact proviral DNA assay correlates with levels of total and integrated DNA in the blood during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Infect Dis*.
- PAREKH, B. S., OU, C.-Y., FONJUNGO, P. N., KALOU, M. B., ROTTINGHAUS, E., PUREN, A., ALEXANDER, H., HURLSTON COX, M. & NKENGASONG, J. N. 2018. Diagnosis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 32, e00064-18.
- PARISH, I. A. & KAECH, S. M. 2009. Diversity in CD8(+) T cell differentiation. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 21, 291-7.
- PARRY, R. V., CHEMNITZ, J. M., FRAUWIRTH, K. A., LANFRANCO, A. R., BRAUNSTEIN, I., KOBAYASHI, S. V., LINSLEY, P. S., THOMPSON, C. B. & RILEY, J. L. 2005. CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors inhibit T-cell activation by distinct mechanisms. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 9543-53.
- PASCUAL-PAREJA, J. F., MARTINEZ-PRATS, L., LUCZKOWIAK, J., FIORANTE, S., RUBIO, R., PULIDO, F., OTERO, J. R. & DELGADO, R. 2010. Detection of HIV-1 at between 20 and 49 copies per milliliter by the Cobas TaqMan HIV-1 v2.0 assay is associated with higher pretherapy viral load and less time on antiretroviral therapy. *J Clin Microbiol*, 48, 1911-2.
- PASCUAL, A., CACHAFEIRO, A., FUNK, M. L. & FISCUS, S. A. 2002. Comparison of an assay using signal amplification of the heat-dissociated p24 antigen with the Roche Monitor human immunodeficiency virus RNA assay. *J Clin Microbiol*, 40, 2472-5.
- PASTERNAK, A. O., DE BRUIN, M., JURRIAANS, S., BAKKER, M., BERKHOUT, B., PRINS, J. M. & LUKASHOV, V. V. 2012. Modest nonadherence to antiretroviral therapy promotes residual HIV-1 replication in the absence of virological rebound in plasma. J Infect Dis, 206, 1443-52.
- PATEL, P., BORKOWF, C. B., BROOKS, J. T., LASRY, A., LANSKY, A. & MERMIN, J. 2014. Estimating per-act HIV transmission risk: a systematic review. *AIDS*, 28.

PEDERSEN, F. S., PYRZ, M. & DUCH, M. 2011. Retroviral Replication. eLS.

- PERELSON, A. S., ESSUNGER, P., CAO, Y., VESANEN, M., HURLEY, A., SAKSELA, K., MARKOWITZ, M. & HO, D. D. 1997. Decay characteristics of HIV-1-infected compartments during combination therapy. *Nature*, 387, 188-91.
- PERNAS, B., GRANDAL, M., PERTEGA, S., CANIZARES, A., CASTRO-IGLESIAS, A., MENA, A., RODRIGUEZ-OSORIO, I., TABERNILLA, A., PEDREIRA, J. D. & POVEDA, E. 2016. Any impact of blips and low-level viraemia episodes among HIV-infected patients with sustained virological suppression on ART? J Antimicrob Chemother, 71, 1051-5.
- PERREAU, M., LEVY, Y. & PANTALEO, G. 2013a. Immune response to HIV. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 8, 333-40.
- PERREAU, M., SAVOYE, A. L., DE CRIGNIS, E., CORPATAUX, J. M., CUBAS, R., HADDAD, E. K., DE LEVAL, L., GRAZIOSI, C. & PANTALEO, G. 2013b. Follicular helper T cells serve as the major CD4 T cell compartment for HIV-1 infection, replication, and production. *J Exp Med*, 210, 143-56.
- PETROVAS, C., CASAZZA, J. P., BRENCHLEY, J. M., PRICE, D. A., GOSTICK, E., ADAMS, W. C., PRECOPIO, M. L., SCHACKER, T., ROEDERER, M., DOUEK, D. C. & KOUP, R. A. 2006. PD-1 is a regulator of virus-specific CD8+ T cell survival in HIV infection. J Exp Med, 203, 2281-92.
- PHE. 2018. *HIV diagnoses continue to fall as UK exceeds UNAIDS target* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/hiv-diagnoses-continue-to-fall-as-uk-</u> <u>exceeds-unaids-target</u> [Accessed 07/08/2020].
- PITMAN, M. C., LAU, J. S. Y., MCMAHON, J. H. & LEWIN, S. R. 2018. Barriers and strategies to achieve a cure for HIV. *Lancet HIV*, 5, e317-e328.
- PUERTAS, M. C., MASSANELLA, M., LLIBRE, J. M., BALLESTERO, M., BUZON, M. J., OUCHI, D., ESTEVE, A., BOIX, J., MANZARDO, C., MIRÓ, J. M., GATELL, J. M., CLOTET, B., BLANCO, J. & MARTINEZ-PICADO, J. 2014. Intensification of a raltegravir-based regimen with maraviroc in early HIV-1 infection. *Aids*, 28, 325-34.
- PUERTAS, M. C., NOGUERA-JULIAN, M., MASSANELLA, M., POU, C., BUZON, M. J., CLOTET, B., STEVENSON, M., PAREDES, R., BLANCO, J. & MARTINEZ-PICADO, J. 2016. Lack of concordance between residual viremia and viral variants driving de novo infection of CD4(+) T cells on ART. *Retrovirology*, 13, 51-51.
- PUGLIESE, P., DELPIERRE, C., CUZIN, L., POIZOT-MARTIN, I., REY, D., SAUNE, K., COTTALORDA, J., BETTINGER, D., DELAUGERRE, C. & HOEN, B. 2013. An undetectable polymerase chain reaction signal in routine HIV plasma viral load monitoring is associated with better virological outcomes in patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *HIV Med*, 14, 509-15.
- QUINN, T. C., WAWER, M. J., SEWANKAMBO, N., SERWADDA, D., LI, C., WABWIRE-MANGEN, F., MEEHAN, M. O., LUTALO, T. & GRAY, R. H. 2000. Viral Load and Heterosexual Transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342, 921-929.
- RADFORD, M., PARKS, D., FERRANTE, S. & PUNEKAR, Y. 2019a. Dolutegravir and lamivudine vs other antiviral regimens in HIV-1 treatment-naïve patients: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *AIDS (London, England)*, 33.
- RADFORD, M., PARKS, D. C., FERRANTE, S. & PUNEKAR, Y. 2019b. Comparative efficacy and safety and dolutegravir and lamivudine in treatment naive HIV patients. *Aids*, 33, 1739-1749.
- RADZIEWICZ, H., IBEGBU, C. C., FERNANDEZ, M. L., WORKOWSKI, K. A., OBIDEEN, K., WEHBI, M., HANSON, H. L., STEINBERG, J. P., MASOPUST, D., WHERRY, E. J., ALTMAN, J. D., ROUSE, B. T., FREEMAN, G. J., AHMED, R. & GRAKOUI, A. 2007. Liver-infiltrating lymphocytes in chronic human hepatitis C virus infection display

an exhausted phenotype with high levels of PD-1 and low levels of CD127 expression. *J Virol*, 81, 2545-53.

- RAFFI, F., HANF, M., FERRY, T., KHATCHATOURIAN, L., JOLY, V., PUGLIESE, P., KATLAMA, C., ROBINEAU, O., CHIROUZE, C., JACOMET, C., DELOBEL, P., POIZOT-MARTIN, I., RAVAUX, I., DUVIVIER, C., GAGNEUX-BRUNON, A., REY, D., REYNES, J., MAY, T., BANI-SADR, F., HOEN, B., MORRIER, M., CABIE, A., ALLAVENA, C. & DAT', A. S. G. 2017. Impact of baseline plasma HIV-1 RNA and time to virological suppression on virological rebound according to first-line antiretroviral regimen. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 72, 3425-3434.
- RASMUSSEN, T. A., MCMAHON, J. H., CHANG, J. J., AUDSLEY, J., RHODES, A., TENNAKOON, S., DANTANARAYANA, A., SPELMAN, T., SCHMIDT, T., KENT, S. J., MORCILLA, V., PALMER, S., ELLIOTT, J. H. & LEWIN, S. R. 2018. The effect of antiretroviral intensification with dolutegravir on residual virus replication in HIV-infected individuals: a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. *Lancet HIV*, 5, e221-e230.
- REUS, S., PORTILLA, J., SANCHEZ-PAYA, J., GINER, L., FRANCES, R., SUCH, J., BOIX, V., MERINO, E. & GIMENO, A. 2013. Low-level HIV viremia is associated with microbial translocation and inflammation. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 62, 129-34.
- RICHMAN, D. D., WRIN, T., LITTLE, S. J. & PETROPOULOS, C. J. 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 4144-9.
- RIDDLER, S. A., AGA, E., BOSCH, R. J., BASTOW, B., BEDISON, M., VAGRATIAN, D., VAIDA, F., ERON, J. J., GANDHI, R. T. & MELLORS, J. W. 2016. Continued Slow Decay of the Residual Plasma Viremia Level in HIV-1-Infected Adults Receiving Long-term Antiretroviral Therapy. J Infect Dis, 213, 556-60.
- ROCHE DIAGNOSTIC SYSTEMS 1996. AMPLICOR HIV-1-MONITOR test package insert. Branchburg, N.J: Roche Diagnostic Systems, 8–9.
- ROCHE MOLECULAR SYSTEMS. 2007. COBAS® AmpliPrep/COBAS® TaqMan® HIV-1 Test [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/BloodBloodProducts/Ap</u> provedProducts/PremarketApprovalsPMAs/ucm092878.pdf [Accessed].
- ROCHE MOLECULAR SYSTEMS. 2018. COBAS® AmpliPrep/COBAS®TaqMan®HIV-1Test, version 2.0 [Online]. Available: <u>https://pim-</u> eservices.roche.com/eLD\_SF/gb/en/Documents/GetDocument?documentId=69c6 5132-67a1-e811-828e-00215a9b3428 [Accessed].
- RODGER, A. J., CAMBIANO, V., BRUUN, T., VERNAZZA, P., COLLINS, S., DEGEN, O.,
  CORBELLI, G. M., ESTRADA, V., GERETTI, A. M., BELOUKAS, A., RABEN, D., COLL, P.,
  ANTINORI, A., NWOKOLO, N., RIEGER, A., PRINS, J. M., BLAXHULT, A., WEBER, R.,
  VAN EEDEN, A., BROCKMEYER, N. H., CLARKE, A., DEL ROMERO GUERRERO, J.,
  RAFFI, F., BOGNER, J. R., WANDELER, G., GERSTOFT, J., GUTIERREZ, F., BRINKMAN,
  K., KITCHEN, M., OSTERGAARD, L., LEON, A., RISTOLA, M., JESSEN, H., STELLBRINK,
  H. J., PHILLIPS, A. N. & LUNDGREN, J. 2019. Risk of HIV transmission through
  condomless sex in serodifferent gay couples with the HIV-positive partner taking
  suppressive antiretroviral therapy (PARTNER): final results of a multicentre,
  prospective, observational study. *Lancet*.
- RODGER, A. J., CAMBIANO, V., BRUUN, T., VERNAZZA, P., COLLINS, S., VAN LUNZEN, J.,
  CORBELLI, G. M., ESTRADA, V., GERETTI, A. M., BELOUKAS, A., ASBOE, D., VICIANA,
  P., GUTIÉRREZ, F., CLOTET, B., PRADIER, C., GERSTOFT, J., WEBER, R., WESTLING,
  K., WANDELER, G., PRINS, J. M., RIEGER, A., STOECKLE, M., KÜMMERLE, T., BINI, T.,
  AMMASSARI, A., GILSON, R., KRZNARIC, I., RISTOLA, M., ZANGERLE, R., HANDBERG,
  P., ANTELA, A., ALLAN, S., PHILLIPS, A. N., LUNDGREN, J. & FOR THE, P. S. G. 2016.

Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral TherapyHIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples Using Suppressive ARTHIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples Using Suppressive ART. JAMA, 316, 171-181.

- ROSENBLOOM, D. I. S., HILL, A. L., LASKEY, S. B. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2017. Re-evaluating evolution in the HIV reservoir. *Nature*, 551, E6-e9.
- ROTHENBERGER, M., NGANOU-MAKAMDOP, K., KITYO, C., SSALI, F., CHIPMAN, J. G.,
  BEILMAN, G. J., HOSKULDSSON, T., ANDERSON, J., JASURDA, J., SCHMIDT, T. E.,
  CALISTO, S. P., PEARSON, H., REIMANN, T., DAVID, C., PERKEY, K., SOUTHERN, P.,
  WIETGREFE, S., HELGESON, E., REILLY, C., HAASE, A. T., DOUEK, D. C., FLETCHER, C.
  V. & SCHACKER, T. W. 2019. Impact of Integrase Inhibition Compared With
  Nonnucleoside Inhibition on HIV Reservoirs in Lymphoid Tissues. J Acquir Immune
  Defic Syndr, 81, 355-360.
- RUELLE, J., DEBAISIEUX, L., VANCUTSEM, E., DE BEL, A., DELFORGE, M. L., PIERARD, D. & GOUBAU, P. 2012. HIV-1 low-level viraemia assessed with 3 commercial real-time PCR assays show high variability. *BMC Infect Dis,* 12, 100.
- RUELLE, J., JNAOUI, K., LEFEVRE, I., LAMARTI, N. & GOUBAU, P. 2009. Comparative evaluation of the VERSANT HIV-1 RNA 1.0 kinetic PCR molecular system (kPCR) for the quantification of HIV-1 plasma viral load. *J Clin Virol*, 44, 297-301.
- RUGGIERO, A., COZZI-LEPRI, A., BELOUKAS, A., RICHMAN, D., KHOO, S., PHILLIPS, A., GERETTI, A. M. & GROUP, E. S. 2018. Factors Associated With Persistence of Plasma HIV-1 RNA During Long-term Continuously Suppressive Firstline Antiretroviral Therapy. *Open forum infectious diseases*, **5**, ofy032-ofy032.
- RUGGIERO, A., DE SPIEGELAERE, W., COZZI-LEPRI, A., KISELINOVA, M., POLLAKIS, G., BELOUKAS, A., VANDEKERCKHOVE, L., STRAIN, M., RICHMAN, D., PHILLIPS, A. & GERETTI, A. M. 2015. During Stably Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy Integrated HIV-1 DNA Load in Peripheral Blood is Associated with the Frequency of CD8 Cells Expressing HLA-DR/DP/DQ. *EBioMedicine*, 2, 1153-9.
- RUPEREZ, M., POU, C., MACULUVE, S., CEDENO, S., LUIS, L., RODRIGUEZ, J., LETANG, E., MOLTO, J., MACETE, E., CLOTET, B., ALONSO, P., MENENDEZ, C., NANICHE, D. & PAREDES, R. 2015. Determinants of virological failure and antiretroviral drug resistance in Mozambique. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 70, 2639-47.
- RYSCAVAGE, P., KELLY, S., LI, J. Z., HARRIGAN, P. R. & TAIWO, B. 2014. Significance and clinical management of persistent low-level viremia and very-low-level viremia in HIV-1-infected patients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 58, 3585-98.
- SAAG, M. S. 1997. Use of HIV Viral Load in Clinical Practice: Back to the Future. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 126, 983-985.
- SAAG, M. S., HOLODNIY, M., KURITZKES, D. R., O'BRIEN, W. A., COOMBS, R., POSCHER, M.
  E., JACOBSEN, D. M., SHAW, G. M., RICHMAN, D. D. & VOLBERDING, P. A. 1996.
  HIV viral load markers in clinical practice. *Nat Med*, 2, 625-9.
- SABIN, C. A., WORM, S. W., WEBER, R., REISS, P., EL-SADR, W., DABIS, F., DE WIT, S., LAW, M., D'ARMINIO MONFORTE, A., FRIIS-MØLLER, N., KIRK, O., PRADIER, C., WELLER, I., PHILLIPS, A. N. & LUNDGREN, J. D. 2008. Use of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients enrolled in the D:A:D study: a multi-cohort collaboration. *Lancet*, 371, 1417-26.
- SACKS, J. A., FONG, Y., GONZALEZ, M. P., ANDREOTTI, M., BALIGA, S., GARRETT, N.,
  JORDAN, J., KARITA, E., KULKARNI, S., MOR, O., MOSHA, F., NDLOVU, Z., PLANTIER,
  J. C., SARAVANAN, S., SCOTT, L., PETER, T., DOHERTY, M. & VOJNOV, L. 2019.
  Performance of Cepheid Xpert HIV-1 viral load plasma assay to accurately detect
  treatment failure. *Aids*, 33, 1881-1889.

- SAHU, G. K. 2015. Potential implication of residual viremia in patients on effective antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS research and human retroviruses*, 31, 25-35.
- SAISON, J., TARDY, J. C., SCHOLTES, C., ICARD, V., TRABAUD, M. A., PERPOINT, T., CHIDIAC, C., ECOCHARD, R., ANDRE, P. & FERRY, T. 2013. Low-level viremia is associated with non-B subtypes in patients infected with HIV with virological success following HAART introduction. J Med Virol, 85, 953-8.
- SAMJI, H., CESCON, A., HOGG, R. S., MODUR, S. P., ALTHOFF, K. N., BUCHACZ, K.,
  BURCHELL, A. N., COHEN, M., GEBO, K. A., GILL, M. J., JUSTICE, A., KIRK, G., KLEIN,
  M. B., KORTHUIS, P. T., MARTIN, J., NAPRAVNIK, S., ROURKE, S. B., STERLING, T. R.,
  SILVERBERG, M. J., DEEKS, S., JACOBSON, L. P., BOSCH, R. J., KITAHATA, M. M.,
  GOEDERT, J. J., MOORE, R. & GANGE, S. J. 2013. Closing the gap: increases in life
  expectancy among treated HIV-positive individuals in the United States and
  Canada. *PLoS One*, 8, e81355.
- SANFORD, M. 2012. Rilpivirine. Drugs, 72, 525-541.
- SARMATI, L., PARISI, S. G., MONTANO, M., ANDREIS, S., SCAGGIANTE, R., GALGANI, A.,
  VISCIONE, M., MAFFONGELLI, G., RICCIARDI, A., ANDREONI, C., BOROS, S., PALÙ, G.
  & ANDREONI, M. 2012. Nevirapine use, prolonged antiretroviral therapy and high
  CD4 nadir values are strongly correlated with undetectable HIV-DNA and -RNA
  levels and CD4 cell gain. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 67, 2932-2938.
- SAX, P. E., WOHL, D., YIN, M. T., POST, F., DEJESUS, E., SAAG, M., POZNIAK, A., THOMPSON, M., PODZAMCZER, D., MOLINA, J. M., OKA, S., KOENIG, E., TROTTIER, B., ANDRADE-VILLANUEVA, J., CROFOOT, G., CUSTODIO, J. M., PLUMMER, A., ZHONG, L., CAO, H., MARTIN, H., CALLEBAUT, C., CHENG, A. K., FORDYCE, M. W. & MCCALLISTER, S. 2015. Tenofovir alafenamide versus tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, coformulated with elvitegravir, cobicistat, and emtricitabine, for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection: two randomised, double-blind, phase 3, noninferiority trials. *Lancet*, 385, 2606-15.
- SCHUMACHER, W., FRICK, E., KAUSELMANN, M., MAIER-HOYLE, V., VAN DER VLIET, R. & BABIEL, R. 2007. Fully automated quantification of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 RNA in human plasma by the COBAS AmpliPrep/COBAS TaqMan system. *J Clin Virol*, 38, 304-12.
- SCULLY, E. P., RUTISHAUSER, R. L., SIMONEAU, C. R., DELAGRÈVERIE, H., EULER, Z., THANH,
  C., LI, J. Z., HARTIG, H., BAKKOUR, S., BUSCH, M., ALTER, G., MARTY, F. M., WANG,
  C. C., DEEKS, S. G., LORCH, J. & HENRICH, T. J. 2018. Inconsistent HIV reservoir
  dynamics and immune responses following anti-PD-1 therapy in cancer patients
  with HIV infection. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for
  Medical Oncology, 29, 2141-2142.
- SEDER, R. A. & AHMED, R. 2003. Similarities and differences in CD4+ and CD8+ effector and memory T cell generation. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 835-42.
- SENECHAL, B. & JAMES, V. L. A. 2012. Ten Years of External Quality Assessment of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 RNA Quantification. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 50, 3614.
- SEUNG, E., DUDEK, T. E., ALLEN, T. M., FREEMAN, G. J., LUSTER, A. D. & TAGER, A. M. 2013. PD-1 blockade in chronically HIV-1-infected humanized mice suppresses viral loads. *PLoS One*, 8, e77780.
- SHAPIRO, S. S. & WILK, M. B. 1965. An Analysis of Variance Test for Normality (Complete Samples). *Biometrika*, 52, 591-611.
- SHARPE, A. H. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2002. The B7-CD28 superfamily. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 2, 116-26.

- SHARPE, A. H., WHERRY, E. J., AHMED, R. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2007. The function of programmed cell death 1 and its ligands in regulating autoimmunity and infection. *Nat Immunol,* 8, 239-45.
- SHEN, L., PETERSON, S., SEDAGHAT, A. R., MCMAHON, M. A., CALLENDER, M., ZHANG, H., ZHOU, Y., PITT, E., ANDERSON, K. S., ACOSTA, E. P. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2008. Doseresponse curve slope sets class-specific limits on inhibitory potential of anti-HIV drugs. *Nature Medicine*, 14, 762-766.
- SHEN, L. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2008a. Viral reservoirs, residual viremia, and the potential of highly active antiretroviral therapy to eradicate HIV infection. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 122, 22-28.
- SHEN, L. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2008b. Viral reservoirs, residual viremia, and the potential of highly active antiretroviral therapy to eradicate HIV infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 122, 22-8.
- SHEPARD, R. N., SCHOCK, J., ROBERTSON, K., SHUGARS, D. C., DYER, J., VERNAZZA, P., HALL, C., COHEN, M. S. & FISCUS, S. A. 2000. Quantitation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in different biological compartments. *Journal* of clinical microbiology, 38, 1414-1418.
- SHEPPARD, K. A., FITZ, L. J., LEE, J. M., BENANDER, C., GEORGE, J. A., WOOTERS, J., QIU, Y., JUSSIF, J. M., CARTER, L. L., WOOD, C. R. & CHAUDHARY, D. 2004. PD-1 inhibits Tcell receptor induced phosphorylation of the ZAP70/CD3zeta signalosome and downstream signaling to PKCtheta. *FEBS Lett*, 574, 37-41.
- SHIN, T., KENNEDY, G., GORSKI, K., TSUCHIYA, H., KOSEKI, H., AZUMA, M., YAGITA, H., CHEN, L., POWELL, J., PARDOLL, D. & HOUSSEAU, F. 2003. Cooperative B7-1/2 (CD80/CD86) and B7-DC costimulation of CD4+ T cells independent of the PD-1 receptor. J Exp Med, 198, 31-8.
- SIEMENS 2016. Versant HIV-1 RNA 1.5 Assay (kPCR).
- SIGAL, A., KIM, J. T., BALAZS, A. B., DEKEL, E., MAYO, A., MILO, R. & BALTIMORE, D. 2011. Cell-to-cell spread of HIV permits ongoing replication despite antiretroviral therapy. *Nature*, 477, 95-8.
- SILICIANO, J. D., KAJDAS, J., FINZI, D., QUINN, T. C., CHADWICK, K., MARGOLICK, J. B., KOVACS, C., GANGE, S. J. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2003. Long-term follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. *Nat Med*, 9, 727-8.
- SILICIANO, J. D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2004. A long-term latent reservoir for HIV-1: discovery and clinical implications. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 6-9.
- SIMONETTI, F. R., SOBOLEWSKI, M. D., FYNE, E., SHAO, W., SPINDLER, J., HATTORI, J.,
  ANDERSON, E. M., WATTERS, S. A., HILL, S., WU, X., WELLS, D., SU, L., LUKE, B. T.,
  HALVAS, E. K., BESSON, G., PENROSE, K. J., YANG, Z., KWAN, R. W., VAN WAES, C.,
  ULDRICK, T., CITRIN, D. E., KOVACS, J., POLIS, M. A., REHM, C. A., GORELICK, R.,
  PIATAK, M., KEELE, B. F., KEARNEY, M. F., COFFIN, J. M., HUGHES, S. H., MELLORS,
  J. W. & MALDARELLI, F. 2016. Clonally expanded CD4+ T cells can produce
  infectious HIV-1 in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, 1883-8.
- SIMONETTI, F. R., WHITE, J. A., TUMIOTTO, C., RITTER, K. D., CAI, M., GANDHI, R. T., DEEKS, S. G., HOWELL, B. J., MONTANER, L. J., BLANKSON, J. N., MARTIN, A., LAIRD, G. M., SILICIANO, R. F., MELLORS, J. W. & SILICIANO, J. D. 2020. Intact proviral DNA assay analysis of large cohorts of people with HIV provides a benchmark for the frequency and composition of persistent proviral DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117, 18692-18700.
- SKLAR, P. A., WARD, D. J., BAKER, R. K., WOOD, K. C., GAFOOR, Z., ALZOLA, C. F., MOORMAN, A. C. & HOLMBERG, S. D. 2002. Prevalence and clinical correlates of

HIV viremia ('blips') in patients with previous suppression below the limits of quantification. *Aids*, 16, 2035-41.

- SMYTH, R. P., DAVENPORT, M. P. & MAK, J. 2012. The origin of genetic diversity in HIV-1. *Virus Research*, 169, 415-429.
- SPERK, M., DOMSELAAR, R. V. & NEOGI, U. 2018. Immune Checkpoints as the Immune System Regulators and Potential Biomarkers in HIV-1 Infection. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 19, 2000.
- STACEY, A. R., NORRIS, P. J., QIN, L., HAYGREEN, E. A., TAYLOR, E., HEITMAN, J., LEBEDEVA, M., DECAMP, A., LI, D., GROVE, D., SELF, S. G. & BORROW, P. 2009. Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. J Virol, 83, 3719-33.
- STELLBRINK, H. J. & HOFFMANN, C. 2018. Cabotegravir: its potential for antiretroviral therapy and preexposure prophylaxis. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 13, 334-340.
- STEVENS, G., REKHVIASHVILI, N., SCOTT, L. E., GONIN, R. & STEVENS, W. 2005. Evaluation of two commercially available, inexpensive alternative assays used for assessing viral load in a cohort of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C-infected patients from South Africa. *J Clin Microbiol*, 43, 857-61.
- SUN, R., KU, J., JAYAKAR, H., KUO, J. C., BRAMBILLA, D., HERMAN, S., ROSENSTRAUS, M. & SPADORO, J. 1998. Ultrasensitive reverse transcription-PCR assay for quantitation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in plasma. *J Clin Microbiol*, 36, 2964-9.
- SWENSON, L. C., COBB, B., GERETTI, A. M., HARRIGAN, P. R., POLJAK, M., SEGUIN-DEVAUX, C., VERHOFSTEDE, C., WIRDEN, M., AMENDOLA, A., BONI, J., BOURLET, T., HUDER, J. B., KARASI, J. C., ZIDOVEC LEPEJ, S., LUNAR, M. M., MUKABAYIRE, O., SCHUURMAN, R., TOMAZIC, J., VAN LAETHEM, K., VANDEKERCKHOVE, L. & WENSING, A. M. 2014. Comparative performances of HIV-1 RNA load assays at low viral load levels: results of an international collaboration. *J Clin Microbiol*, 52, 517-23.
- TAIWO, B., GALLIEN, S., AGA, E., RIBAUDO, H., HAUBRICH, R., KURITZKES, D. R. & ERON, J. J., JR. 2011. Antiretroviral drug resistance in HIV-1-infected patients experiencing persistent low-level viremia during first-line therapy. *J Infect Dis*, 204, 515-20.
- TANG, N., HUANG, S., SALITURO, J., MAK, W. B., CLOHERTY, G., JOHANSON, J., LI, Y. H., SCHNEIDER, G., ROBINSON, J., HACKETT, J., JR., SWANSON, P. & ABRAVAYA, K.
  2007. A RealTime HIV-1 viral load assay for automated quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in genetically diverse group M subtypes A-H, group O and group N samples. J Virol Methods, 146, 236-45.
- TANGYE, S. G., MA, C. S., BRINK, R. & DEENICK, E. K. 2013. The good, the bad and the ugly -TFH cells in human health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 13, 412-26.
- TANNER, Z., LACHOWSKY, N., DING, E., SAMJI, H., HULL, M., CESCON, A., PATTERSON, S., CHIA, J., LESLIE, A., RABOUD, J., LOUTFY, M., COOPER, C., KLEIN, M., MACHOUF, N., TSOUKAS, C., MONTANER, J. & HOGG, R. S. 2016. Predictors of viral suppression and rebound among HIV-positive men who have sex with men in a large multi-site Canadian cohort. *BMC Infect Dis*, 16, 590.
- TARAMASSO, L., BERRUTI, M., BRIANO, F. & DI BIAGIO, A. 2020. The switch from TDF to TAF determines weight gain in patients on rilpivirine-based regimen. *Aids*.
- TAYLOR, N., GRABMEIER-PFISTERSHAMMER, K., EGLE, A., GREIL, R., RIEGER, A., LEDERGERBER, B. & OBERKOFLER, H. 2013. Cobas ampliprep/cobas TaqMan HIV-1 v2.0 assay: consequences at the cohort level. *PLoS One*, 8, e74024.
- TERAWAKI, S., CHIKUMA, S., SHIBAYAMA, S., HAYASHI, T., YOSHIDA, T., OKAZAKI, T. & HONJO, T. 2011. IFN-alpha directly promotes programmed cell death-1

transcription and limits the duration of T cell-mediated immunity. *J Immunol,* 186, 2772-9.

- THIERRY, S., THIERRY, E., SUBRA, F., DEPREZ, E., LEH, H., BURY-MONÉ, S. & DELELIS, O. 2016. Opposite transcriptional regulation of integrated vs unintegrated HIV genomes by the NF-κB pathway. *Scientific reports*, 6, 25678-25678.
- THOMPSON, M. A. 2018. The return of PRO 140, a CCR5-directed mAb. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 13, 346-353.
- THOMPSON, M. A., ABERG, J. A., HOY, J. F., TELENTI, A., BENSON, C., CAHN, P., ERON, J. J., GUNTHARD, H. F., HAMMER, S. M., REISS, P., RICHMAN, D. D., RIZZARDINI, G., THOMAS, D. L., JACOBSEN, D. M. & VOLBERDING, P. A. 2012. Antiretroviral treatment of adult HIV infection: 2012 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA panel. Jama, 308, 387-402.
- TOBIN, N. H., LEARN, G. H., HOLTE, S. E., WANG, Y., MELVIN, A. J., MCKERNAN, J. L., PAWLUK, D. M., MOHAN, K. M., LEWIS, P. F., MULLINS, J. I. & FRENKEL, L. M. 2005. Evidence that low-level viremias during effective highly active antiretroviral therapy result from two processes: expression of archival virus and replication of virus. J Virol, 79, 9625-34.
- TORRES, B., GUARDO, A. C., LEAL, L., LEON, A., LUCERO, C., ALVAREZ-MARTINEZ, M. J., MARTINEZ, M. J., VILA, J., MARTINEZ-REBOLLAR, M., GONZALEZ-CORDON, A., GATELL, J. M., PLANA, M. & GARCIA, F. 2014. Protease inhibitor monotherapy is associated with a higher level of monocyte activation, bacterial translocation and inflammation. J Int AIDS Soc, 17, 19246.
- TOSIANO, M. A., JACOBS, J. L., SHUTT, K. A., CYKTOR, J. C. & MELLORS, J. W. 2019. A Simpler and More Sensitive Single-Copy HIV-1 RNA Assay for Quantification of Persistent HIV-1 Viremia in Individuals on Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. *J Clin Microbiol*, 57.
- TRAUTMANN, L., JANBAZIAN, L., CHOMONT, N., SAID, E. A., GIMMIG, S., BESSETTE, B.,
  BOULASSEL, M. R., DELWART, E., SEPULVEDA, H., BALDERAS, R. S., ROUTY, J. P.,
  HADDAD, E. K. & SEKALY, R. P. 2006. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIVspecific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Med*, 12, 1198-202.
- TRAUTMANN, L., SAID, E. A., HALWANI, R., JANBAZIAN, L., CHOMONT, N., EL-FAR, M., BRETON, G., HADDAD, E. K. & SEKALY, R. P. 2007. Programmed death 1: a critical regulator of T-cell function and a strong target for immunotherapies for chronic viral infections. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 2, 219-27.
- TRICKEY, A., MAY, M., VEHRESCHILD, J., OBEL, N., GILL, M., CRANE, H., BOESECKE, C., PATTERSON, S., GRABAR, S., CAZANAVE, C., CAVASSINI, M., SHEPHERD, L., MONFORTE, A., VAN SIGHEM, A., SAAG, M., LAMPE, F., HERNANDO, V., MONTERO, M., ZANGERLE, R., JUSTICE, A., STERLING, T., INGLE, S. & STERNE, J. 2017. Survival of HIV-positive patients starting antiretroviral therapy between 1996 and 2013: a collaborative analysis of cohort studies. *Lancet HIV*, 4, e349-e356.
- TSENG, S. Y., OTSUJI, M., GORSKI, K., HUANG, X., SLANSKY, J. E., PAI, S. I., SHALABI, A., SHIN, T., PARDOLL, D. M. & TSUCHIYA, H. 2001. B7-DC, a new dendritic cell molecule with potent costimulatory properties for T cells. *J Exp Med*, 193, 839-46.
- UNAIDS. 2020. *Global HIV & AIDS statistics 2020 fact sheet* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet</u> [Accessed].
- UTZSCHNEIDER, D. T., LEGAT, A., FUERTES MARRACO, S. A., CARRIE, L., LUESCHER, I., SPEISER, D. E. & ZEHN, D. 2013. T cells maintain an exhausted phenotype after antigen withdrawal and population reexpansion. *Nat Immunol*, 14, 603-10.
- VAN DER SLUIS, R. M., KUMAR, N. A., PASCOE, R. D., ZERBATO, J. M., EVANS, V. A., DANTANARAYANA, A. I., ANDERSON, J. L., SÉKALY, R. P., FROMENTIN, R.,

CHOMONT, N., CAMERON, P. U. & LEWIN, S. R. 2020. Combination Immune Checkpoint Blockade to Reverse HIV Latency. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950),* 204, 1242-1254.

- VAN SIGHEM, A., ZHANG, S., REISS, P., GRAS, L., VAN DER ENDE, M., KROON, F., PRINS, J. & DE WOLF, F. 2008. Immunologic, virologic, and clinical consequences of episodes of transient viremia during suppressive combination antiretroviral therapy. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 48, 104-8.
- VAN ZYL, G., BALE, M. J. & KEARNEY, M. F. 2018. HIV evolution and diversity in ART-treated patients. *Retrovirology*, 15, 14.
- VANCOILLIE, L., DEMECHELEER, E., CALLENS, S., VOGELAERS, D., VANDEKERCKHOVE, L., MORTIER, V. & VERHOFSTEDE, C. 2014. Markers associated with persisting lowlevel viraemia under antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1 infection. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 69, 1098-103.
- VELU, V., TITANJI, K., ZHU, B., HUSAIN, S., PLADEVEGA, A., LAI, L., VANDERFORD, T. H., CHENNAREDDI, L., SILVESTRI, G., FREEMAN, G. J., AHMED, R. & AMARA, R. R. 2009. Enhancing SIV-specific immunity in vivo by PD-1 blockade. *Nature*, 458, 206-10.
- VILLA, G., ABDULLAHI, A., OWUSU, D., SMITH, C., AZUMAH, M., SAYEED, L., AUSTIN, H., AWUAH, D., BELOUKAS, A., CHADWICK, D., PHILLIPS, R. & GERETTI, A. M. 2020. Determining virological suppression and resuppression by point-of-care viral load testing in a HIV care setting in sub-Saharan Africa. *EClinicalMedicine*, 18, 100231.
- VOSHAVAR, C. 2019. Protease Inhibitors for the Treatment of HIV/AIDS: Recent Advances and Future Challenges. *Curr Top Med Chem*, 19, 1571-1598.
- WAGNER, T. A., MCLAUGHLIN, S., GARG, K., CHEUNG, C. Y., LARSEN, B. B., STYRCHAK, S., HUANG, H. C., EDLEFSEN, P. T., MULLINS, J. I. & FRENKEL, L. M. 2014. HIV latency. Proliferation of cells with HIV integrated into cancer genes contributes to persistent infection. *Science*, 345, 570-3.
- WAN, H., SETH, A., RAINEN, L. & FERNANDES, H. 2010. Coamplification of HIV-1 proviral DNA and viral RNA in assays used for quantification of HIV-1 RNA. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 48, 2186-2190.
- WANG, Z., GURULE, E. E., BRENNAN, T. P., GEROLD, J. M., KWON, K. J., HOSMANE, N. N., KUMAR, M. R., BEG, S. A., CAPOFERRI, A. A., RAY, S. C., HO, Y.-C., HILL, A. L., SILICIANO, J. D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2018. Expanded cellular clones carrying replication-competent HIV-1 persist, wax, and wane. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115, E2575-E2584.
- WEI, X., DECKER, J. M., WANG, S., HUI, H., KAPPES, J. C., WU, X., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., SALAZAR, M. G., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., KOMAROVA, N. L., NOWAK, M. A., HAHN, B. H., KWONG, P. D. & SHAW, G. M. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature*, 422, 307-12.
- WEI, X., GHOSH, S. K., TAYLOR, M. E., JOHNSON, V. A., EMINI, E. A., DEUTSCH, P., LIFSON, J.
   D., BONHOEFFER, S., NOWAK, M. A., HAHN, B. H. & ET AL. 1995. Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature*, 373, 117-22.
- WEN, Y., BAR, K. J. & LI, J. Z. 2018. Lessons learned from HIV antiretroviral treatment interruption trials. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 13, 416-421.
- WHERRY, E. J. 2011. T cell exhaustion. Nature Immunology, 12, 492.
- WHERRY, E. J. & AHMED, R. 2004. Memory CD8 T-cell differentiation during viral infection. *J Virol*, 78, 5535-45.
- WHERRY, E. J., BLATTMAN, J. N., MURALI-KRISHNA, K., VAN DER MOST, R. & AHMED, R.
   2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *J Virol*, 77, 4911-27.
- WHITE, K., GARNER, W., WEI, L., ERON, J. J., ZHONG, L., MILLER, M. D., MARTIN, H., PLUMMER, A., TRAN-MUCHOWSKI, C., LINDSTROM, K., PORTER, J., PIONTKOWSKY,

D., LIGHT, A., REISKE, H. & QUIRK, E. 2018. Repeat testing of low-level HIV-1 RNA: assay performance and implementation in clinical trials. *Aids*, 32, 1053-1057.

- WHITNEY, J. B., HILL, A. L., SANISETTY, S., PENALOZA-MACMASTER, P., LIU, J., SHETTY, M., PARENTEAU, L., CABRAL, C., SHIELDS, J., BLACKMORE, S., SMITH, J. Y., BRINKMAN, A. L., PETER, L. E., MATHEW, S. I., SMITH, K. M., BORDUCCHI, E. N., ROSENBLOOM, D. I. S., LEWIS, M. G., HATTERSLEY, J., LI, B., HESSELGESSER, J., GELEZIUNAS, R., ROBB, M. L., KIM, J. H., MICHAEL, N. L. & BAROUCH, D. H. 2014. Rapid seeding of the viral reservoir prior to SIV viraemia in rhesus monkeys. *Nature*, 512, 74-77.
- WHO. 2017. What's new in treatment monitoring: viral load and CD4 testing. Available: <u>https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/treatment-monitoring-info-2017/en/</u> [Accessed July 2017].
- WIESMANN, F., EHRET, R., NAETH, G., DÄUMER, M., FUHRMANN, J., KAISER, R., NOAH, C., OBERMEIER, M., SCHALASTA, G., TIEMANN, C., WOLF, E., KNECHTEN, H. & BRAUN, P. 2018. Multicenter Evaluation of Two Next-Generation HIV-1 Quantitation Assays, Aptima Quant Dx and Cobas 6800, in Comparison to the RealTime HIV-1 Reference Assay. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 56, e00292-18.
- WIRDEN, M., TUBIANA, R., FOURATI, S., THEVENIN, M., SIMON, A., CANESTRI, A., AIT-ARKOUB, Z., SOULIE, C., MARCELIN, A. G., KATLAMA, C. & CALVEZ, V. 2011.
   Upgraded Cobas Ampliprep-Cobas TaqMan Version 2.0 HIV-1 RNA Quantification Assay versus First Version: Correction of Underestimations. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 49, 2700.
- WOJEWODA, C. M., SPAHLINGER, T., HARMON, M. L., SCHNELLINGER, B., LI, Q., DEJELO, C., SCHMOTZER, C. & ZHOU, L. 2013. Comparison of Roche Cobas AmpliPrep/Cobas TaqMan HIV-1 test version 2.0 (CAP/CTM v2.0) with other real-time PCR assays in HIV-1 monitoring and follow-up of low-level viral loads. *J Virol Methods*, 187, 1-5.
- WYKES, M. N. & LEWIN, S. R. 2018. Immune checkpoint blockade in infectious diseases. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, 18, 91-104.
- XU, S., SONG, A., NIE, J., LI, X. & WANG, Y. 2010. Performance of NucliSens HIV-1 EasyQ Version 2.0 compared with six commercially available quantitative nucleic acid assays for detection of HIV-1 in China. *Mol Diagn Ther*, 14, 305-16.
- YAMAGUCHI, J., VALLARI, A., MCARTHUR, C., STHRESHLEY, L., CLOHERTY, G. A., BERG, M.
   G. & RODGERS, M. A. 2020. Brief Report: Complete Genome Sequence of CG-0018a-01 Establishes HIV-1 Subtype L. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 83, 319-322.
- YAN, C. S., HANAFI, I., KELLEHER, A. D., CARR, A. D., AMIN, J., MCNALLY, L. P. & CUNNINGHAM, P. H. 2010. Lack of correlation between three commercial platforms for the evaluation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) viral load at the clinically critical lower limit of quantification. J Clin Virol, 49, 249-53.
- YEH, R. F., REZK, N. L., KASHUBA, A. D., DUMOND, J. B., TAPPOUNI, H. L., TIEN, H. C., CHEN, Y. C., VOURVAHIS, M., HORTON, A. L., FISCUS, S. A. & PATTERSON, K. B. 2009. Genital tract, cord blood, and amniotic fluid exposures of seven antiretroviral drugs during and after pregnancy in human immunodeficiency virus type 1infected women. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 53, 2367-74.
- YOMBI, J. C. & POZNIAK, A. L. 2016. Is It Time for Integrase Inhibitors to be the Preferred Regimen for the First-Line Treatment of HIV-1-Infected Naive Patients? *AIDS Rev*, 18, 89-100.
- YOUNAS, M., PSOMAS, C., REYNES, J. & CORBEAU, P. 2016. Immune activation in the course of HIV-1 infection: Causes, phenotypes and persistence under therapy. *HIV Med*, 17, 89-105.
- YOUNG, B., HART, R. L., BUCHACZ, K., SCOTT, M., PALELLA, F. & BROOKS, J. T. 2015. HIV Viral Load Monitoring Frequency and Risk of Treatment Failure among
Immunologically Stable HIV-Infected Patients Prescribed Combination Antiretroviral Therapy. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care*, 14, 536-43.

- YOUNGBLOOD, B., OESTREICH, K. J., HA, S. J., DURAISWAMY, J., AKONDY, R. S., WEST, E. E., WEI, Z., LU, P., AUSTIN, J. W., RILEY, J. L., BOSS, J. M. & AHMED, R. 2011. Chronic virus infection enforces demethylation of the locus that encodes PD-1 in antigenspecific CD8(+) T cells. *Immunity*, 35, 400-12.
- YOUNGNAK, P., KOZONO, Y., KOZONO, H., IWAI, H., OTSUKI, N., JIN, H., OMURA, K., YAGITA, H., PARDOLL, D. M., CHEN, L. & AZUMA, M. 2003. Differential binding properties of B7-H1 and B7-DC to programmed death-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 307, 672-7.
- YUKL, S. A., LI, P., FUJIMOTO, K., LAMPIRIS, H., LU, C. M., HARE, C. B., DEEKS, S. G., LIEGLER, T., PANDORI, M., HAVLIR, D. V. & WONG, J. K. 2011. Modification of the Abbott RealTime assay for detection of HIV-1 plasma RNA viral loads less than one copy per milliliter. J Virol Methods, 175, 261-5.
- YUKL, S. A., SHERGILL, A. K., MCQUAID, K., GIANELLA, S., LAMPIRIS, H., HARE, C. B., PANDORI, M., SINCLAIR, E., GUNTHARD, H. F., FISCHER, M., WONG, J. K. & HAVLIR, D. V. 2010. Effect of raltegravir-containing intensification on HIV burden and T-cell activation in multiple gut sites of HIV-positive adults on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Aids*, 24, 2451-60.
- ZAIDAN, S. M., LEYRE, L., BUNET, R., LAROUCHE-ANCTIL, E., TURCOTTE, I., SYLLA, M., CHAMBERLAND, A., CHARTRAND-LEFEBVRE, C., ANCUTA, P., ROUTY, J. P., BARIL, J. G., TROTTIER, B., MACPHERSON, P., TROTTIER, S., HARRIS, M., WALMSLEY, S., CONWAY, B., WONG, A., THOMAS, R., KAPLAN, R. C., LANDAY, A. L., DURAND, M., CHOMONT, N., TREMBLAY, C. L. & EL-FAR, M. 2019. Upregulation of IL-32 Isoforms in Virologically Suppressed HIV-Infected Individuals: Potential Role in Persistent Inflammation and Transcription From Stable HIV-1 Reservoirs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 82, 503-513.
- ZAJAC, A. J., BLATTMAN, J. N., MURALI-KRISHNA, K., SOURDIVE, D. J., SURESH, M., ALTMAN, J. D. & AHMED, R. 1998. Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function. *J Exp Med*, 188, 2205-13.
- ZANETTI, A. R., BODINI, U., CLERICI, M., ROMANO, L., PAOLINI, E., BIASIN, M., AMENDOLA, A. & VELATI, C. 2007. Transfusion of red blood cells from an HIV-RNA-positive/anti-HIV-negative donor without HIV infection in the recipient. *Transfusion*, 47, 1328-9.
- ZHANG, J. Y., ZHANG, Z., WANG, X., FU, J. L., YAO, J., JIAO, Y., CHEN, L., ZHANG, H., WEI, J., JIN, L., SHI, M., GAO, G. F., WU, H. & WANG, F. S. 2007. PD-1 up-regulation is correlated with HIV-specific memory CD8+ T-cell exhaustion in typical progressors but not in long-term nonprogressors. *Blood*, 109, 4671-8.
- ZHENG, L., BOSCH, R. J., CHAN, E. S., READ, S., KEARNEY, M., MARGOLIS, D. M., MELLORS, J.
  W., ERON, J. J. & GANDHI, R. T. 2013. Predictors of residual viraemia in patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Antivir Ther*, 18, 39-43.
- ZHENG, L., TAIWO, B., GANDHI, R. T., HUNT, P. W., COLLIER, A. C., FLEXNER, C. & BOSCH, R.
  J. 2014. Factors associated with CD8+ T-cell activation in HIV-1-infected patients on long-term antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 67, 153-60.
- ZHU, T., KORBER, B. T., NAHMIAS, A. J., HOOPER, E., SHARP, P. M. & HO, D. D. 1998. An African HIV-1 sequence from 1959 and implications for the origin of the epidemic. *Nature*, 391, 594-7.